
City of Las Vegas
1700 N. Grand Avenue I Las Vegas, NM 87701 I T 505.454.1401 I lasvegasnm.gov

Madam Mayor Tonita Gurulê-Giràn

CITY OF LAS VEGAS
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

November 20, 2018—TuesdaV-. 6:00 p.m.
City Council Chambers
1700 N. Grand Avenue

(The City Council shall act as the Housing Authority Board of
Commissioners on any matters on the Agenda concerning the Housing
Department)

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. ROLL CALL

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

IV. MOMENT OF SILENCE

V. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (October lO and October 17, 2018)

VII. MAYOR’S APPOINTMENTS/REPORTS

VIII. MAYOR’S RECOGNITIONS/PROCLAMATIONS

Recognition for the Las Vegas Outlaws Youth Football Team

IX. PUBLIC INPUT
(not to exceed 3 minutes per person and persons must sign up at least
fifteen (15) minutes prior to meeting)

X. PRESENTATIONS (Not to exceed 10 minutes per person)

• Presentation by Leo Maestas on the Mass Casualty Plan.
• Presentation by John Spencer. Tree Board Update.

XI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT

David Ulibarri Vince Howell Barbara Perea-Casey David G. Romero
Councilor Ward 1 Councilor Ward 2 Councilor Ward 3 Councilor Ward 4



XII. FINANCE REPORT

XIII. CONSENT AGENDA
(Items may be moved to New Business at the request of any Councilor
with approval of the Govern in Bodyl

1. Approval to accept funding through the Department of Justice to purchase
bullet proof vests through a 50/50 match for the Las Vegas City Police
Department.

Pain Sandoval, Interim Commander The Las Vegas City Police
Department is requesting approval to accept funding in the amount of
$2,015.00 from the Department of Justice for a 50/50 match to purchase
officers bullet proof vests.

2. Approval to Reject Bid #2019-03 for the Senior Center Service Access
Parking Lot Reconstruction.

Waiida Salazar, Senior Center Manager The single bid received was
over budget.

3. Approval of Resolution #18-45 Budget Adjustment Resolution.

Tana Vega, Interim Finance Director The City of Las Vegas is
requesting increases to the FY20 19 budgeted revenues and expenditures,
transfers to and from within various funds of the FY20 19 Budget.

4. Approval and certification of fixed assets/inventories.

Tana Vega, Interim Finance Director The City of Las Vegas has
compiled the 2018 fixed assets and inventories and is ready for review
and approval by Mayor and Council.

5. Approval of Resolution No. 18-44 to approve and support a request for a
one-year extension to FY20 17/2018 Project No. MAP-7647(91 1).

Dai,,,j’ Guriile, Interim Public Works Director As part of the
Cooperative Agreement submittal criteria for New Mexico Department
of Transportation Municipal Arterial Program (MAP), a Resolution of
support is required from our Local Governing Body ensuring support for
a one year extension for the Planning, Design, Construction,
Reconstruction, Pavement Rehabilitation. Drainage and Misc.
Improvements to Mountain View Drive from Grand Avenue to

7thi Street.

2



XIV. BUSINESS ITEMS

1. Conduct a Public Hearing and Approval/Disapproval to adopt Ordinance
#18-07, amendment to the Official Zoning Map for property.

Maria Perea, Planning & Zoning Coordinator Mr. Gilberto Juan
Lorenzo Martinez, Owner of a 0.10 acres +1- within Block M, of the
Town, now City of Las Vegas, and known as 338 Santa Ana Street, Las
Vegas, New Mexico appeared before the Las Vegas Planning and
Zoning Commission on October 29, 2018. Mr. Martinez is requesting
that said property be re-zoned from the present R-2 (Multi-Family
Residential Zone) to a C-i (Neighborhood Commercial Zone). The
applicant’s intent is to lease the property to a healthcare cooperative to
provide medical care within a home” like setting. The cooperative
consists of a midwife. a therapist and an acupuncturist.

2. Approval/Disapproval of International Association of Fire Fighters
(IAFF) Local 4625 Agreement.

IAFF Management/Union The City entered into contract negotiations
with IAFF for purposes of negotiating a new contract. The International
Association of Fire Fighters Local 4625 has ratified and approved
collective bargaining agreement between the City of Las Vegas and the
Las Vegas NM Professional Fire Fighters Association.

3. Approval/Disapproval of The American Federation of State, County and
Municipal Employees (AFSCME) Local 2851 Agreement.

AFSCME Managenzent/Uiiioii The City entered into contract
negotiations with AFSCME for purposes of negotiating a new contract.
The American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees
Local 2851 has ratified and approved collective bargaining agreement.

4. Approval/Disapproval for a salary increase of seventy-five cents ($0.75)
to the regular hourly rate of pay for all non-bargaining unit employees,
including part time employees with at least one year of continuous
employment with the City, effective the first full pay period after
Council’s approval.

Aiiii Marie Gallegos, Interim city Manager The City of Las Vegas has
budgeted for the proposed salary increase. The proposed increase is
commensurate with increases to AFSCME and IAFF employees.

5. Approval/Disapproval to publish Ordinance No. 18-08, an ordinance
granting a franchise to Comcast of Colorado/Florida/Michigan/New
Mexico/Pennsylvania/Washington, LLC.

3



C’asandra Fresquez, City Clerk The last cable franchise agreement
approved by Council was in 1997. Attorney Danelle Smith has
reviewed and approved the attached cable franchise agreement. Ms.
Erin Muffoletto with Comcast will be present at meeting to answer
questions regarding the proposed franchise agreement. If approved to
publish, the ordinance will be brought to Council in December for a
public hearing and adoption of the ordinance.

6. Approval/Disapproval of Resolution No. 18-46 Adopting the updated
City of Las Vegas Meadow City Express-Zero Tolerance Substance
Abuse Policy.

Casandra Fresquez, City Clerk Meadow City Express is updating their
current policy to reflect updated regulations required by the Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) of the US Department of Transportation.

7. Approval/DisapprovaL of Resolution 18-49 Disposition of Obsolete,
Worn-Out or Unusable Tangible Personal Property.

Taiia Vega, Interim Finance Director The City of Las Vegas is
requesting review and approval of Resolution 18-49 Disposition of
obsolete, worn-out or unusable tangible personal property.

8. Approval/Disapproval of Resolution 18-48 City of Las Vegas Internal
Control Policy.

Tana Vega, Interim Finance Director The City of Las Vegas is
requesting review and approval of Resolution 18-48 City of Las Vegas
Internal Control Policy.

9. Approval/Disapproval of Resolution 18-47 City of Las Vegas Housing
Authority Accounting Policy.

Tana Vega, Interim Finance Director The City of Las Vegas is
requesting review and approval of Resolution 18-47 City of Las Vegas
Housing Authority Accounting Policy.

XV. COUNCILORS’ REPORTS

XVI. EXECUTIVE SESSION

THE COUNCIL MAY CONVENE INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION IF
SUBJECT MATTER OF ISSUES ARE EXEMPT FROM THE OPEN
MEETINGS REQUIREMENT UNDER § (H) OF THE OPEN MEETINGS
ACT.

4



A. Personnel matters, as permitted by Section 10-15-1 (H) (2) of the New
Mexico Open Meetings Act, NMSA 1978.

B. Matters subject to the attorney client privilege pertaining to
threatened or pending litigation in which the City of Las Vegas is or
may become a participant, as permitted by Section 10-15-1 (II) (7) of
the New Mexico Open Meetings Act, NMSA 1978.

C. Matters pertaining to the discussion of the sale and acquisition of real
property, as permitted by Section 10-15-1 (H) (8) of the Open
Meetings Act, NMSA 1978.

XVII. ADJOURN

ATTENTION PERSONS WITH DISABILITES: The meeting room and facilities
are accessible to persons with mobility disabilities. If you plan to attend the meeting
and will need an auxiliary aid or service, please contact the City Clerks Office prior
to the meeting so that arrangements may be made.

ATTENTION PERSONS ATTENDING COUNCIL MEETING: By entering the
City Chambers, you consent to photography, audio recording, video recording and
its/their use for inclusion on the City of Las Vegas Web-site, and to be televised on
Comcast.

NOTE: A final agenda will be posted 72 hours prior to the meeting. Copies of the
Agenda may be obtained from City Hall, Office of the City Clerk, 1700 N. Grand
Avenue, Las Vegas, NM 87701

5





























































































































































CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST

DATE: 1110212018 DEPT: Finance MEETING DATE: 1112.112018

ITEMITOPIC:. Resolution 18-45

ACTION REQUESTED OF COUNCIL: Approval/Disapproval of Resolution 18-45.

BACKGROUND/RATIONALE: The City of Las Vegas is requesting increases and
decreases to the FY2019 Budgeted revenues, expenditures, transfers to and from
within various funds of the FY2019 Budget.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:

THIS REQUEST FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE NO
LATER THAN 5:00 P.M. ON FRIDAY ONE AND A HALF WEEKS PRIOR TO THE
CITY COUNCIL MEETING.

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:

TONITA GURULE-GIROW
MAYOR

ANN M. GALLEGOS
INTERIM CITY MANAGER

SUBMITTER’S SIGNATURE

(
t

TANA VEGA J
INTERIM FINANCE DIRECTOR

(PROCUREMENT)

PURCHASING AGENT
(FOR BID!RFP AWARD)

ESTHER GARDUNO MONTOYA
CITY ATTORNEY

(ALL CONTRACTS MUST BE
REVIEWED)

Revised 4/20/16



STATE OF NEW MEXICO
MUNICIPALITY OF CITY OF LAS VEGAS

RESOLUTION 18-45
FISCAL YEAR 2018-2019

BUDGET ADJUSTMENT REQUEST

WHEREAS, The Governing Body in and for the Municipality of Las Vegas. State of New Mexico has
developed a budget adjustment request for fiscal year 2018-2019: and

WHEREAS. said budget adjustment request was developed on the basis of need and through cooperation with
all user departments. elected officials and other department supervisors, please see attached schedule: and

WHEREAS, the City of Las Vegas is in need of making budget adjustments in the 2018-2019 fiscal year
budget; to include an increase of$305.891 in the E91 I Program. an increase of$174,602 in the 2017 CFP
Grant, an increase of$68,585 in the 2018 CFP Grant, an increase of$1 15,190 in Low Rent Housing.
Total increase of S560,763.

WHEREAS, it is the majority opinion of this governing body that the budget adjustment request is approved
and meets the requirements as currently determined for fiscal year 2018-20 19;

NOW. THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Governing Body of the Municipality of the City of Las
Vegas. State of New Mexico hereby approves the budget adjustment request herein above described and
respectfully requests approval from the Local Governing Division of the Department of Finance and
Administration.

RESOLVED: In session this 20th day’ of November, 2018.

Tonita Gurule-Giron, Mayor

ATTEST:

Casandra Fresquez. City Clerk

REVIEWED AND APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY ONLY:

Esther Garduno Montoya, City Attorney



1
1
/2

/2
0
1
8

CI
TY

O
F

LA
S

V
E

G
A

S

R
E

SO
L

U
T

IO
N

#1
8-

45

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
D

JU
ST

R
E

Q
U

E
ST

FI
SC

A
L

Y
EA

R
20

19

R
ev

en
ue

s
T

ra
n
sf

er
s

$
-

G
ra

nt
R

ev
en

ue

$
3

0
5

,8
9

1
0

0
E

qu
ip

m
en

t

20
18

C
FP

/G
ra

n
t

67
3-

00
00

-4
00

-5
00

0

20
18

U
P

/G
ra

n
t

67
3-

00
00

-0
00

1-

20
18

C
F

P
/G

ra
nt

67
3-

00
00

-0
00

1-

A
dd

I
G

ra
nt

R
ev

en
ue

$
17

4,
60

2.
00

Si
te

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

T
ra

ns
fe

rs
ou

t
65

2

$ $
-

$
1
3
9
,6

8
2
0

0

$
(3

4,
92

0.
00

)

G
ra

nt
R

ev
en

ue

S
it

e
Im

p
ro

v
em

en
ts

T
ra

ns
fe

r
to

65
2

20
17

U
P

/G
ra

n
t

67
6-

00
00

-0
00

1

20
17

C
F

P
/G

ra
nt

67
6-

00
00

-0
00

1

A
dd

I
G

ra
nt

R
ev

en
ue

$
68

,5
85

.0
0

T
ra

ns
fe

r
to

65
2

G
ra

nt
R

ev
en

ue

T
ra

ns
fe

r
to

65
2

10
1-

00
00

-1
00

-1
10

1
G

en
er

al
Fu

nd

10
1-

00
00

-8
00

-9
00

0
G

en
er

al
Fu

nd

C
as

h
B

al
an

ce
7

/2
0

1
8

T
ra

ns
fe

r
c
u

t
65

2
$

11
,6

85
.0

0

$
(1

1,
68

5.
00

)
$1

5,
00

0
A

nn
ua

l
T

ra
ns

fe
r

T
ot

al
$

56
0,

76
3.

00
$

$
-

$
56

0,
76

3.
00

E9
11

E
91

1R
es

ol
ut

io
n

18
-4

5
F

un
d

29
4-

00
00

-4
00

-5
00

0
R

ev
en

ue

29
4-

00
00

-8
00

-8
00

0
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
$

30
5,

89
1.

00

E
x
p
en

d
it

u
re

s

$

H
ou

si
ng

-L
ow

R
en

t

H
ou

si
ng

-L
ow

R
en

t

H
ou

si
ng

-L
ow

R
en

t

H
ou

si
ng

-L
ow

R
en

t

H
ou

si
ng

-L
ow

R
en

t

65
2-

50
70

0-
00

01

65
2-

50
70

0-
00

01

65
2-

00
00

-6
11

00

65
2-

00
00

-6
11

00

65
2-

00
00

-6
11

00

B
et

te
rm

en
ts

&
A

dd
it

io
ns

M
ai

nt
of

BI
d

&
G

ro
un

ds

T
ra

ns
fe

r
in

fr
om

67
3

T
ra

ns
fe

r
in

fr
om

67
6

T
ra

ns
fe

r
in

fr
om

10
1

$
(6

8,
58

5.
00

)

$
34

,9
20

.0
0

$
68

,5
85

.0
0

$
11

,6
85

.0
0

$
62

,8
72

.0
0

$
52

,3
18

.0
0

B
et

te
rm

en
ts

&
A

dd
it

io
ns

M
ai

nt
of

BI
d

&
G

ro
un

ds

T
ra

ns
fe

r
fr

om
67

3

T
ra

ns
fe

r
fr

om
67

6

$



Regular or Special

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST

DATE:1 115/2018 DEPT: Finance MEETING DATE: 11/20/2018

DISCUSSION ITEMITOPIC: Review and certify Fixed Assets/Inventories

ACTION REQUESTED OF COUNCIL: Approval/Disapproval of Certification of Fixed
Assets/Inventories for FY18 as per Sections 12-6-1 NMSA 1978 through 12-6-14 NMSA
1978 Article 6 of Audit Act.

BACKGROUND/RATIONALE: The City of Las Vegas is requesting review and
certification of the 2018 Fixed Assets/Inventories as part of the 2018 Audit.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:

THIS REQUEST FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE NO
LATER THAN 5:00 P.M. ON FRIDAY ONE AND A HALF WEEKS PRIOR TO THE
CITY COUNCIL MEETING.

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:

SUBMITTEIS SIGNATURE

TONITA GURU LE-GIRON
MAYOR

nñ
ANN M. GALLEGOS
INTERIM CITY MANAGER

TANA VEGA
INTERIM FINANCE DIRECTOR
(PROCUREMENT)

(ALL CONTRACTS MUST BE
REVIEWED)

PURCHASING AGENT
FOR BIDIRFP AWARD)



CERTIFICATION OF GOVERNING BODY FOR THE ANNUAL FIXED
ASSETSIINVENTORIES FOR FY18

STATE OF NEW MEXICO
COUNTY OF SAN MIGUEL
CITY OF LAS VEGAS

We, members of the governing body of the City of Las Vegas of San Miguel County, being duly
sworn according to law,

1. We are duly elected members of the City of Las Vegas in San Miguel;

2. In the performance of our duties, and pursuant to 12-6-1 NMSA1 978 through 12-6-14
NMSA 1978 Article 6 Audit Act;

3. We certify that we have reviewed and are familiar with, as a minimum, the
Fixed Assets/Inventories for FY18.

____________________________________________

Tonita Gurule-Giron, Mayor

____________________________________________

Barbara Casey

_________________________________________Vince

Howell

__________________________________________David

G. Romero

____________________________________________David

Ulibarri

ATTEST:

____________________________________________Casandra

Fresquez, City Clerk

REVIEWED AND APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY ONLY:

____________________________________________

Esther Garduno Montoya, City Attorney























































































































































































































Regular or Special
CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST

DATE: 11/7/18 DEPT: Executive MEETING DATE: 11/20/18

ITEM/TOPIC: Salary Increase for all non-bargaining unit employees.

ACTION REQUESTED OF COUNCIL: Approval/Disapproval for a salary increase of seventy
five cents ($0.75) to the regular hourly rate of pay for all non-bargaining unit employees,
including part time employees with at least one year of continuous employment with the City,
effective the first full pay period after Council’s approval.

BACKGROUNDIRATIONALE: City of Las Vegas has budgeted for the proposed salary increase.
The proposed increase is commensurate with increases to AFSCME and JAFF employees.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:

THIS REQUEST FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE NO LATER
THAN 5:00 P.M. ON FRIDAY ONE AND A HALF WEEKS PRIOR TO THE CITY COUNCIL
MEETING.

SUBMITTER’S SIGNATU
REVIE ED AND APPROVED BY:

TONITA GUR LE-GIRO TANA VEGA
MAYOR INTERIM FINANCE DIRECTOR

(PROCUREMENT

ANN MARIE GALLEGOS, E 1HE GARNO ON OYA,
INTERIM CITY MANAGER CI1YAtTORN.E’i (ALL

CONTRACTS, ORDINANCES AND
RESOLUTIONS MUST BE
REVIEWED)

Revised 9/18



Non-bargaining unit employees have not received a raise in two years.

A review of budgets indicate that the cost of a raise for non-bargaining unit employees can easily
be funded this year.

The cost of recommended raise will be shared by the General Fund, Enterprises and include
Housing employees.



Regular or Special
CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST

DATE: 11/13/18 DEPT: City Clerk/City Attorney MEETING DATE: 11/20/18

ITEMITOPIC: Publication of Ordinance No. 18-08, Cable Franchise Agreement.

ACTION REQUESTED OF COUNCIL: Approval/Disapproval to publish Ordinance No. 18-08,
an ordinance granting a franchise to Comcast of Colorado/Florida/Michigan/New
Mexico/Pennsylvania/Washington, LLC.

BACKGROUND/RATIONALE: The last cable franchise agreement approved by Council was in
1997. Attorney Danelle Smith has reviewed and approved the attached cable franchise
agreement. Ms. Erin Muffoletto with Comcast will be present at meeting to answer questions
regarding the proposed franchise agreement. If approved to publish, the ordinance will be
brought to Council in December for a public hearing and adoption of the ordinance.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:

THIS REQUEST FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE NO LATER
THAN 5:00 P.M. ON FRIDAY ONE AND A HALF WEEKS PRIOR TO THE CITY COUNCIL
MEETING.

TANA VEGA
INTERIM FINANCE DIRECTOR
(PROCUREMENT)..

1’HER5ARDb11OM NT YA,
C(ITYATTORNEYJ(ALL ‘\./

CbNTRACTS$RDINANCES AND
RESOLUTIONS MUST BE
REVIEWED)

REVIE D AND APPROVED BY:

TONITA GURULE-GIRON
MAYOR

ANN MARIE GALLEGO
INTERIM CITY MANAGER

Revised 9/18



COMCAST OF COLORADO/FLORIDA/MICHIGAN/NEW
MEXICO/PENNSYLVANIA/WASHINGTON, LLC

AND
CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO

CABLE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

Table of Contents

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 1

SECTION 2. GRANT OF FRANCHISE
6

2.1 Grant 6
2.2 Use of Right-of-Way 8
2.3 Term of Franchise 8
2.4 Franchise Nonexclusive 8
2.5 Police Powers 9
2.6 Competitive Equity 9
2.7 Familiarity with Franchise 10
2.8 Effect of Acceptance 10

SECTION 3. FRANCHISE FEE PAYMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS 11
3.1 Franchise Fee 11

3.2 Payments 11
3.3 Acceptance of Payment and Recomputation 11

3.4 Quarterly Franchise Fee Reports 11
3.5 Annual Franchise Fee Reports 11

3.6 Franchise Fees Subject to Audit 11

3.7 Late Payments 12

3.8 Underpayments 12
3.9 Alternative Compensation 12

3.10 Maximum Legal Compensation 12
3.11 Additional Commitments Not Franchise Fee Payments 12
3.12 Tax Liability 13
3.13 Financial Records 13
3.14 Payment on Termination 13

SECTION 4. ADMINISTRATION AND REGULATION 13
4.1 Authority 13



4.2 Rates and Charges 13

4.3 Rate Discrimination 14

4.4 Filing of Rates and Charges 14

4.5 Cross Subsidization 14
4.6 Reserved Authority 14

4.7 Franchise Amendment Procedure 15

4.8 Performance Evaluations 15

4.9 Force Majeure 15

SECTIONS. FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 16
5.1 Indemnification 16

5.2 Insurance 16

SECTION 6. CUSTOMER SERVICE 16
6.1 Customer Service Standards 16

6.2 Subscriber Privacy 17

6.3 Subscriber Bills 17

SECTION7. BOOKSANDRECORDS 17
7.1 Books and Records 17

7.2 Confidentiality 17
7.3 Records Required 18

7.4 Copies of Federal and State Reports 18

SECTION 8. PROGRAMMING 18
8.1 Broad Programming Categories 18

8.2 Deletion or Reduction of Broad Programming Categories 19

8.3 Obscenity 19

8.4 Parental Control Device 19

8.5 Continuity of Service Mandatory 20

8.6 Services for the Disabled 20

SECTION 9. GENERAL RIGHT-OF-WAY USE AND CONSTRUCTION 21
9.1 Permits and General Obligations 21

9.2 Conditions of Street Occupancy 21

9.3 Relocation at request of Third Party 21
9.4 Restoration of Right-of-Way 21

9.5 Safety Requirements 22

9.6 Trimming of Trees and Shrubbery 22

9.7 Aerial and Underground Construction 22

9.8 Undergrounding and Beautification Projects 22

SECTION 10. CABLE SYSTEM, TECHNICAL STANDARDS AND TESTING 23

2



10.1 Subscriber Network 23

10.2 Standby Power 23

10.3 Emergency Alert Capability 23

10.4 Technical Performance 23

10.5 Cable System Performance Testing 24

SECTION 11. SERVICE AVAILABILITY, INTERCONNECTION AND SERVICE TO SCHOOLS AND
PUBLIC BUILDINGS 25

11.1 Service Availability 25

11.2 Connection of Public Facilities 26

SECTION 12. FRANCHISE VIOLATIONS 26
12.1 Procedure for Remedying Franchise Violations 26

12.2 Revocation 27
12.3 Procedures in the Event of Termination or Revocation 28

12.4 Purchase of Cable System 29

12.5 Receivership and Foreclosure 30

12.6 No Monetary Recourse Against the City 30

12.7 Alternative Remedies 31

12.8 Effect of Abandonment 31

12.9 What Constitutes Abandonment 31

SECTION 13. FRANCHISE RENEWAL AND TRANSFER 31
13.1 Renewal 31

13.2 Transfer of Ownership or Control 32

SECTION 14. SEVERABILITY 32

SECTION 15. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 32
15.1 Preferential or Discriminatory Practices Prohibited 32

15.2 Notices 33

15.3 Descriptive Headings 33

15.4 Binding Effect 33

15.5 No Joint Venture 33

15.6 Waiver 33

15.7 Reasonableness of Consent or Approval 34
15.8 Entire Agreement 34

3



COMCAST OF COLORADO/FLORIDA/MICHIGAN/NEW
MEXICO/PENNSYLVANIA/WASHINGTON. LLC

AND
CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO

CABLE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

SECTION 1. DEFiNITIONS

For the purposes of this Franchise, the following tenns, phrases, words and their
derivations shall have the meaning given herein. When not inconsistent with the context, words
used in the present tense include the future, words in the plural include the singular, and words in
the singular include the plural. Words not defined shall be given their common and ordinary
meaning. The word tshallt is always mandatory and not merely directory.

1.1 “Activated” means the status of any capacity or part of the Cable System in which any
Cable Service requiring the use of that capacity or part is available without further installation of
system equipment, whether hardware or software.

1.2 “Affiliate,” when used in connection with Grantee, means any Person who owns or
controls, is owned or controlled by, or is under common ownership or control with, Grantee.

1.3 “Applicable Law” means any statute, ordinance, judicial decision, executive order or
regulation having the force and effect of law, that determines the legal standing of a case or issue.

1.4 “Bad Debt” means amounts lawfully billed to a Subscriber and owed by the Subscriber
for Cable Service and accrued as revenues on the books of Grantee, but not collected after
reasonable efforts have been made by Grantee to collect the charges.

1.5 “Basic Service” is the level of programming service which includes, at a minimum, all
Broadcast Channels, all PEG SD Access Channels required in this Franchise, and any additional
Programming added by the Grantee, and is made available to all Cable Services Subscribers in
the Franchise Area.

1.6 “Broadcast Channel” means local commercial television stations, qualified low power
stations and qualified local noncommercial educational television stations, as referenced under
47 USC §534 and 535.

1.7 “Broadcast Signal” means a television or radio signal transmitted over the air to a wide
geographic audience, and received by a Cable System by antenna, microwave, satellite dishes or
any other means.

1.8 “Cable Act” means the Title VI of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended.

4



1.9 “Cable Operator” means any Person or groups of Persons, including Grantee, who
provide(s) Cable Service over a Cable System and directly or through one or more affiliates
owns a significant interest in such Cable System or who otherwise control(s) or is (are)
responsible for, through any arrangement, the management and operation of such a Cable
System.

1.10 “Cable Service” means the one-way transmission to Subscribers of video programming
or other programming service, and Subscriber interaction, if any, which is required for the
selection or use of such video programming or other programming service.

1.11 “Cable System” means any facility, including Grantee’s, consisting of a set of closed
transmissions paths and associated signal generation, reception, and control equipment that is
designed to provide Cable Service which includes video programming and which is provided to
multiple Subscribers within a community, but such term does not include (A) a facility that
serves only to retransmit the television signals of one or more television broadcast stations; (B) a
facility that serves Subscribers without using any Right-of-Way; (C) a facility of a common
carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the provisions of Title II of the federal
Communications Act (47 U.S.C. 201 et seq.), except that such facility shall be considered a
Cable System (other than for purposes of Section 621(c) (47 U.S.C. 541(c)) to the extent such
facility is used in the transmission of video programming directly to Subscribers, unless the
extent of such use is solely to provide interactive on-demand services; (D) an open video system
that complies with federal statutes; or (E) any facilities of any electric utility used solely for
operating its electric utility systems.

1.12 “jy” is the City of Las Vegas New Mexico, a body politic and corporate under the laws
of the State of New Mexico.

1.13 “City Council” means the Las Vegas City Council, or its successor, the governing body of
the City of Las Vegas, New Mexico.

1.14 “Channel” means a portion of the electromagnetic frequency spectrum which is used in
the Cable System and which is capable of delivering a television channel (as television channel
is defined by the FCC by regulation).

1.15 “Commercial Subscribers” means any Subscribers other than Residential Subscribers.

1.16 “Digital Starter Service” means the Tier of optional video programming services, which
is the level of Cable Service received by most Subscribers above Basic Service, and does not
include Premium Services.

1.17 “Downstream” means carrying a transmission from the Headend to remote points on the
Cable System or to Interconnection points on the Cable System.

5



1.18 “Dwelling Unit” means any building, or portion thereof, that has independent living
facilities, including provisions for cooking, sanitation and sleeping, and that is designed for
residential occupancy. Buildings with more than one set of facilities for cooking shall be
considered Multiple Dwelling Units unless the additional facilities are clearly accessory.

19 “Effective Date” means the date on which all persons necessary to sign this Agreement in
order for it to be binding on both parties have executed this Agreement as indicated on the
signature page(s), unless a specific date is otherwise provided in the “Tern” section herein.

1.20 “FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission.

1.21 “Fiber Optic” means a transmission medium of optical fiber cable, along with all
associated electronics and equipment, capable of carrying Cable Service by means of electric
lightwave impulses.

1.22 “Franchise” means the document in which this definition appears, i.e., the contractual
agreement, executed between the City and Grantee, containing the specific provisions of the
authorization granted, including references, specifications, requirements and other related
matters.

1 .23 “Franchise Area” means the area within the jurisdictional boundaries of the City,
including any areas annexed by the City during the term of this Franchise.

1.24 “Franchise Fee” means that fee payable to the City described in subsection 3.1.

1.25 “Grantee” means Comcast of Colorado/Florida/Michigan/New
Mexico/Pennsylvania/Washington, LLC or its lawful successor, transferee or assignee.

1.26 “Gross Revenues” means, and shall be construed broadly to include all revenues derived
directly or indirectly by Grantee and/or an Affiliated Entity that is the cable operator of the Cable
System, from the operation of Grantee’s Cable System to provide Cable Services within the City.
Gross revenues include, by way of illustration and not limitation:

• monthly fees for Cable Services, regardless of whether such Cable Services are provided
to residential or commercial customers, including revenues derived from the provision of all
Cable Services (including but not limited to pay or premium Cable Services, digital Cable
Services, pay-per-view, pay-per-event and video-on-demand Cable Services);

• installation, reconnection, downgrade, upgrade or similar charges associated with
changes in subscriber Cable Service levels;

• fees paid to Grantee for channels designated for commercial/Leased Access use and shall
be allocated on a pro rata basis using total Cable Service subscribers within the City;

6



• converter, remote control, and other Cable Service equipment rentals, leases, or sales;

• Advertising Revenues as defined herein;

• late fees, convenience fees and administrative fees which shall be allocated on a pro rata
basis using Cable Services revenue as a percentage of total subscriber revenues within the City;

• revenues from program guides;

• Franchise Fees;

• FCC Regulatory Fees; and,

• commissions from home shopping channels and other Cable Service revenue sharing
arrangements which shall be allocated on a pro rata basis using total Cable Service subscribers
within the City.

(A) “Advertising Revenues” shall mean revenues derived from sales of advertising
that are made available to Grantee’s Cable System subscribers within the City and shall be
allocated on a pro rata basis using total Cable Service subscribers reached by the advertising.
Additionally, Grantee agrees that Gross Revenues subject to franchise fees shall include all
commissions, rep fees, Affiliated Entity fees, or rebates paid to National Cable Communications
(“NCC”) and Comcast Spotlight (“Spotlight”) or their successors associated with sales of
advertising on the Cable System within the City allocated according to this paragraph using total
Cable Service subscribers reached by the advertising.

(B) “Gross Revenues” shall not include:

• actual bad debt write-offs, except any portion which is subsequently collected
which shall be allocated on apro rata basis using Cable Services revenue as a percentage of total
subscriber revenues within the City;

• any taxes andior fees on services furnished by Grantee imposed by any
municipality, state or other governmental unit, provided that Franchise Fees and the FCC
regulatory fee shall not be regarded as such a tax or fee;

• fees imposed by any municipality, state or other governmental unit on Grantee
including but not limited to Public, Educational and Governmental (PEG) Fees;

• launch fees and marketing co-op fees; and,

• unaffiliated third party advertising sales agency fees which are reflected as a
deduction from revenues.

7



(C) To the extent revenues are received by Grantee for the provision of a discounted
bundle of services which includes Cable Services and non-Cable Services, Grantee shall
calculate revenues to be included in Gross Revenues using a methodology that allocates revenue
on apro rata basis when comparing the bundled service price and its components to the sum of
the published rate card, except as required by specific federal, state or local law, it is expressly
understood that equipment may be subject to inclusion in the bundled price at full rate card
value. This calculation shall be applied to every bundled service package containing Cable
Service from which Grantee derives revenues in the City. The City reserves its right to review
and to challenge Grantee’s calculations.

(D) Grantee reserves the right to change the allocation methodologies set forth in this
Section 1.26 in order to meet the standards required by governing accounting principles as
promulgated and defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Emerging
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) and/or the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Grantee will explain and document the required changes to the City as part of any audit or
review of franchise fee payments, and any such changes shall be subject to 1.26(E) below.

(E) Resolution of any disputes over the classification of revenue should first be
attempted by agreement of the Parties, but should no resolution be reached, the Parties agree that
reference shall be made to generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as promulgated
and defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) and/or the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Notwithstanding
the forgoing, the City reserves its right to challenge Grantee’s calculation of Gross Revenues,
including the interpretation of GAAP as promulgated and defined by the FASB, EITF and/or the
SEC.

1.27 “Headend” means any facility for signal reception and dissemination on a Cable System,
including cables, antennas, wires, satellite dishes, monitors, switchers, modulators, processors
for Broadcast Signals, equipment for the Interconnection of the Cable System with adjacent
Cable Systems and Interconnection of any networks which are part of the Cable System, and all
other related equipment and facilities.

1.28 “Leased Access Channel” means any Channel or portion of a Channel commercially
available for video programming by Persons other than Grantee, for a fee or charge.

1.29 “Manager” means the City Manager of the City or designee.

1.30 “Person” means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, association, or
corporation, or any other form of entity or organization,

1.31 “Premium Service” means programming choices (such as movie Channels, pay-per-view
programs, or video on demand) offered to Subscribers on a per-Channel, per-program or
per-event basis.

8



1.32 “Residential Subscriber” means any Person who receives Cable Service delivered to
Dwelling Units or Multiple Dwelling Units, excluding such Multiple Dwelling Units billed on a
bulk-billing basis.

1.33 “Right-of-Way” means each of the following which have been dedicated to the public or
are hereafter dedicated to the public and maintained under public authority or by others and
located within the City: streets, roadways, highways, avenues, lanes, alleys, bridges, sidewalks,
easements, right-of-way and similar public property and areas.

1.34 “State” means the State of New Mexico.

1.35 “Subscriber” means any Person who or which elects to subscribe to, for any purpose,
Cable Service provided by Grantee by means of or in connection with the Cable System and
whose premises are physically wired and lawfully Activated to receive Cable Service from
Grantee’s Cable System, and who is in compliance with Grantee’s regular and nondiscriminatory
terms and conditions for receipt of service.

1.36 “Subscriber Network” means that portion of the Cable System used primarily by Grantee
in the transmission of Cable Services to Residential Subscribers.

1 .37 “Telecommunications” means the transmission, between or among points specified by the
user, of information of the user’s choosing, without change in the form or content of the
information as sent and received (as provided in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(43)).

1.38 “Telecommunications Service” means the offering of Telecommunications for a fee
directly to the public, or to such classes of users as to be effectively available directly to the
public, regardless of the facilities used (as provided in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(46)).

1.39 “Ijçr” means a group of Channels for which a single periodic subscription fee is charged.

1.40 “Two-Way” means that the Cable System is capable of providing both Upstream and
Downstream transmissions.

1.41 “Upstream” means carrying a transmission to the Headend from remote points on the
Cable System or from Interconnection points on the Cable System.

SECTION 2. GRANT OF FRANCHISE

2.1 Grant

(A) The City hereby grants to Grantee a nonexclusive authorization to make
reasonable and lawful use of the Right-of-Way within the City to construct, operate, maintain,
reconstruct and rebuild a Cable System for the purpose of providing Cable Service subject to the

9



terms and conditions set forth in this Franchise and in any prior utility or use agreements entered
into by Grantee with regard to any individual property.

(B) Nothing in this Franchise shall be deemed to waive the lawful requirements of
any generally applicable City ordinance existing as of the Effective Date, as defined in
subsection 1 19.

(C) Each and every term, provision or condition herein is subject to the provisions of
State law, federal law, the Charter of the City, and the ordinances and regulations enacted
pursuant thereto. The Charter and Municipal Code of the City, as the same may be amended
from time to time, are hereby expressly incorporated into this Franchise as if fully set out herein
by this reference. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City may not unilaterally alter the material
rights and obligations of Grantee under this Franchise. All ordinances or parts of ordinances or
Municipal Code that are in conflict with or otherwise impose obligations different from the
provisions of this Franchise are superseded by this Franchise. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Franchise, Grantee reserves the right to challenge provisions of any ordinance,
rule, regulation, or other enactment of the City that conflicts with its contractual rights under this
Franchise, either now or in the future.

(D) This Franchise shall not be interpreted to prevent the City from imposing
additional lawful conditions, including additional compensation conditions for use of the
Right-of-Way, should Grantee provide service other than Cable Service.

(E) Grantee promises and guarantees, as a condition of exercising the privileges
granted by this Franchise, that any Affiliate of the Grantee directly involved in the offering of
Cable Service in the Franchise Area, or directly involved in the management or operation of the
Cable System in the Franchise Area, will also comply with the obligations of this Franchise.

(F) No rights shall pass to Grantee by implication. Without limiting the foregoing, by
way of example and not limitation, this Franchise shall not include or be a substitute for:

(1) Any other permit or authorization required for the privilege of transacting
and carrying on a business within the City that may be required by the ordinances and
laws of the City;

(2) Any permit, agreement, or authorization required by the City for
Right-of-Way users in connection with operations on or in Right-of-Way or public
property including, by way of example and not limitation, street cut permits; or

(3) Any permits or agreements for occupying any other property of the City or
private entities to which access is not specifically granted by this Franchise including,
without limitation, permits and agreements for placing devices on poles, in conduits or in
or on other structures.

10



(G) This Franchise is intended to convey limited rights and interests only as to those
Right-of-Way in which the City has an actual interest. It is not a warranty of title or interest in
any Right-of-Way; it does not provide the Grantee with any interest in any particular location
within the Right-of-Way; and it does not confer rights other than as expressly provided in the
grant hereof.

(H) This Franchise does not authorize Grantee to provide Telecommunications
Service, or to construct, operate or maintain Telecommunications facilities. This Franchise is not
a bar to the provision of non-Cable Services, or to the imposition of any lawful conditions on
Grantee with respect to Telecommunications, whether similar, different or the same as the
conditions specified herein. This Franchise does not relieve Grantee of any obligation it may
have to obtain from the City an authorization to provide Telecommunications Services, or to
construct, operate or maintain Telecommunications facilities, or relieve Grantee of its obligation
to comply with any such authorizations that may be lawfully required.

2.2 Use of Right-of-Way

(A) Subject to the City’s supervision and control, Grantee may erect, install, construct,
repair, replace, reconstruct, and retain in, on, over, under, upon, across, and along the
Right-of-Way within the City such wires, cables, conductors, ducts, conduits, vaults, manholes,
amplifiers, pedestals, attachments and other property and equipment as are necessary and
appurtenant to the operation of a Cable System within the City. Grantee, through this Franchise,
is granted extensive and valuable rights to operate its Cable System for profit using the City’s
Right-of-Way in compliance with all applicable City construction codes and procedures. As
trustee for the public, the City is entitled to fair compensation as provided for in Section 3 of this
Franchise to be paid for these valuable rights throughout the term of the Franchise.

(B) Grantee must follow City established nondiscriminatory requirements for
placement of Cable System facilities in Right-of-Way, including the specific location of facilities
in the Right-of-Way, and must in any event install Cable System facilities in a manner that
minimizes interference with the use of the Right-of-Way by others, including others that may be
installing communications facilities. Within limits reasonably related to the City’s role in
protecting public health, safety and welfare, the City may require that Cable System facilities be
installed at a particular time, at a specific place or in a particular manner as a condition of access
to a particular Right-of-Way; may deny access if Grantee is not willing to comply with City’s
requirements; and may remove, or require removal of, any facility that is not installed by Grantee
in compliance with the requirements established by the City, or which is installed without prior
City approval of the time, place or manner of installation, and charge Grantee for all the costs
associated with removal; and may require Grantee to cooperate with others to minimize adverse
impacts on the Right-of-Way through joint trenching and other arrangements.

2.3 Term of Franchise

The term of the Franchise granted hereunder shall be ten (10) years, commencing upon

11



the Effective Date of the Franchise, unless the Franchise is renewed or is lawfully terminated in
accordance with the terms of this Franchise Agreement and the Cable Act, or is extended by
mutual agreement of the City and Grantee.

2.4 Franchise Nonexciusive

This Franchise shall be nonexclusive, and subject to all prior rights, interests, easements
or licenses granted by the City to any Person to use any property, Right-of-Way, right, interest or
license for any purpose whatsoever, including the right of the City to use same for any purpose it
deems fit, including the same or similar purposes allowed Grantee hereunder. The City may at
any time grant authorization to use the Right-of-Way for any purpose not incompatible with
Grantee’s authority under this Franchise and for such additional franchises for Cable Systems as
the City deems appropriate.

2.5 Police Powers

Grantee’s rights hereunder are subject to the police powers of the City to adopt and
enforce ordinances necessary to the safety, health, and welfare of the public, and Grantee agrees
to comply with all laws and ordinances of general applicability enacted, or hereafter enacted, by
the City or any other legally constituted governmental unit having lawful jurisdiction over the
subject matter hereof. The City shall have the right to adopt, from time to time, such ordinances
as may be deemed necessary in the exercise of its police power; provided that such hereinafter
enacted ordinances shall be reasonable and not materially modify the terms of this Franchise.
Any conflict between the provisions of this Franchise and any other present or future lawful
exercise of the City’s police powers shall be resolved in favor of the latter.

2.6 Competitive Equity

(A) Purposes. The Grantee and the City acknowledge that there is increasing
competition in the video marketplace among cable operators, direct broadcast satellite providers,
telephone companies, broadband content providers and others; new technologies are emerging
that enable the provision of new and advanced services to City residents; and changes in the
scope and application of the traditional regulatory framework governing the provision of video
services are being considered in a variety of federal, state and local venues. To foster an
environment where video service providers using the public Right-of-Way can compete on a
competitively neutral and nondiscriminatory basis; encourage the provision of new and advanced
services to City residents; promote local communications infrastructure investments and
economic opportunities in the City; and provide flexibility in the event of subsequent changes in
the law, the Grantee and the City have agreed to the provisions in this Section, and they should
be interpreted and applied with such purposes in mind.

12



(B) New Video Service Provider. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement or any other provision of law, if any Video Service Provider (“VSP”) (i) enters into
any agreement with the City to provide video services to subscribers in the City, or (ii) otherwise
begins to provide video services to subscribers in the City (with or without entering into an
agreement with the City), the City, upon written request of the Grantee, shall permit the Grantee
to construct and operate its Cable System and to provide video services to subscribers in the City
under the same agreement andJor under the same terms and conditions as apply to the new VSP.
The Grantee and the City shall enter into an agreement or other appropriate authorization (if
necessary) containing the same terms and conditions as are applicable to the VSP within sixty
(60) days after the Grantee submits a written request to the City.

(C) If there is no written agreement or other authorization between the new VSP and
the City, the Grantee and the City shall use the sixty (60) day period to develop and enter into an
agreement or other appropriate authorization (if necessary) that to the maximum extent possible
contains provisions that will ensure competitive equity between the Grantee and other VSPs,
taking into account the terms and conditions under which other VSPs are allowed to provide
video services to subscribers in the City.

(D) Subsequent Change in Law. If there is a change in federal, state or local law that
provides for a new or alternative form of authorization for a VSP to provide video services to
subscribers in the City, or that otherwise changes the nature or extent of the obligations that the
City may request from or impose on a VSP providing video services to subscribers in the City,
the City agrees that, notwithstanding any other provision of law, upon Grantee’s written request
the City shall: (i) permit the Grantee to provide video services to subscribers in the City on the
same terms and conditions as are applicable to a VSP under the changed law; (ii) modify this
Agreement to comply with the changed law; or (iii) modify this Agreement to ensure competitive
equity between the Grantee and other VSPs, taking into account the conditions under which
other VSPs are permitted to provide video services to subscribers in the City. The City and the
Grantee shall implement the provisions of this Section within sixty (60) days after the Grantee
submits a written request to the City. Notwithstanding any provision of law that imposes a time
or other limitation on the Grantee’s ability to take advantage of the changed law’s provisions, the
Grantee may exercise its rights under this Section at any time, but not sooner than thirty (30)
days after the changed law goes into effect.

(E) Effect on This Agreement. Any agreement, authorization, right or determination
to provide video services to subscribers in the City under Sections 2.6B, 2.6C or 2.6D shall
supersede this Agreement, and the Grantee, at its option, may terminate this Agreement or
portions thereof, upon written notice to the City, without penalty or damages.

(F) The term “Video Service Provider” or “VSP” shall mean any entity using the
public Right-of-Way to provide multiple video programming services to subscribers, for
purchase or at no cost, regardless of the transmission method, facilities, or technology used. A
VSP shall include but is not limited to any entity that provides cable services, multichannel

13



multipoint distribution services, broadcast satellite services, satellite-delivered services, wireless
services, and Internet-Protocol based services.

2.7 Familiarity with Franchise

The Grantee acknowledges and warrants by acceptance of the rights, privileges and
agreements granted herein, that it has carefully read and fully comprehends the terms and
conditions of this Franchise and is willing to and does accept all lawful and reasonable risks of
the meaning of the provisions, terms and conditions herein. The Grantee further acknowledges
and states that it has fully studied and considered the requirements and provisions of this
Franchise, and finds that the same are commercially practicable at this time, and consistent with
all local, State and federal laws and regulations currently in effect, including the Cable Act.

2.8 Effect of Acceptance

By accepting the Franchise, the Grantee: (1) acknowledges and accepts the City’s legal
right to issue and enforce the Franchise; (2) accepts and agrees to comply with each and every
provision of this Franchise subject to Applicable Law; and (3) agrees that the Franchise was
granted pursuant to processes and procedures consistent with Applicable Law, and that it will not
raise any claim to the contrary.

SECTION 3. FRANCHISE FEE PAYMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS

3.1 Franchise Fee

As compensation for the benefits and privileges granted under this Franchise and in
consideration of permission to use the City’s Right-of-Way, Grantee shall within sixty (60) days
of the Effective Date of this agreement pay as a Franchise Fee to the City, throughout the
duration of and consistent with this Franchise, an amount equal to five percent (5%) of Grantee’s
Gross Revenues.

3.2 Payments

Grantee’s Franchise Fee payments to the City shall be computed quarterly for the
preceding calendar quarter ending March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31. Each
quarterly payment shall be due and payable no later than forty-five (45) days after said dates.

3.3 Acceptance of Payment and Recomputation

No acceptance of any payment shall be construed as an accord by the City that the
amount paid is, in fact, the correct amount, nor shall any acceptance of payments be construed as
a release of any claim the City may have for further or additional sums payable or for the
performance of any other obligation of Grantee.

14



3.4 Quarterly Franchise Fee Reports

Each payment shall be accompanied by a written report to the City, or concurrently sent
under separate cover, verified by an authorized representative of Grantee, containing an accurate
statement in summarized form, as well as in detail, of Grantee’s Gross Revenues and the
computation of the payment amount. Such reports shall detail all Gross Revenues of the Cable
System.

3.5 Annual Franchise Fee Reports

Upon thirty (30) day’s written notice from the City, Grantee shall, within sixty (60) days
after the end of each year, furnish to the City a statement stating the total amount of Gross
Revenues for the year and all payments, deductions and computations for the period.

3.6 Franchise Fees Subject to Audit

Upon reasonable prior written notice and no more than once annually, during normal
business hours at Grantee’s principal business office, the City shall have the right to inspect the
Grantee’s financial records used to calculate the City’s franchise fees; provided, however, that
any such inspection shall take place within two (2) years from the date the Franchising Authority
receives such payment, after which period any such payment shall be considered final.

3.7 Late Payments

In the event any payment due quarterly is not received within forty-five (45) days from
the end of the calendar quarter, Grantee shall pay interest on the amount due (at the prime rate as
listed in the Wall Street Journal on the date the payment was due), compounded daily, calculated
from the date the payment was originally due until the date the City receives the payment.

3.8 Underpayments

If a net Franchise Fee underpayment is discovered as the result of an audit, Grantee shall
pay interest at the rate of the five percent (5%) per annum, compounded quarterly, calculated
from the date each portion of the underpayment was originally due until the date Grantee remits
the underpayment to the City.

3.9 Alternative Compensation

In the event the obligation of Grantee to compensate the City through Franchise Fee
payments is lawfully suspended or eliminated, in whole or part, then Grantee shall pay to the
City compensation equivalent to the compensation paid to the City by other similarly situated
users of the City’s Right-of-Way for Grantee’s use of the City’s Right-of-Way, provided that in no
event shall such payments exceed the equivalent of five percent (5%) of Grantee’s Gross
Revenues (subject to the other provisions contained in this Franchise), to the extent consistent

15



with Applicable Law.

3.10 Maximum Legal Compensation

The parties acknowledge that, at present, applicable federal law limits the City to
collection of a maximum permissible Franchise Fee of five percent (5%) of Gross Revenues. In
the event that at any time during the duration of this Franchise, the City is authorized to collect
an amount in excess of five percent (5%) of Gross Revenues, then this Franchise may be
amended unilaterally by the City to provide that such excess amount shall be added to the
Franchise Fee payments to be paid by Grantee to the City hereunder, provided that Grantee has
received at least ninety (90) days prior written notice from the City of such amendment, so long
as all cable operators in the City are paying the same Franchise Fee amount.

3.11 Additional Commitments Not Franchise Fee Payments

No term or condition in this Franchise shall in any way modify or affect Grantee’s
obligation to pay Franchise Fees. Although the total sum of Franchise Fee payments and
additional commitments set forth elsewhere in this Franchise may total more than five percent
(5%) of Grantee’s Gross Revenues in any twelve (12) month period, Grantee agrees that the
additional commitments herein are not Franchise Fees as defined under any federal law, nor are
they to be offset or credited against any Franchise Fee payments due to the City, nor do they
represent an increase in Franchise Fees.

3.12 Tax Liability

The Franchise Fees shall be in addition to any and all taxes or other levies or assessments
which are now or hereafter required to be paid by businesses in general by any law of the City,
the State or the United States including, without limitation, sales, use and other taxes, business
license fees or other payments. Payment of the Franchise Fees under this Franchise shall not
exempt Grantee from the payment of any other license fee, permit fee, tax or charge on the
business, occupation, property or income of Grantee that may be lawfully imposed by the City.
Any other license fees, taxes or charges shall be of general applicability in nature and shall not
be levied against Grantee solely because of its status as a Cable Operator, or against Subscribers,
solely because of their status as such.

3.13 Financial Records

Grantee agrees to meet with a representative of the City upon request to review Grantee’s
methodology of record-keeping, financial reporting, the computing of Franchise Fee obligations
and other procedures, the understanding of which the City deems necessary for reviewing reports
and records.

3.14 Payment on Termination

16



If this Franchise terminates for any reason, the Grantee shall file with the City within
ninety (90) calendar days of the date of the termination, a financial statement, certified by an
independent certified public accountant, showing the Gross Revenues received by the Grantee
since the end of the previous fiscal year. The City reserves the right to satisfy any remaining
financial obligations of the Grantee to the City by utilizing the funds available in any security
provided by the Grantee.

SECTION 4. ADMISTRATION AND REGULATION

4.1 Authority

(A) The City shall be vested with the power and right to reasonably regulate the
exercise of the privileges permitted by this Franchise in the public interest.

(B) Nothing in this Franchise shall limit nor expand the City’s right of eminent
domain under State law.

4.2 Rates and Charges

All of Grantee’s rates and charges related to or regarding Cable Services shall be subject
to regulation by the City to the full extent authorized by applicable federal, State and local laws.

4.3 Rate Discrimination

All of Grantee’s rates and charges shall be published (in the form of a publicly-available
rate card) and be non-discriminatory as to all Persons and organizations of similar classes, under
similar circumstances and conditions. Grantee shall apply its rates in accordance with
Applicable Law, with identical rates and charges for all Subscribers receiving identical Cable
Services, without regard to race, color, ethnic or national origin, religion, age, sex, sexual
orientation, marital, military or economic status, or physical or mental disability or geographic
location within the City. Grantee shall offer the same Cable Services to all Residential
Subscribers at identical rates to the extent required by Applicable Law and to Multiple Dwelling
Unit Subscribers to the extent authorized by FCC rules or applicable Federal law. Grantee shall
permit Subscribers to make any lawful in-residence connections the Subscriber chooses without
additional charge nor penalizing the Subscriber therefor. However, if any in-home connection
requires service from Grantee due to signal quality, signal leakage or other factors, caused by
improper installation of such in-home wiring or faulty materials of such in-home wiring, the
Subscriber may be charged reasonable service charges by Grantee. Nothing herein shall be
construed to prohibit:

(A) The temporary reduction or waiving of rates or charges in conjunctIon with valid
promotional campaigns; or,

(B) The offering of reasonable discounts to senior citizens or economically

17



disadvantaged citizens; or,

(C) The offering of rate discounts for Cable Service; or,

(D) The Grantee from establishing different and nondiscriminatory rates and charges
and classes of service for Commercial Subscribers, as allowable by federal law and regulations.

4.4 Filing of Rates and Charges

Grantee shall, upon thirty (30) day’s written notice from the City, provide a complete
schedule of applicable rates and charges for Cable Services provided under this Franchise.
Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require Grantee to file rates and charges under
temporary reductions or waivers of rates and charges in conjunction with promotional
campaigns.

4.5 Cross Subsidization

Grantee shall comply with all Applicable Laws regarding rates for Cable Services and all
Applicable Laws covering issues of cross subsidization.

4.6 Reserved Authority

Both Grantee and the City reserve all rights they may have under the Cable Act and any
other relevant provisions of federal, State, or local law.

4.7 Franchise Amendment Procedure

Either party may at any time seek an amendment of this Franchise by so notifying the
other party in writing. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice, the City and Grantee shall
meet to discuss the proposed amendment(s). If the parties reach a mutual agreement upon the
suggested amendment(s), such amendment(s) shall be submitted to the City Council for its
approval. If so approved by the City Council and the Grantee, then such amendment(s) shall be
deemed part of this Franchise. If mutual agreement is not reached, there shall be no amendment.

4.8 Performance Evaluations

(A) The City may hold performance evaluation sessions upon ninety (90) days written
notice, provided that such evaluation sessions shall be held no more frequently than once every
two (2) years. All such evaluation sessions shall be conducted by the City.

(B) Special evaluation sessions may be held at any time by the City during the term of
this Franchise, upon ninety (90) days written notice to Grantee.

(C) All regular evaluation sessions shall be open to the public and announced at least

18



two (2) weeks in advance in any manner within the discretion of the City. Grantee shall also
include with or on the Subscriber billing statements for the billing period immediately preceding
the commencement of the session, written notification of the date, time, and place of the regular
performance evaluation session, and any special evaluation session as required by the City,
provided Grantee receives appropriate advance notice.

(D) Topics which may be discussed at any evaluation session may include, but are not
limited to, Cable Service rate structures; Franchise Fee payments; liquidated damages; free or
discounted Cable Services; application of new technologies; Cable System performance; Cable
Services provided; programming offered; Subscriber complaints; privacy; amendments to this
Franchise; judicial and FCC rulings; line extension policies; and the City or Grantee’s rules;
provided that nothing in this subsection shall be construed as requiring the renegotiation of this
Franchise.

(E) During evaluations under this subsection, Grantee shall fully cooperate with the
City and shall provide such information and documents maintained in the ordinary course of
business as the City may reasonably require to perform the evaluation.

4.9 Force Majeure

In the event Grantee is prevented or delayed in the performance of any of its obligations
under this Franchise by reason beyond the control of Grantee, Grantee shall have a reasonable
time, under the circumstances, to perform the affected obligation under this Franchise or to
procure a substitute for such obligation which is satisfactory to the City. Those conditions which
are not within the control of Grantee include, but are not limited to, natural disasters, civil
disturbances, work stoppages or labor disputes, power outages, telephone network outages, and
severe or unusual weather conditions which have a direct and substantial impact on the Grantee’s
ability to provide Cable Services in the City and which was not caused and could not have been
avoided by the Grantee which used its best efforts in its operations to avoid such results.

If Grantee believes that a reason beyond its control has prevented or delayed its
compliance with the terms of this Franchise, Grantee shall provide documentation as reasonably
required by the City to substantiate the Grantee’s claim. If Grantee has not yet cured the
deficiency, Grantee shall also provide the City with its proposed plan for remediation, including
the timing for such cure.

SECTION 5. HNANCIAL AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

5.1 Indemnification

The Grantee shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, its officers, employees,
and agents from and against any liability or claims resulting from property damage or bodily
injury (including accidental death) that arise out of the Grantee’s construction, operation,
maintenance or removal of the Cable System, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’

19



fees and costs, provided that the City shall give the Grantee written notice of its obligation to
indemnify and defend the City within thirty (30) ten (10) business days of receipt of a claim or
action pursuant to this Section. If the City determines that it is necessary for it to employ
separate counsel, the costs for such separate counsel shall be the responsibility of the City.

5.2 Insurance

Throughout the term of this Franchise Agreement, the Grantee shall, at its own cost and
expense, maintain Comprehensive General Liability Insurance and provide the City certificates
of insurance designating the City and its officers, boards, commissions, councils, elected
officials, agents and employees as additional insureds and demonstrating that the Grantee has
obtained the insurance required in this Section. Such policy or policies shall be in the minimum
amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death to any one person, and
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death of any two or more persons
resulting from one occurrence, and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for property damage
resulting from any one accident. Such policy or policies shall be non-cancelable except upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the City. The Grantee shall provide workers’
compensation coverage in accordance with applicable law. The Grantee shall indemnify and hold
harmless the City from any workers compensation claims to which the Grantee may become
subject during the term of this Franchise.

SECTION 6. CUSTOMER SERVICE

6.1 Customer Service Standards

The City hereby adopts the customer service standards set forth in Part 76, §76.309 of the
FCC’s rules and regulations, as amended. The Grantee shall comply in all respects with the
customer service requirements established by the FCC.

6.2 Subscriber Privacy

The Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and state privacy laws, including
Section 631 of the Cable Act and regulations adopted pursuant thereto.

6.3 Subscriber Bills

Subscriber bills shall be designed in such a way as to present the information contained
therein clearly and comprehensibly to Subscribers, and in a way that (A) is not misleading and
(B) does not omit material information. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 6.1,
above, the Grantee may, in its sole discretion, consolidate costs on Subscriber bills as may
otherwise be permitted by Section 622(c) of the Cable Act (47 U.S.C. §542(c)).

20



SECTION 7. BOOKS AND RECORDS

7.1 Books and Records

Throughout the term of this Franchise Agreement, the Grantee agrees that the City may
review the Grantee’s books and records that are maintained in the ordinary course of business in
the Franchise Area to monitor Grantee’s compliance with the provisions of this Franchise
Agreement, upon reasonable prior written notice to the Grantee, at the Grantee’s business office,
during normal business hours, and without unreasonably interfering with Grantee’s business
operations. All such documents that may be the subject of an inspection by the City shall be
retained by the Grantee for a minimum period of three (3) years.

7.2 Confidentiality

The City agrees to treat as confidential any books or records that constitute proprietary or
confidential information under federal or State law, to the extent Grantee makes the City aware
of such confidentiality. Grantee shall be responsible for clearly and conspicuously stamping the
word “Confidential” on each page that contains confidential or proprietary information, and shall
provide a brief written explanation as to why such information is confidential under State or
federal law. If the City believes it must release any such confidential books and records in the
course of enforcing this Franchise, or for any other reason, it shall advise Grantee in advance so
that Grantee may take appropriate steps to protect its interests. If the City receives a demand
from any Person for disclosure of any information designated by Grantee as confidential, the
City shall, so far as consistent with Applicable Law, advise Grantee and provide Grantee with a
copy of any written request by the party demanding access to such information within a
reasonable time. Until otherwise ordered by a court or agency of competent jurisdiction, the City
agrees that, to the extent permitted by State and federal law, it shall deny access to any of
Grantee’s books and records marked confidential as set forth above to any Person. Grantee shall
reimburse the City for all reasonable costs and attorney’s fees incurred in any legal proceedings
pursued under this Section.

7.3 Records Required

(A) Grantee shall at all times maintain, and shall furnish to the City upon 30 days
written request and subject to Applicable Law:

(1) A complete set of maps showing the exact location of all Cable System
equipment and facilities in the Right-of-Way, but excluding detail on proprietary
electronics contained therein and Subscriber drops. As-built maps including proprietary
electronics shall be available at Grantee’s offices for inspection by the City’s authorized
representative(s) or agent(s) and made available to such during the course of technical
inspections as reasonably conducted by the City. These maps shall be certified as
accurate by an appropriate representative of the Grantee;

21



(2) A copy of all FCC filings on behalf of Grantee, its parent corporations or
Affiliates which relate to the operation of the Cable System in the City;

(3) A log of Cable Services added or dropped, Channel changes, number of
Subscribers added or terminated, all construction activity, and total homes passed for the
previous twelve (12) months; and

(4) A list of Cable Services, rates and Channel line-ups.

(B) Subject to subsection 7.2, all information furnished to the City is public
information, and shall be treated as such, except for information involving the privacy rights of
individual Subscribers.

7.4 Copies of Federal and State Reports

Within thirty (30) days of a written request, Grantee shall submit to the City copies of all
pleadings, applications, notifications, communications and documents of any kind, submitted by
Grantee or its parent corporation(s), to any federal, State or local courts, regulatory agencies and
other government bodies if such documents directly relate to the operations of Grantee’s Cable
System within the City. Grantee shall not claim confidential, privileged or proprietary rights to
such documents unless under federal, State, or local law such documents have been determined
to be confidential by a court of competent jurisdiction, or a federal or State agency.

SECTION 8. PROGRAMMING

8.1 Broad Programming Categories

Grantee shall provide or enable the provision of at least the following initial broad
categories of programming to the extent such categories are reasonably available:

(A) Educational programming;

(B) New Mexico news, weather & information;

(C) Sports;

(D) General entertainment (including movies);

(E) Children/family-oriented;

(F) Arts, culture and performing arts;

(G) Foreign language;

22



(H) Science/documentary;

(I) National news, weather and information; and,

(J) Public, Educational and Government Access, to the extent required by this
Franchise.

8.2 Deletion or Reduction of Broad Programming Categories

(A) Grantee shall not delete or so limit as to effectively delete any broad category of
programming within its control without the prior written consent of the City.

(B) In the event of a modification proceeding under federal law, the mix and quality
of Cable Services provided by Grantee on the Effective Date of this Franchise shall be deemed
the mix and quality of Cable Services required under this Franchise throughout its term.

8.3 Obscenity

Grantee shall not transmit, or permit to be transmitted over any Channel subject to its
editorial control, any programming which is obscene under, or violates any provision of,
Applicable Law relating to obscenity, and is not protected by the Constitution of the United
States. Grantee shall be deemed to have transmitted or permitted a transmission of obscene
programming only if a court of competent jurisdiction has found that any of Grantee’s officers or
employees or agents have permitted programming which is obscene under, or violative of, any
provision of Applicable Law relating to obscenity, and is otherwise not protected by the
Constitution of the United States, to be transmitted over any Channel subject to Grantee’s
editorial control. Grantee shall comply with all relevant provisions of federal law relating to
obscenity.

8.4 Parental Control Device

Upon request by any Subscriber, Grantee shall make available a parental control or
lockout device, traps or filters to enable a Subscriber to control access to both the audio and
video portions of any or all Channels. Grantee shall inform its Subscribers of the availability of
the lockout device at the time of their initial subscription and periodically thereafter. Any device
offered shall be at a rate, if any, in compliance with Applicable Law.

8.5 Continuity of Service Mandatory

(A) It shall be the right of all Subscribers to continue to receive Cable Service from
Grantee insofar as their financial and other obligations to Grantee are honored and they are in
compliance with Grantee’s terms of services, residential service agreement or other such
provisions. The Grantee shall act so as to ensure that all Subscribers receive continuous,
uninterrupted Cable Service regardless of the circumstances. For the purposes of this subsection,

23



“uninterrupted” does not include short-term outages of the Cable System for maintenance or
testing.

(B) In the event of a change of grantee, or in the event a new Cable Operator acquires
the Cable System in accordance with this Franchise, Grantee shall cooperate with the City, new
franchisee or Cable Operator in maintaining continuity of Cable Service to all Subscribers.
During any transition period, Grantee shall be entitled to the revenues for any period during
which it operates the Cable System, and shall be entitled to reasonable costs for its services when
it no longer operates the Cable System.

(C) In the event Grantee fails to operate the Cable System for four (4) consecutive
days without prior approval of the Manager, or without just cause, the City may, at its option,
operate the Cable System itself or designate another Cable Operator until such time as Grantee
restores service under conditions acceptable to the City or a permanent Cable Operator is
selected. If the City is required to fulfill this obligation for Grantee, Grantee shall reimburse the
City for all reasonable costs or damages that are the result of Grantee’s failure to perform.

8.6 Services for the Disabled

Grantee shall comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act and any amendments
thereto.

SECTION 9. GENERAL RIGHT-OF-WAY USE AND CONSTRUCTION

9.1 Permits and General Obligations

The Grantee shall be responsible for obtaining, at its own cost and expense, all generally
applicable permits, licenses, or other forms of approval or authorization necessary to construct,
operate, maintain or repair the Cable System, or any part thereof, prior to the commencement of
any such activity. Construction, installation, and maintenance of the Cable System shall be
performed in a safe, thorough and reliable manner using materials of good and durable quality.
All transmission and distribution structures, poles, other lines, and equipment installed by the
Grantee for use in the Cable System in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
Franchise Agreement shall be located so as to minimize the interference with the proper use of
the Right-of-Way and the rights and reasonable convenience of property owners who own
property that adjoins any such Right-of-Way.

9.2 Conditions of Street Occupancy

New Grades or Lines. If the grades or lines of any Public Way within the Franchise Area
are lawfully changed at any time during the term of this Franchise Agreement, then the Grantee
shall, upon reasonable advance written notice from the City (which shall not be less than ten (10)
business days) and at its own cost and expense, protect or promptly alter or relocate the Cable
System, or any part thereof, so as to conform with any such new grades or lines. If public funds

24



are available to any other user of the Right-of-Way for the purpose of defraying the cost of any
of the foregoing, the City shall notify Grantee of such funding and make available such funds to
the Grantee.

9.3 Relocation at request of Third Party

The Grantee shall, upon reasonable prior written request of any Person holding a permit
issued by the City to move any structure, temporarily move its wires to permit the moving of
such structure; provided (i) the Grantee may impose a reasonable charge on any Person for the
movement of its wires, and such charge may be required to be paid in advance of the movement
of its wires; and (ii) the Grantee is given not less than ten (10) business days advance written
notice to arrange for such temporary relocation.

9.4 Restoration of Right-of-Way

If in connection with the construction, operation, maintenance, or repair of the Cable
System, the Grantee disturbs, alters, or damages any Right-of-Way, the Grantee agrees that it
shall at its own cost and expense replace and restore any such Public Way to a condition
reasonably comparable to the condition of the Right-of-Way existing immediately prior to the
disturbance.

9.5 Safety Requirements

The Grantee shall, at its own cost and expense, undertake all necessary and appropriate
efforts to maintain its work sites in a safe manner in order to prevent failures and accidents that
may cause damage, injuries or nuisances. All work undertaken on the Cable System shall be
performed in substantial accordance with applicable FCC or other federal and state regulations.
The Cable System shall not unreasonably endanger or interfere with the safety of Persons or
property in the Franchise Area.

9.6 Trimming of Trees and Shrubbery

The Grantee shall have the authority to trim trees or other natural growth overhanging any of its
Cable System in the Franchise Area so as to prevent contact with the Grantee’s wires, cables, or
other equipment. All such trimming shall be done at the Grantee’s sole cost and expense. The
Grantee shall be responsible for any damage caused by such trimming. The Grantee shall give
reasonable advance notice to the owner or occupant of the premises abutting the Right-of-Way in
or over which the tree is growing.

9.7 Aerial and Underground Construction

At the time of Cable System construction, if all of the transmission and distribution
facilities of all of the respective public or municipal utilities in any area of the Franchise Area are

25



underground, the Grantee shall place its Cable Systems’ transmission and distribution facilities
underground, provided that such underground locations are actually capable of accommodating
the Grantee’s cable and other equipment without technical degradation of the Cable System’s
signal quality. In any region(s) of the Franchise Area where the transmission or distribution
facilities of the respective public or municipal utilities are both aerial and underground, the
Grantee shall have the discretion to construct, operate, and maintain all of its transmission and
distribution facilities, or any part thereof, aerially or underground. Nothing in this Section shall
be construed to require the Grantee to construct, operate, or maintain underground any
ground-mounted appurtenances such as Subscriber taps, line extenders, system passive devices,
amplifiers, power supplies, pedestals, or other related equipment.

9.8 Undergrounding and Beautification Projects

In the event all users of the Right-of-Way relocate aerial facilities underground as part of
an undergrounding or neighborhood beautification project, Grantee shall participate in the
planning for relocation of its aerial facilities contemporaneously with other utilities. Grantee’s
relocation costs shall be included in any computation of necessary project funding by the
municipality or private parties. Grantee shall be entitled to reimbursement of its relocation costs
from public or private funds raised for the project and made available to other users of the
Right-of-Way.

SECTION 10. CABLE SYSTEM, TECHNICAL STANDARDS AND TESTING

10.1 Subscriber Network

(A) Cable System shall deliver no less than eighty five (85) Channels of video
programming services to Subscribers.

(B) Equipment must be installed so that all closed captioning programming received
by the Cable System shall include the closed caption signal so long as the closed caption signal is
provided consistent with FCC standards. Equipment must be installed so that all local signals
received in stereo or with secondary audio tracks are retransmitted in those same formats.

(C) All construction shall be subject to the City’s permitting process.

(D) Grantee will take prompt corrective action if it finds that any facilities or
equipment on the Cable System are not operating as expected, or if it finds that facilities and
equipment do not comply with the requirements of this Franchise or Applicable Law.

(E) Grantee’s construction decisions shall be based solely upon legitimate engineering
decisions and shall not take into consideration the income level of any particular community
within the Franchise Area.

(F) Grantee shall not be required to obtain permits for construction work related to

26



the connection and disconnection of Subscribers between the distribution plant in the public
rights of way and the Subscriber’s residence to the extent such work disturbs no more than 20
feet of the public right of way.

10.2 Standby Power

Grantee’s Cable System Headend shall be capable of providing at least twelve (12) hours
of emergency operation. In addition, throughout the term of this Franchise, Grantee shall have a
plan in place, along with all resources necessary for implementing such plan, for dealing with
outages of more than four (4) hours. This outage plan and evidence of requisite implementation
resources shall be presented to the City no later than thirty (30) days following receipt of a
request.

10.3 Emergency Alert Capability

Grantee shall provide an operating Emergency Alert System (“EAS”) throughout the term
of this Franchise in compliance with FCC standards.

10.4 Technical Performance

The technical performance of the Cable System shall meet or exceed all applicable
federal (including, but not limited to, the FCC), and State technical standards, as they may be
amended from time to time, regardless of the transmission technology utilized. The City shall
have the full authority permitted by Applicable Law to enforce compliance with these technical
standards.

10.5 Cable System Performance Testing

(A) Grantee shall, at Grantee’s expense, perform the following tests on its Cable
System:

(1) All tests required by the FCC;

(2) All other tests reasonably necessary to determine compliance with
technical standards adopted by the FCC at any time during the term of this Franchise; and

(3) All other tests as otherwise specified in this Franchise.

(B) At a minimum, Grantee’s tests shall include:

(1) Cumulative leakage index testing of any new construction;

(2) Semi-annual compliance and proof of performance tests in conformance
with generally accepted industry guidelines;

27



(3) Tests in response to Subscriber complaints;

(4) Periodic monitoring tests, at intervals not to exceed six (6) months, of
Subscriber (field) test points, the Headend, and the condition of standby power supplies;
and

(5) Cumulative leakage index tests, at least annually, designed to ensure that
one hundred percent (100%) of Grantee’s Cable System has been ground or air tested for
signal leakage in accordance with FCC standards.

(C) Grantee shall maintain written records of all results of its Cable System tests,
performed by or for Grantee. Copies of such test results will be provided to the City upon
reasonable request.

(D) If the FCC no longer requires proof of performance tests for Grantee’s Cable
System during the term of this Franchise, Grantee agrees that it shall continue to conduct proof
of performance tests on the Cable System in accordance with the standards that were in place on
the Effective Date, or any generally applicable standards later adopted, at least once a year, and
provide written results of such tests to the City upon request.

(E) The FCC semi-annual testing is conducted in January/February and July/August
of each year. If the City contacts Grantee prior to the next test period (i.e., before December 15
and June 15 respectively of each year), Grantee shall provide City with no less than seven (7)
days prior written notice of the actual date(s) for FCC compliance testing. If City notifies
Grantee by the December 15th and June 15th dates that it wishes to have a representative present
during the next test(s), Grantee shall cooperate in scheduling its testing so that the representative
can be present. Notwithstanding the above, all technical performance tests may be witnessed by
representatives of the City.

(F) Grantee shall be required to promptly take such corrective measures as are
necessary to correct any performance deficiencies fully and to prevent their recurrence as far as
possible. Grantee’s failure to correct deficiencies identified through this testing process shall be
a material violation of this Franchise. Sites shall be re-tested following correction.

SECTION 11. SERVICE AVAILABILITY, INTERCONNECTION AND SERVICE TO
SCHOOLS AND PUBLIC BUILDINGS

11.1 Service Availability

(A) In General. Except as otherwise provided in herein, Grantee shall provide Cable
Service within seven (7) days of a request by any Person within the City. For purposes of this
Section, a request shall be deemed made on the date of signing a service agreement, receipt of
funds by Grantee, receipt of a written request by Grantee or receipt by Grantee of a verified

28



verbal request. Except as otherwise provided herein, Grantee shall provide such service:

(1) With no line extension charge except as specifically authorized elsewhere
in this Franchise Agreement.

(2) At a non-discriminatory installation charge for a standard installation,
consisting of a 125 foot drop connecting to an inside wall for Residential Subscribers, with
additional charges for non-standard installations computed according to a non-discriminatory
methodology for such installations, adopted by Grantee and provided in writing to the City;

(3) At non-discriminatory monthly rates for Residential Subscribers.

(B) Service to Multiple Dwelling Units. Consistent with this Section 11.1, the
Grantee shall offer the individual units of a Multiple Dwelling Unit all Cable Services offered to
other Dwelling Units in the City and shall individually wire units upon request of the property
owner or renter who has been given written authorization by the owner; provided, however, that
any such offering is conditioned upon the Grantee having legal access to said unit in the form of
an access and wiring agreement that is mutually satisfactory to the Grantee and the property
owner. The City acknowledges that the Grantee cannot control the dissemination of particular
Cable Services beyond the point of demarcation at a Multiple Dwelling Unit.

(C) Subscriber Charges for Extensions of Service. Grantee agrees to extend its Cable
System to all persons living in areas with a residential density of thirty-five (35)forty-five (30)
residences per mile of Cable System plant and if the area is within 1,320 cable-bearing strand
feet of Grantee’s existing distribution plant. If the residential density is less than thirty-five (35)
forty-five (3O)• residences per 5,280 cable-bearing strand feet of trunk or distribution cable,
service may be made available on the basis of a capital contribution in aid of construction,
including cost of material, labor and easements. For the purpose of determining the amount of
capital contribution in aid of construction to be borne by the Grantee and Subscribers in the area
in which service may be expanded, the Grantee will contribute an amount equal to the
construction and other costs per mile, multiplied by a fraction whose numerator equals the actual
number of residences per 5,280 cable-bearing strand feet of its trunk or distribution cable and
whose denominator equals thirty-five (35) thirty (30). Subscribers who request service hereunder
will bear the remainder of the construction and other costs on a pro rata basis. The Grantee may
require that the payment of the capital contribution in aid of construction borne by such potential
Subscribers be paid in advance.

29



11.2 Connection of Public Facilities

Grantee shall, at no cost to the City, provide one outlet of Basic Service to all City owned
and occupied buildings, schools and public libraries located in areas where Grantee provides
Cable Service, so long as these facilities are already served or are located within 125 feet from
the distribution point on the Cable System from which cable service can be provided to these
facilities. For purposes of this subsection, “school” means all State-accredited K-12 public and
private schools. Such obligation to provide free Cable Service shall not extend to areas of City
buildings where the Grantee would normally enter into a commercial contract to provide such
Cable Service (e.g., golf courses, airport restaurants and concourses, and recreation center work
out facilities). Outlets of Basic Service provided in accordance with this subsection may be used
to distribute Cable Services throughout such buildings, provided such distribution can be
accomplished without causing Cable System disruption and general technical standards are
maintained. Such Cable Service shall not be located in public waiting areas or used to entertain
the public nor shall they be used in a way that might violate copyright laws. The outlets may
only be used for lawful purposes. The Cable Service provided shall not be distributed beyond the
originally installed outlets without authorization from Grantee, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld. Grantee is not required to provide free reception equipment for any complimentary
account provided pursuant to this subsection. Grantee does not waive any rights under
applicable law regarding complimentary service. Should Grantee elect to begin offsetting the
value of complimentary service against franchise fees, Grantee shall first provide Franchise
Authority with ninety (90) days prior written notice.

SECTION 12. FRANCHISE VIOLATIONS

12.1 Procedure for Remedying Franchise Violations

(A) If the City reasonably believes that Grantee has failed to perform any obligation
under this Franchise or has failed to perform in a timely manner, the City shall notify Grantee in
writing, stating with reasonable specificity the nature of the alleged default. Grantee shall have
thirty (30) days from the receipt of such notice to:

(1) respond to the City, contesting the City’s assertion that a default has
occurred, and requesting a meeting in accordance with subsection (B), below;

(2) cure the default; or,

(3) notify the City that Grantee cannot cure the default within the thirty (30)
days, because of the nature of the default. In the event the default cannot be cured within
thirty (30) days, Grantee shall promptly take all reasonable steps to cure the default and
notify the City in writing and in detail as to the exact steps that will be taken and the
projected completion date. In such case, the City may set a meeting in accordance with
subsection (B) below to determine whether additional time beyond the thirty (30) days
specified above is indeed needed, and whether Grantee’s proposed completion schedule

30



and steps are reasonable.

(B) If Grantee does not cure the alleged default within the cure period stated above, or
by the projected completion date under subsection (A)(3), or denies the default and requests a
meeting in accordance with (A)( 1), or the City orders a meeting in accordance with subsection
(A)(3), the City shall set a meeting to investigate said issues or the existence of the alleged
default. The City shall notify Grantee of the meeting in writing and such meeting shall take
place no less than thirty (30) days after Grantee’s receipt of notice of the meeting. At the
meeting, Grantee shall be provided an opportunity to be heard and to present evidence in its
defense.

(C) If, after the meeting, the City determines that a default exists, the City shall order
Grantee to correct or remedy the default or breach within fifteen (15) days or within such other
reasonable time frame as the City shall determine. In the event Grantee does not cure within
such time to the City’s reasonable satisfaction, the City may:

(1) Recommend the revocation of this Franchise pursuant to the procedures in
subsection 12.2; or,

(2) Recommend any other legal or equitable remedy available under this
Franchise or any Applicable Law.

(D) The determination as to whether a violation of this Franchise has occurred shall
be within the discretion of the City, provided that any such final determination may be subject to
appeal to a court of competent jurisdiction under Applicable Law.

12.2 Revocation

(A) In addition to revocation in accordance with other provisions of this Franchise,
the City may revoke this Franchise and rescind all rights and privileges associated with this
Franchise in the following circumstances, each of which represents a material breach of this
Franchise:

(1) If Grantee fails to perform any material obligation under this Franchise or
under any other agreement, ordinance or document regarding the City and Grantee;

(2) If Grantee willfully fails for more than forty-eight (48) hours to provide
continuous and uninterrupted Cable Service;

(3) If Grantee attempts to evade any material provision of this Franchise or to
practice any fraud or deceit upon the City or Subscribers; or

(4) If Grantee becomes insolvent, or if there is an assignment for the benefit
of Grantee’s creditors;

31



(5) If Grantee makes a material misrepresentation of fact in the application for
or negotiation of this Franchise.

(B) Following the procedures set forth in subsection 12.1 and prior to forfeiture or
termination of the Franchise, the City shall give written notice to the Grantee of its intent to
revoke the Franchise and set a date for a revocation proceeding. The notice shall set forth the
exact nature of the noncompliance.

(C) Any proceeding under the paragraph above shall be conducted by the City
Council and open to the public. Grantee shall be afforded at least forty-five (45) days prior
written notice of such proceeding.

(1) At such proceeding, Grantee shall be provided a fair opportunity for full
participation, including the right to be represented by legal counsel, to introduce
evidence, and to question witnesses. A complete verbatim record and transcript shall be
made of such proceeding and the cost shall be shared equally between the parties. The
City Council shall hear any Persons interested in the revocation, and shall allow Grantee,
in particular, an opportunity to state its position on the matter.

(2) Within ninety (90) days after the hearing, the City Council shall determine
whether to revoke the Franchise and declare that the Franchise is revoked; or if the
breach at issue is capable of being cured by Grantee, direct Grantee to take appropriate
remedial action within the time and in the manner and on the terms and conditions that
the City Council determines are reasonable under the circumstances. If the City
determines that the Franchise is to be revoked, the City shall set forth the reasons for such
a decision and shall transmit a copy of the decision to the Grantee. Grantee shall be
bound by the City’s decision to revoke the Franchise unless it appeals the decision to a
court of competent jurisdiction within fifteen (15) days of the date of the decision.

(3) Grantee shall be entitled to such relief as the Court may deem appropriate.

(4) The City Council may at its sole discretion take any lawful action which it
deems appropriate to enforce the City’s rights under the Franchise in lieu of revocation of
the Franchise.

12.3 Procedures in the Event of Termination or Revocation

(A) If this Franchise expires without renewal after completion of all processes
available under this Franchise and federal law or is otherwise lawfully terminated or revoked, the
City may, subject to Applicable Law:

(1) Allow Grantee to maintain and operate its Cable System on a
month-to-month basis or short-term extension of this Franchise for not less than six (6)

32



months, unless a sale of the Cable System can be closed sooner or Grantee demonstrates
to the City’s satisfaction that it needs additional time to complete the sale; or

(2) Purchase Grantee’s Cable System in accordance with the procedures set
forth in subsection 12.4, below.

(B) In the event that a sale has not been completed in accordance with subsections
(A)(l) and/or (A)(2) above, the City may order the removal of the above-ground Cable System
facilities and such underground facilities from the City at Grantee’s sole expense within a
reasonable period of time as determined by the City. In removing its plant, structures and
equipment, Grantee shall refill, at is own expense, any excavation that is made by it and shall
leave all Right-of-Way, public places and private property in as good condition as that prevailing
prior to Grantee’s removal of its equipment without affecting the electrical or telephone cable
wires or attachments. The indemnification and insurance provisions shall remain in full force
and effect during the period of removal, and Grantee shall not be entitled to, and agrees not to
request, compensation of any sort therefore.

(C) If Grantee fails to complete any removal required by subsection 12.3 (B) to the
City’s satisfaction, after written notice to Grantee, the City may cause the work to be done and
Grantee shall reimburse the City for the costs incurred within thirty (30) days after receipt of an
itemized list of the costs.

(D) The City may seek legal and equitable relief to enforce the provisions of this
Franchise.

12.4 Purchase of Cable System

(A) If at any time this Franchise is revoked, terminated, or not renewed upon
expiration in accordance with the provisions of federal law, the City shall have the option to
purchase the Cable System.

(B) The City may, at any time thereafter, offer in writing to purchase Grantee’s Cable
System. Grantee shall have thirty (30) days from receipt of a written offer from the City within
which to accept or reject the offer.

(C) In any case where the City elects to purchase the Cable System, the purchase shall
be closed within one hundred twenty (120) days of the date of the City’s audit of a current profit
and loss statement of Grantee. The City shall pay for the Cable System in cash or certified
funds, and Grantee shall deliver appropriate bills of sale and other instruments of conveyance.

(D) For the purposes of this subsection, the price for the Cable System shall be
determined as follows:

33



(1) Tn the case of the expiration of the Franchise without renewal, at fair
market value determined on the basis of Grantee’s Cable System valued as a going
concern, but with no value allocated to the Franchise itself. In order to obtain the fair
market value, this valuation shall be reduced by the amount of any lien, encumbrance, or
other obligation of Grantee which the City would assume.

(2) In the case of revocation for cause, the equitable price of Grantee’s Cable
System.

12.5 Receivership and Foreclosure

(A) At the option of the City, subject to Applicable Law, this Franchise may be
revoked one hundred twenty (120) days after the appointment of a receiver or trustee to take over
and conduct the business of Grantee whether in a receivership, reorganization, bankruptcy or
other action or proceeding, unless:

(1) The receivership or trusteeship is vacated within one hundred twenty (120)
days of appointment; or

(2) The receivers or trustees have, within one hundred twenty (120) days after
their election or appointment, fully complied with all the terms and provisions of this
Franchise, and have remedied all defaults under the Franchise. Additionally, the
receivers or trustees shall have executed an agreement duly approved by the court having
jurisdiction, by which the receivers or trustees assume and agree to be bound by each and
every term, provision and limitation of this Franchise.

(B) If there is a foreclosure or other involuntary sale of the whole or any part of the
plant, property and equipment of Grantee, the City may serve notice of revocation on Grantee
and to the purchaser at the sale, and the rights and privileges of Grantee under this Franchise
shall be revoked thirty (30) days after service of such notice, unless:

(1) The City has approved the transfer of the Franchise, in accordance with
the procedures set forth in this Franchise and as provided by law; and

(2) The purchaser has covenanted and agreed with the City to assume and be
bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Franchise.

12.6 No Monetary Recourse Against the City

Grantee shall not have any monetary recourse against the City or its officers, officials,
boards, commissions, agents or employees for any loss, costs, expenses or damages arising out of
any provision or requirement of this Franchise or the enforcement thereof, in accordance with the
provisions of applicable federal, State and local law. The rights of the City under this Franchise

34



are in addition to, and shall not be read to limit, any immunities the City may enjoy under
federal, State or local law.

12.7 Alternative Remedies

No provision of this Franchise shall be deemed to bar the right of the City to seek or
obtain judicial relief from a violation of any provision of the Franchise or any rule, regulation,
requirement or directive promulgated thereunder. Neither the existence of other remedies
identified in this Franchise nor the exercise thereof shall be deemed to bar or otherwise limit the
right of the City to recover monetary damages for such violations by Grantee, or to seek and
obtain judicial enforcement of Grantee’s obligations by means of specific performance,
injunctive relief or mandate, or any other remedy at law or in equity.

12.8 Effect of Abandonment

If the Grantee abandons its Cable System during the Franchise term, or fails to operate its
Cable System in accordance with its duty to provide continuous service, the City, at its option,
may operate the Cable System; designate another entity to operate the Cable System temporarily
until the Grantee restores service under conditions acceptable to the City, or until the Franchise is
revoked and a new franchisee is selected by the City; or obtain an injunction requiring the
Grantee to continue operations. If the City is required to operate or designate another entity to
operate the Cable System, the Grantee shall reimburse the City or its designee for all reasonable
costs, expenses and damages incurred.

12.9 What Constitutes Abandonment

The City shall be entitled to exercise its options in subsection 12.8 if:

(A) The Grantee fails to provide Cable Service in accordance with this Franchise over
a substantial portion of the Franchise Area for four (4) consecutive days, unless the City
authorizes a longer interruption of service; or

(B) The Grantee, for any period, willfully and without cause refuses to provide Cable
Service in accordance with this Franchise.

SECTION 13. FRANCHISE RENEWAL AND TRANSFER

13.1 Renewal

(A) The City and Grantee agree that any proceedings undertaken by the City that
relate to the renewal of the Franchise shall be governed by and comply with the provisions of
Section 626 of the Cable Act, unless the procedures and substantive protections set forth therein
shall be deemed to be preempted and superseded by the provisions of any subsequent provision
of federal or State law.

35



(B) In addition to the procedures set forth in said Section 626(a), the City agrees to
notify Grantee of the completion of its assessments regarding the identification of future
cable-related community needs and interests, as well as the past performance of Grantee under
the then current Franchise term. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein,
Grantee and City agree that at any time during the term of the then current Franchise, while
affording the public adequate notice and opportunity for comment, the City and Grantee may
agree to undertake and finalize negotiations regarding renewal of the then current Franchise and
the City may grant a renewal thereof. Grantee and City consider the terms set forth in this
subsection to be consistent with the express provisions of Section 626 of the Cable Act.

13.2 Transfer of Ownership or Control

Neither the Grantee nor any other Person may transfer the Cable System or the Franchise
without the prior written consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld
or delayed. No transfer of control of the Grantee, defined as an acquisition of 51% or greater
ownership interest in Grantee, shall take place without the prior written consent of the City,
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No consent shall be required,
however, for (i) a transfer in trust, by mortgage, hypothecation, or by assignment of any rights,
title, or interest of the Grantee in the Franchise or in the Cable System in order to secure
indebtedness, or (ii) a transfer to an entity directly or indirectly owned or controlled by Comcast
Corporation. Within thirty (30) days of receiving a request for consent, the City shall, in
accordance with FCC rules and regulations, notify the Grantee in writing of the additional
information, if any, it requires to determine the legal, financial and technical qualifications of the
transferee or new controlling party. If the City has not taken final action on the Grantee’s request
for consent within one hundred twenty (120) days after receiving such request, consent shall be
deemed granted.

14. Severability

If any Section, subsection, paragraph, term or provision of this Franchise is determined to
be illegal, invalid or unconstitutional by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, such
determination shall have no effect on the validity of any other Section, subsection, paragraph,
term or provision of this Franchise, all of which will remain in full force and effect for the term
of the Franchise.

15.1 Preferential or Discriminatory Practices Prohibited

NO DISCRIMNATION N EMPLOYMENT. In connection with the performance of
work under this Franchise, the Grantee agrees not to refuse to hire, discharge, promote or
demote, or discriminate in matters of compensation against any Person otherwise qualified,
solely because of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, age, military status, sexual
orientation, marital status, or physical or mental disability; and the Grantee further agrees to
insert the foregoing provision in all subcontracts hereunder. Throughout the term of this

36



Franchise, Grantee shall fully comply with all equal employment or non-discrimination
provisions and requirements of federal, State and local laws, and in particular, FCC rules and
regulations relating thereto.

15.2 Notices

Throughout the term of the Franchise, each party shall maintain and file with the other a
local address for the service of notices by mail. All notices shall be sent overnight delivery
postage prepaid to such respective address and such notices shall be effective upon the date of
mailing. These addresses may be changed by the City or the Grantee by written notice at any
time. At the Effective Date of this Franchise:

Grantee’s address shall be:

Comcast of Colorado/Florida/Michigan/New Mexico/Pennsylvania/Washington, LLC
8000 E. Iliff Ave.
Denver, CO 80231
Attn: Government Affairs Dept.

The City’s address shall be:

City of Las Vegas
1700 N. Grand Ave.
Las Vegas, NM 87701
Attn: City Manager

15.3 Descriptive Headings

The headings and titles of the Sections and subsections of this Franchise are for reference
purposes only, and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of the text herein.

15.4 Binding Effect

This Franchise shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their permitted successors and
assigns.

15.5 No Joint Venture

Nothing herein shall be deemed to create a joint venture or principal-agent relationship
between the parties, and neither party is authorized to, nor shall either party act toward third
Persons or the public in any manner which would indicate any such relationship with the other.

15.6 Waiver

37



The failure of the City at any time to require performance by the Grantee of any provision
hereof shall in no way affect the right of the City hereafter to enforce the same. Nor shall the
waiver by the City of any breach of any provision hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of any
succeeding breach of such provision, or as a waiver of the provision itself or any other provision.

15.7 Reasonableness of Consent or Approval

Whenever under this Franchise “reasonableness” is the standard for the granting or denial
of the consent or approval of either party hereto, such party shall be entitled to consider public
and governmental policy, moral and ethical standards as well as business and economic
considerations.

15.8 Entire Agreement

This Franchise and all Exhibits represent the entire understanding and agreement between
the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior oral
negotiations between the parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Franchise is signed in the name of the City of Las Vegas,
New Mexico this day of

_______,

2018.

ATTEST: CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO:

City Clerk Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM: RECOMMENDED AND APPROVED:

City Attorney City Manager

Accepted and approved this

_____

day of , 2018.

Comcast of Colorado/Florida/Michigan/New Mexico/Pennsylvania/Washington. LLC

By: Richard C. Jennings
Its: Regional Senior Vice President, Cable Management

38



CITY OF LAS VEGAS

ORDINANCE NO. 18-08

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A FRANCHISE TO COMCAST OF
COLORADO/FLORIDA/MICHIGAN/NEW
MEXICO/PENNSYLVANIA/WASHINGTON, LLC. dIbIaJ COMCAST (“GRANTEE”)
TO OWN OPERATE AND MAINTAIN A CABLE TELEVISION SYSTEM IN THE
CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO, SEETING FORTH CONDITIONS
ACCOMPANYING THE GRANT OF FRANCHISE, AND PROVIDING FOR
REGULATIONS AND USE OF SAID SYSTEM BY SAID CITY.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS,
NEW MEXICO, AS FOLLOWS:

COMCAST OF COLORADO/FLORIDA/MICHIGAN/NEW
MEXICO/PENNSYLVANIA/WASHINGTON, LLC

AND
CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO

CABLE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

Table of Contents

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS

SECTION 2. GRANT OF FRANCHISE 6
2.1 Grant 6
2.2 Use of Right-of-Way 8
2.3 Term of Franchise 8
2.4 Franchise Nonexciusive 8
2.5 Police Powers 9
2.6 Competitive Equity 9
2.7 Familiarity with Franchise 10
2.8 Effect of Acceptance 10

SECTION 3. FRANCHISE FEE PAYMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS II
3.1 Franchise Fee 11
3.2 Payments 11
3.3 Acceptance of Payment and Recomputation 11
3.4 Quarterly Franchise Fee Reports 11



3.5 Annual Franchise Fee Reports 11
3.6 Franchise Fees Subject to Audit 11
3.7 Late Payments 12
3.8 Underpayments 12
3.9 Alternative Compensation 12
3.10 Maximum Legal Compensation 12
3.11 Additional Comniitnients Not Franchise Fee Payments 12
3.12 Tax Liability 13
3.13 Financial Records 13
3.14 Payment on Termination 13

SECTION 4. ADMINISTRATION AND REGULATION 13
4.1 Authority 13
4.2 Rates and Charges 13
4.3 Rate Discrimination 14
4.4 Filing of Rates and Charges 14
4.5 Cross Subsidization 14
4.6 Reserved Authority 14
4.7 Franchise Amendment Procedure 15
4.8 Performance Evaluations 15
4.9 Force Majeure 15

SECTIONS. FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 16
5.1 Indemnification 16
5.2 Insurance 16

SECTION 6. CUSTOMER SERVICE 16
6. 1 Customer Service Standards 16
6.2 Subscriber Privacy 17
6.3 Subscriber Bills 17

SECTION 7. BOOKS AND RECORDS 17
7.1 Books and Records 17
7.2 Confidentiality 17
7.3 Records Required 18
7.4 Copies of Federal and State Reports 18

SECTION 8. PROGRAMMING 18
8.1 Broad Programming Categories 18
8.2 Deletion or Reduction of Broad Programming Categories 19
8.3 Obscenity 19
8.4 Parental Control Device 19
8.5 Continuity of Service Mandatory 20
8.6 Services for the Disabled 20

SECTION 9. GENERAL RIGHT-OF-WAY USE AND CONSTRUCTION 20
9.1 Permits and General Obligations 20
9.2 Conditions of Street Occupancy 21

11



9.3 Relocation at request of Third Party 21
9.4 Restoration of Right-of-Way 21
9.5 Safety Requirements 21
9.6 Trimming of Trees and Shrubbery 21
9.7 Aerial and Underground Construction 22
9.8 Undergrounding and Beautification Projects 22

SECTION 10. CABLE SYSTEM. TECHNICAL STANDARDS AND TESTING 22
10.1 Subscriber Network 22
10.2 Standby Power 23
10.3 Emergency Alert Capability 23
10.4 Technical Performance 23
10.5 Cable System Performance Testing 23

SECTION 11. SERVICE AVAILABILITY, INTERCONNECTION AND SERVICE TO SCHOOLS
AND PUBLIC BUILDINGS 24

11.1 Service Availability 24
11.2 Connection of Public Facilities 26

SECTION 12. FRANCHISE VIOLATIONS 26
12.1 Procedure for Remedying Franchise Violations 26
12.2 Revocation 27
12.3 Procedures in the Event of Termination or Revocation 28
12.4 Purchase of Cable System 29
12.5 Receivership and Foreclosure 30
12.6 No Monetary Recourse Against the City 30
12.7 Alternative Remedies 30
12.8 Effect of Abandonment 3 1
12.9 What Constitutes Abandonment 31

SECTION 13. FRANCHISE RENEWAL AND TRANSFER 31
13.1 Renewal 31
13.2 Transfer of Ownership or Control 31

SECTION 14. SEVERABILITY 32

SECTION 15. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS Error! Bookmark not defined.
15.1 Preferential or Discriminatory Practices Prohibited 32
15.2 Notices 32
15.3 Descriptive Headings 33
15.4 Binding Effect 33
15.5 No Joint Venture 33
15.6 Waiver 33
15.7 Reasonableness of Consent or Approval 33
15.8 Entire Agreement 33

111



COMCAST OF COLORADO/FLORIDA/MICHIGAN/NEW
MEXICO/PENNSYLVANIA/WASHINGTON. EEC

AND
CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO

CABLE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Franchise, the following terms, phrases, words and their
derivations shall have the meaning given herein. When not inconsistent with the context, words
used in the present tense include the future, words in the plural include the singular, and words in
the singular include the plural. Words not defined shall be given their common and ordinary
meaning. The word shall’ is always mandatory and not merely directory.

1. 1 “Activated” means the status of any capacity or part of the Cable System in which any
Cable Service requiring the use of that capacity or part is available without further installation of
system equipment, whether hardware or software.

1.2 “Affiliate,” when used in connection with Grantee, means any Person who owns or
controls, is owned or controlled by, or is under common ownership or control with, Grantee.

1.3 “Applicable Law” means any statute, ordinance, judicial decision, executive order or
regulation having the force and effect of law, that determines the legal standing of a case or
issue.

1.4 “Bad Debt” means amounts lawfully billed to a Subscriber and owed by the Subscriber
for Cable Service and accrued as revenues on the books of Grantee, but not collected after
reasonable efforts have been made by Grantee to collect the charges.

1.5 “Basic Service” is the level of programming service which includes, at a minimum, all
Broadcast Channels, all PEG SD Access Channels required in this Franchise, and any additional
Programming added by the Grantee, and is made available to all Cable Services Subscribers in
the Franchise Area.

1.6 “Broadcast Channel” means local commercial television stations, qualified low power
stations and qualified local noncommercial educational television stations, as referenced under
47 USC § 534 and 535.

1.7 “Broadcast Signal” means a television or radio signal transmitted over the air to a wide
geographic audience, and received by a Cable System by antenna, microwave, satellite dishes or
any other means.

1.8 “Cable Act” means the Title VI of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES



1.9 “Cable Operator” means any Person or groups of Persons, including Grantee, who
provide(s) Cable Service over a Cable System and directly or through one or more affiliates
owns a significant interest in such Cable System or who otherwise control(s) or is (are)
responsible for, through any arrangement, the management and operation of such a Cable
System.

1.10 “Cable Service” means the one-way transmission to Subscribers of video programming
or other programming service, and Subscriber interaction, if any, which is required for the
selection or use of such video programming or other programming service.

1.11 “Cable System” means any facility, including Grantee’s, consisting of a set of closed
transmissions paths and associated signal generation, reception, and control equipment that is
designed to provide Cable Service which includes video programming and which is provided to
multiple Subscribers within a community, but such term does not include (A) a facility that
serves only to retransmit the television signals of one or more television broadcast stations; (B) a
facility that serves Subscribers without using any Right-of-Way; (C) a facility of a common
carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the provisions of Title II of the federal
Communications Act (47 U.S.C. 201 et seq.), except that such facility shall be considered a
Cable System (other than for purposes of Section 62 1(c) (47 U.S.C. 54 1(c)) to the extent such
facility is used in the transmission of video programming directly to Subscribers, unless the
extent of such use is solely to provide interactive on-demand services; (D) an open video system
that complies with federal statutes; or (E) any facilities of any electric utility used solely for
operating its electric utility systems.

1.12 “y” is the City of Las Vegas New Mexico, a body politic and corporate under the laws
of the State of New Mexico.

1.13 “City Council” means the Las Vegas City Council, or its successor, the governing body
of the City of Las Vegas, New Mexico.

1.14 “Channel” means a portion of the electromagnetic frequency spectrum which is used in
the Cable System and which is capable of delivering a television channel (as television channel
is defined by the FCC by regulation).

1.15 “Commercial Subscribers” means any Subscribers other than Residential Subscribers.

1. 16 “Digital Starter Service” means the Tier of optional video programming services, which
is the level of Cable Service received by most Subscribers above Basic Service, and does not
include Premium Services.

1.17 “Downstream” means carrying a transmission from the Headend to remote points on the
Cable System or to Interconnection points on the Cable System.

1.18 “Dwelling Unit” means any building, or portion thereof, that has independent living
facilities, including provisions for cooking, sanitation and sleeping, and that is designed for
residential occupancy. Buildings with more than one set of facilities for cooking shall be

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
2



considered Multiple Dwelling Units unless the additional facilities are clearly accessory.

1.19 “Effective Date” means the date on which all persons necessary to sign this Agreement in
order for it to be binding on both parties have executed this Agreement as indicated on the
signature page(s), unless a specific date is otherwise provided in the “Term” section herein.

1.20 “FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission.

1.21 “Fiber Optic” means a transmission medium of optical fiber cable, along with all
associated electronics and eqLlipment, capable of carrying Cable Service by means of electric
lightwave impulses.

1.22 “Franchise” means the document in which this definition appears, i.e., the contractual
agreement, executed between the City and Grantee, containing the specific provisions of the
authorization granted, including references, specifications, requirements and other related
matters.

1.23 “Franchise Area” means the area within the jurisdictional boundaries of the City,
including any areas annexed by the City during the term of this Franchise.

1.24 “Franchise Fee” means that fee payable to the City described in subsection 3. 1.

1.25 “Grantee” means Comcast of Colorado/Florida/Michigan/New
Mexico/PennsylvanialWashington, LLC or its lawful successor, transferee or assignee.

1.26 “Gross Revenues” means, and shall be construed broadly to include all revenues derived
directly or indirectly by Grantee and/or an Affiliated Entity that is the cable operator of the Cable
System, from the operation of Grantee’s Cable System to provide Cable Services within the City.
Gross revenues include, by way of illustration and not limitation:

• monthly fees for Cable Services, regardless of whether such Cable Services are provided
to residential or commercial customers, including revenues derived from the provision of all
Cable Services (including but not limited to pay or premium Cable Services, digital Cable
Services, pay-per-view, pay-per-event and video-on-demand Cable Services);

• installation, reconnection, downgrade, upgrade or similar charges associated with
changes in subscriber Cable Service levels;

• fees paid to Grantee for channels designated for commercial/Leased Access use and shall
be allocated on a pro rata basis using total Cable Service subscribers within the City;

• converter, remote control, and other Cable Service equipment rentals, leases, or sales;

• Advertising Revenues as defined herein;

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
3



• late fees, convenience fees and administrative fees which shall be allocated on a pro rata
basis using Cable Services revenue as a percentage of total subscriber revenues within the City;

• revenues from program guides;

• Franchise Fees;

• FCC Regulatory Fees; and,

• commissions from home shopping channels and other Cable Service revenue sharing
arrangements which shall be allocated on a pro rata basis using total Cable Service subscribers
within the City.

(A) “Advertising Revenues” shall mean revenues derived from sales of advertising
that are made available to Grantee’s Cable System subscribers within the City and shall be
allocated on a pro rata basis using total Cable Service subscribers reached by the advertising.
Additionally, Grantee agrees that Gross Revenues subject to franchise fees shall include all
commissions, rep fees, Affiliated Entity fees, or rebates paid to National Cable Communications
(“NCC”) and Comcast Spotlight (“Spotlight”) or their successors associated with sales of
advertising on the Cable System within the City allocated according to this paragraph using total
Cable Service subscribers reached by the advertising.

(B) “Gross Revenues” shall not include:

• actual bad debt write-offs, except any portion which is subsequently collected
which shall be allocated on a pro rota basis using Cable Services revenue as a percentage of total
subscriber revenues within the City;

• any taxes and/or fees on services furnished by Grantee imposed by any
municipality, state or other governmental unit, provided that Franchise Fees and the FCC
regulatory fee shall not be regarded as such a tax or fee;

• fees imposed by any municipality, state or other governmental unit on Grantee
including but not limited to Public, Educational and Governmental (PEG) Fees;

• launch fees and marketing co-op fees; and,

• unaffiliated third party advertising sales agency fees which are reflected as a
deduction from revenues.

(C) To the extent revenues are received by Grantee for the provision of a discounted
bundle of services which includes Cable Services and non-Cable Services, Grantee shall
calculate revenues to be included in Gross Revenues using a methodology that allocates revenue
on a pro rota basis when comparing the bundled service price and its components to the sum of
the published rate card, except as required by specific federal, state or local law, it is expressly
understood that equipment may be subject to inclusion in the bundled price at full rate card

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
4



value. This calculation shall be applied to every bundled service package containing Cable
Service from which Grantee derives revenues in the City. The City reserves its right to review
and to challenge Grantee’s calculations.

(D) Grantee reserves the right to change the allocation methodologies set forth in this
Section 1.26 in order to meet the standards required by governing accounting principles as
promulgated and defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Emerging
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) and/or the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Grantee will explain and document the required changes to the City as part of any audit or
review of franchise fee payments, and any such changes shall be subject to 1.26(E) below.

(E) Resolution of any disputes over the classification of revenue should first be
attempted by agreement of the Parties, but should no resolution be reached, the Parties agree that
reference shall be made to generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as promulgated
and defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) and/or the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Notwithstanding
the forgoing, the City reserves its right to challenge Grantee’s calculation of Gross Revenues,
including the interpretation of GAAP as promulgated and defined by the FASB, EITF and/or the
SEC.

1.27 “Headend” means any facility for signal reception and dissemination on a Cable System,
including cables, antennas, wires, satellite dishes, monitors, switchers, modulators, processors
for Broadcast Signals, equipment for the Interconnection of the Cable System with adjacent
Cable Systems and Interconnection of any networks which are part of the Cable System, and all
other related equipment and facilities.

1.28 “Leased Access Channel” means any Channel or portion of a Channel commercially
available for video programming by Persons other than Grantee, for a fee or charge.

1.29 “Manager” means the City Manager of the City or designee.

1.30 “Person” means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, association, or
corporation, or any other form of entity or organization.

1.3 1 “Premium Service” means programming choices (such as movie Channels, pay-per-view
programs, or video on demand) offered to Subscribers on a per-Channel, per-program or per-
event basis.

1.32 “Residential Subscriber” means any Person who receives Cable Service delivered to
Dwelling Units or Multiple Dwelling Units, excluding such Multiple Dwelling Units billed on a
bulk-billing basis.

1.33 “Right-of-Way” means each of the following which have been dedicated to the public or
are hereafter dedicated to the public and maintained under public authority or by others and
located within the City: streets, roadways, highways, avenues, lanes, alleys, bridges, sidewalks,
easements, right-of-way and similar public property and areas.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

5



1.34 “State” means the State of New Mexico.

1.35 “Subscriber” means any Person who or which elects to subscribe to, for any purpose,
Cable Service provided by Grantee by means of or in connection with the Cable System and
whose premises are physically wired and lawfully Activated to receive Cable Service from
Grantees Cable System, and who is in compliance with Grantee’s regular and nondiscriminatory
terms and conditions for receipt of service.

1.36 “Subscriber Network” means that portion of the Cable System used primarily by Grantee
in the transmission of Cable Services to Residential Subscribers.

1.37 “Telecommunications” means the transmission, between or among points specified by
the user, of information of the users choosing, without change in the form or content of the
information as sent and received (as provided in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(43)).

1.38 “Telecommunications Service” means the offering of Telecommunications for a fee
directly to the public, or to such classes of users as to be effectively available directly to the
public, regardless of the facilities used (as provided in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(46)).

1.39 “Tier” means a group of Channels for which a single periodic subscription fee is charged.

1.40 “Two-Way” means that the Cable System is capable of providing both Upstream and
Downstream transmissions.

1.41 “Upstream” means carrying a transmission to the Headend from remote points on the
Cable System or from Interconnection points on the Cable System.

SECTION 2. GRANT OF FRANCHISE

2.1 Grant

(A) The City hereby grants to Grantee a nonexclusive authorization to make
reasonable and lawful use of the Right-of-Way within the City to construct, operate, maintain,
reconstruct and rebuild a Cable System for the purpose of providing Cable Service subject to the
terms and conditions set forth in this Franchise and in any prior utility or use agreements entered
into by Grantee with regard to any individual property.

(B) Nothing in this Franchise shall be deemed to waive the lawful requirements of
any generally applicable City ordinance existing as of the Effective Date, as defined in
subsection 1.19.

(C) Each and every term, provision or condition herein is subject to the provisions of
State law, federal law, the Charter of the City, and the ordinances and regulations enacted
pursuant thereto. The Charter and Municipal Code of the City, as the same may be amended

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

6



from time to time, are hereby expressly incorporated into this Franchise as if fully set out herein
by this reference. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City may not unilaterally alter the material
rights and obligations of Grantee under this Franchise. All ordinances or parts of ordinances or
Municipal Code that are in conflict with or otherwise impose obligations different from the
provisions of this Franchise are superseded by this Franchise. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Franchise, Grantee reserves the right to challenge provisions of any ordinance,
rule, regulation, or other enactment of the City that conflicts with its contractual rights under this
Franchise, either now or in the future.

(D) This Franchise shall not be interpreted to prevent the City from imposing
additional lawful conditions, including additional compensation conditions for use of the Right
of-Way, should Grantee provide service other than Cable Service.

(E) Grantee promises and guarantees, as a condition of exercising the privileges
granted by this Franchise, that any Affiliate of the Grantee directly involved in the offering of
Cable Service in the Franchise Area, or directly involved in the management or operation of the
Cable System in the Franchise Area, will also comply with the obligations of this Franchise.

(F) No rights shall pass to Grantee by implication. Without limiting the foregoing, by
way of example and not limitation, this Franchise shall not include or be a substitute for:

(1) Any other permit or authorization required for the privilege of transacting
and carrying on a business within the City that may be required by the ordinances and
laws of the City;

(2) Any permit, agreement, or authorization required by the City for Right-of-
Way users in connection with operations on or in Right-of-Way or public property
including, by way of example and not limitation, street cut permits; or

(3) Any permits or agreements for occupying any other property of the City or
private entities to which access is not specifically granted by this Franchise including,
without limitation, permits and agreements for placing devices on poles, in conduits or in
or on other structures.

(G) This Franchise is intended to convey limited rights and interests only as to those
Right-of-Way in which the City has an actual interest. It is not a warranty of title or interest in
any Right-of-Way; it does not provide the Grantee with any interest in any particular location
within the Right-of-Way; and it does not confer rights other than as expressly provided in the
grant hereof.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

7



(H) This Franchise does not authorize Grantee to provide Telecommunications
Service, or to construct, operate or maintain Telecommunications facilities. This Franchise is not
a bar to the provision of non-Cable Services, or to the imposition of any lawful conditions on
Grantee with respect to Telecommunications, whether similar, different or the same as the
conditions specified herein. This Franchise does not relieve Grantee of any obligation it may
have to obtain from the City an authorization to provide Telecommunications Services, or to
construct, operate or maintain Telecommunications facilities, or relieve Grantee of its obligation
to comply with any such authorizations that may be lawfully required.

2.2 Use of Right-of-Way

(A) Subject to the City’s supervision and control, Grantee may erect, install, construct,
repair, replace, reconstruct, and retain in, on, over, under, upon, across, and along the Right-of-
Way within the City such wires, cables, conductors, ducts, conduits, vaults, manholes,
amplifiers, pedestals, attachments and other property and equipment as are necessary and
appurtenant to the operation of a Cable System within the City. Grantee, through this Franchise,
is granted extensive and valuable rights to operate its Cable System for profit using the City’s
Right-of-Way in compliance with all applicable City construction codes and procedures. As
trustee for the public, the City is entitled to fair compensation as provided for in Section 3 of this
Franchise to be paid for these valuable rights throughout the term of the Franchise.

(B) Grantee must follow City established nondiscriminatory requirements for
placement of Cable System facilities in Right-of-Way, including the specific location of facilities
in the Right-of-Way, and must in any event install Cable System facilities in a manner that
minimizes interference with the use of the Right-of-Way by others, including others that may be
installing communications facilities. Within limits reasonably related to the City’s role in
protecting public health, safety and welfare, the City may require that Cable System facilities be
installed at a particular time, at a specific place or in a particular manner as a condition of access
to a particular Right-of-Way; may deny access if Grantee is not willing to comply with City’s
requirements; and may remove, or require removal of, any facility that is not installed by Grantee
in compliance with the requirements established by the City, or which is installed without prior
City approval of the time, place or manner of installation, and charge Grantee for all the costs
associated with removal; and may require Grantee to cooperate with others to minimize adverse
impacts on the Right-of-Way through joint trenching and other arrangements.

2.3 Term of Franchise

The term of the Franchise granted hereunder shall be ten (10) years, commencing upon
the Effective Date of the Franchise, unless the Franchise is renewed or is lawfully terminated in
accordance with the terms of this Franchise Agreement and the Cable Act, or is extended by
mutual agreement of the City and Grantee.

2.4 Franchise Nonexciusive

This Franchise shall be nonexclusive, and subject to all prior rights, interests, easements
or licenses granted by the City to any Person to use any property, Right-of-Way, right, interest or

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

8



license for any purpose whatsoever, including the right of the City to use same for any purpose it
deems fit, including the same or similar purposes allowed Grantee hereunder. The City may at
any time grant authorization to use the Right-of-Way for any purpose not incompatible with
Grantee’s authority under this Franchise and for such additional franchises for Cable Systems as
the City deems appropriate.

2.5 Police Powers

Grantee’s rights hereunder are subject to the police powers of the City to adopt and
enforce ordinances necessary to the safety, health, and welfare of the public, and Grantee agrees
to comply with all laws and ordinances of general applicability enacted, or hereafter enacted, by
the City or any other legally constituted governmental unit having lawful jurisdiction over the
subject matter hereof. The City shall have the right to adopt, from time to time, such ordinances
as may be deemed necessary in the exercise of its police power; provided that such hereinafter
enacted ordinances shall be reasonable and not materially modify the terms of this Franchise.
Any conflict between the provisions of this Franchise and any other present or future lawful
exercise of the City’s police powers shall be resolved in favor of the latter.

2.6 Competitive Equity

(A) Purposes, The Grantee and the City acknowledge that there is increasing
competition in the video marketplace among cable operators, direct broadcast satellite providers,
telephone companies, broadband content providers and others; new technologies are emerging
that enable the provision of new and advanced services to City residents; and changes in the
scope and application of the traditional regulatory framework governing the provision of video
services are being considered in a variety of federal, state and local venues. To foster an
environment where video service providers using the public Right-of-Way can compete on a
competitively neutral and nondiscriminatory basis; encourage the provision of new and advanced
services to City residents; promote local communications infrastructure investments and
economic opportunities in the City; and provide flexibility in the event of subsequent changes in
the law, the Grantee and the City have agreed to the provisions in this Section, and they should
be interpreted and applied with such purposes in mind.

(B) New Video Service Provider. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement or any other provision of law, if any Video Service Provider (“VSP”) (i) enters into
any agreement with the City to provide video services to subscribers in the City, or (ii) otherwise
begins to provide video services to subscribers in the City (with or without entering into an
agreement with the City), the City, upon written request of the Grantee, shall permit the Grantee
to construct and operate its Cable System and to provide video services to subscribers in the City
under the same agreement and/or under the same terms and conditions as apply to the new VSP.
The Grantee and the City shall enter into an agreement or other appropriate authorization (if
necessary) containing the same terms and conditions as are applicable to the VSP within sixty
(60) days after the Grantee submits a written request to the City.

(C) If there is no written agreement or other authorization between the new VSP and
the City, the Grantee and the City shall use the sixty (60) day period to develop and enter into an

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

9



agreement or other appropriate authorization (if necessary) that to the maximum extent possible
contains provisions that will ensure competitive equity between the Grantee and other VSPs,
taking into account the terms and conditions under which other VSPs are allowed to provide
video services to subscribers in the City.

(D) Subsequent Change in Law. If there is a change in federal, state or local law that
provides for a new or alternative form of authorization for a VSP to provide video services to
subscribers in the City, or that otherwise changes the nature or extent of the obligations that the
City may request from or impose on a VSP providing video services to subscribers in the City,
the City agrees that, notwithstanding any other provision of law, upon Grantee’s written request
the City shall: (i) permit the Grantee to provide video services to subscribers in the City on the
same terms and conditions as are applicable to a VSP under the changed law; (ii) modify this
Agreement to comply with the changed law; or (iii) modify this Agreement to ensure competitive
equity between the Grantee and other VSPs, taking into account the conditions under which
other VSPs are permitted to provide video services to subscribers in the City. The City and the
Grantee shall implement the provisions of this Section within sixty (60) days after the Grantee
submits a written request to the City. Notwithstanding any provision of law that imposes a time
or other limitation on the Grantee’s ability to take advantage of the changed law’s provisions, the
Grantee may exercise its rights under this Section at any time, but not sooner than thirty (30)
days after the changed law goes into effect.

(E) Effect on This Agreement. Any agreement, authorization, right or determination
to provide video services to subscribers in the City under Sections 2.6B, 2.6C or 2.6D shall
supersede this Agreement, and the Grantee, at its option, may terminate this Agreement or
portions thereof, upon written notice to the City, without penalty or damages.

(F) The term “Video Service Provider” or “VSP” shall mean any entity using the
public Right-of-Way to provide multiple video programming services to subscribers, for
purchase or at no cost, regardless of the transmission method, facilities, or technology used. A
VSP shall include but is not limited to any entity that provides cable services, multichannel
multipoint distribution services, broadcast satellite services, satellite-delivered services, wireless
services, and Internet-Protocol based services.

2.7 Familiarity with Franchise

The Grantee acknowledges and warrants by acceptance of the rights, privileges and
agreements granted herein, that it has carefully read and fully comprehends the terms and
conditions of this Franchise and is willing to and does accept all lawful and reasonable risks of
the meaning of the provisions, terms and conditions herein. The Grantee further acknowledges
and states that it has fully studied and considered the requirements and provisions of this
Franchise, and finds that the same are commercially practicable at this time, and consistent with
all local, State and federal laws and regulations currently in effect, including the Cable Act.

2.8 Effect of Acceptance

By accepting the Franchise, the Grantee: (1) acknowledges and accepts the Citys legal

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
10



right to issue and enforce the Franchise; (2) accepts and agrees to comply with each and every
provision of this Franchise subject to Applicable Law; and (3) agrees that the Franchise was
granted pursuant to processes and procedures consistent with Applicable Law, and that it will not
raise any claim to the contrary.

SECTION 3. FRANCHISE FEE PAYMENT AND FINANCIAL CONTROLS

3.1 Franchise Fee

As compensation for the benefits and privileges granted under this Franchise and in
consideration of permission to use the City’s Right-of-Way, Grantee shall within sixty (60) days
of the Effective Date of this agreement pay as a Franchise Fee to the City, throughout the
duration of and consistent with this Franchise, an amount equal to five percent (5%) of Grantee’s
Gross Revenues.

3.2 Payments

Grantee’s Franchise Fee payments to the City shall be computed quarterly for the
preceding calendar quarter ending March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31. Each
quarterly payment shall be due and payable no later than forty-five (45) days after said dates.

3.3 Acceptance of Payment and Recomputation

No acceptance of any payment shall be construed as an accord by the City that the
amount paid is, in fact, the correct amount, nor shall any acceptance of payments be construed as
a release of any claim the City may have for further or additional sums payable or for the
performance of any other obligation of Grantee.

3.4 Quarterly Franchise Fee Reports

Each payment shall be accompanied by a written report to the City, or concurrently sent
under separate cover, verified by an authorized representative of Grantee, containing an accurate
statement in summarized form, as well as in detail, of Grantee’s Gross Revenues and the
computation of the payment amount. Such reports shall detail all Gross Revenues of the Cable
System.

3.5 Annual Franchise Fee Reports

Upon thirty (30) day’s written notice from the City, Grantee shall, within sixty (60) days
after the end of each year, furnish to the City a statement stating the total amount of Gross
Revenues for the year and all payments, deductions and computations for the period.

3.6 Franchise Fees Subject to Audit

Upon reasonable prior written notice and no more than once annually, during normal
business hours at Grantee’s principal business office, the City shall have the right to inspect the

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
11



Grantee’s financial records used to calculate the City’s franchise fees; provided, however, that
any such inspection shall take place within two (2) years from the date the Franchising Authority
receives such payment, after which period any such payment shall be considered final.

3.7 Late Payments

In the event any payment due quarterly is not received within forty-five (45) days from
the end of the calendar quarter, Grantee shall pay interest on the amount due (at the prime rate as
listed in the Wall Street Journal on the date the payment was due), compounded daily, calculated
from the date the payment was originally due until the date the City receives the payment.

3.8 Underpayments

If a net Franchise Fee underpayment is discovered as the result of an audit, Grantee shall
pay interest at the rate of the five percent (5%) per annum, compounded quarterly, calculated
from the date each portion of the underpayment was originally due until the date Grantee remits
the underpayment to the City.

3.9 Alternative Compensation

In the event the obligation of Grantee to compensate the City through Franchise Fee
payments is lawfully suspended or eliminated, in whole or part, then Grantee shall pay to the
City compensation equivalent to the compensation paid to the City by other similarly situated
users of the City’s Right-of-Way for Grantee’s use of the City’s Right-of-Way, provided that in
no event shall such payments exceed the equivalent of five percent (5%) of Grantee’s Gross
Revenues (subject to the other provisions contained in this Franchise), to the extent consistent
with Applicable Law.

3.10 Maximum Legal Compensation

The parties acknowledge that, at present, applicable federal law limits the City to
collection of a maximum permissible Franchise Fee of five percent (5%) of Gross Revenues. In
the event that at any time during the duration of this Franchise, the City is authorized to collect
an amount in excess of five percent (5%) of Gross Revenues, then this Franchise may be
amended unilaterally by the City to provide that such excess amount shall be added to the
Franchise Fee payments to be paid by Grantee to the City hereunder, provided that Grantee has
received at least ninety (90) days prior written notice from the City of such amendment, so long
as all cable operators in the City are paying the same Franchise Fee amount.

3.11 Additional Commitments Not Franchise Fee Payments

No term or condition in this Franchise shall in any way modify or affect Grantee’s
obligation to pay Franchise Fees. Although the total sum of Franchise Fee payments and
additional commitments set forth elsewhere in this Franchise may total more than five percent
(5%) of Grantee’s Gross Revenues in any twelve (12) month period, Grantee agrees that the
additional commitments herein are not Franchise Fees as defined under any federal law, nor are

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PLRPOSES

12



they to be offset or credited against any Franchise Fee payments due to the City, nor do they
represent an increase in Franchise Fees.

3.12 Tax Liability

The Franchise Fees shall be in addition to any and all taxes or other levies or assessments
which are now or hereafter required to be paid by businesses in general by any law of the City,
the State or the United States including, without limitation, sales, use and other taxes, business
license fees or other payments. Payment of the Franchise Fees under this Franchise shall not
exempt Grantee from the payment of any other license fee, permit fee, tax or charge on the
business, occupation, property or income of Grantee that may be lawfully imposed by the City.
Any other license fees, taxes or charges shall be of general applicability in nature and shall not
be levied against Grantee solely because of its status as a Cable Operator, or against Subscribers,
solely because of their status as such.

3.13 Financial Records

Grantee agrees to meet with a representative of the City upon request to review Grantee’s
methodology of record-keeping, financial reporting, the computing of Franchise Fee obligations
and other procedures, the understanding of which the City deems necessary for reviewing reports
and records.

3.14 Payment on Termination

If this Franchise terminates for any reason, the Grantee shall file with the City within
ninety (90) calendar days of the date of the termination, a financial statement, certified by an
independent certified public accountant, showing the Gross Revenues received by the Grantee
since the end of the previous fiscal year. The City reserves the right to satisfy any remaining
financial obligations of the Grantee to the City by utilizing the funds available in any security
provided by the Grantee.

SECTION 4. ADMINISTRATION AND REGULATION

4.1 Authority

(A) The City shall be vested with the power and right to reasonably regulate the
exercise of the privileges permitted by this Franchise in the public interest.

(B) Nothing in this Franchise shall limit nor expand the City’s right of eminent
domain under State law.

4.2 Rates and Charges

All of Grantee’s rates and charges related to or regarding Cable Services shall be subject
to regulation by the City to the full extent authorized by applicable federal, State and local laws.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
13



4.3 Rate Discrimination

All of Grantee’s rates and charges shall be published (in the form of a publicly-available
rate card) and be non-discriminatory as to all Persons and organizations of similar classes, under
similar circumstances and conditions. Grantee shall apply its rates in accordance with
Applicable Law, with identical rates and charges for all Subscribers receiving identical Cable
Services, without regard to race, color, ethnic or national origin, religion, age, sex, sexual
orientation, marital, military or economic status, or physical or mental disability or geographic
location within the City. Grantee shall offer the same Cable Services to all Residential
Subscribers at identical rates to the extent required by Applicable Law and to Multiple Dwelling
Unit Subscribers to the extent authorized by FCC rules or applicable Federal law. Grantee shall
permit Subscribers to make any lawful in-residence connections the Subscriber chooses without
additional charge nor penalizing the Subscriber therefor. However, if any in-home connection
requires service from Grantee due to signal quality, signal leakage or other factors, caused by
improper installation of such in-home wiring or faulty materials of such in-home wiring, the
Subscriber may be charged reasonable service charges by Grantee. Nothing herein shall be
construed to prohibit:

(A) The temporary reduction or waiving of rates or charges in conjunction with valid
promotional campaigns; or,

(B) The offering of reasonable discounts to senior citizens or economically
disadvantaged citizens; or,

(C) The offering of rate discounts for Cable Service; or,

(D) The Grantee from establishing different and nondiscriminatory rates and charges
and classes of service for Commercial Subscribers, as allowable by federal law and regulations.

4.4 Filing of Rates and Charges

Grantee shall, upon thirty (3D) day’s written notice from the City, provide a complete
schedule of applicable rates and charges for Cable Services provided under this Franchise.
Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require Grantee to file rates and charges under
temporary reductions or waivers of rates and charges in conjunction with promotional
campaigns.

4.5 Cross Subsidization

Grantee shall comply with all Applicable Laws regarding rates for Cable Services and all
Applicable Laws covering issues of cross subsidization.

4.6 Reserved Authority

Both Grantee and the City reserve all rights they may have under the Cable Act and any
other relevant provisions of federal, State, or local law.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
14



4.7 Franchise Amendment Procedure

Either party may at any time seek an amendment of this Franchise by so notifying the
other party in writing. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice, the City and Grantee shall
meet to discuss the proposed amendment(s). If the parties reach a mutual agreement upon the
suggested amendment(s), such amendment(s) shall be submitted to the City Council for its
approval. If so approved by the City Council and the Grantee, then such amendment(s) shall be
deemed part of this Franchise. If mutual agreement is not reached, there shall be no amendment.

4.8 Performance Evaluations

(A) The City may hold performance evaluation sessions upon ninety (90) days written
notice, provided that such evaluation sessions shall be held no more frequently than once every
two (2) years. All such evaluation sessions shall be conducted by the City.

(B) Special evaluation sessions may be held at any time by the City during the term of
this Franchise, upon ninety (90) days written notice to Grantee.

(C) All regular evaluation sessions shall be open to the public and announced at least
two (2) weeks in advance in any manner within the discretion of the City. Grantee shall also
include with or on the Subscriber billing statements for the billing period immediately preceding
the commencement of the session, written notification of the date, time, and place of the regular
performance evaluation session, and any special evaluation session as required by the City,
provided Grantee receives appropriate advance notice.

(D) Topics which may be discussed at any evaluation session may include, but are not
limited to, Cable Service rate structures; Franchise Fee payments; liquidated damages; free or
discounted Cable Services; application of new technologies; Cable System performance; Cable
Services provided; programming offered; Subscriber complaints; privacy; amendments to this
Franchise; judicial and FCC rulings; line extension policies; and the City or Grantees rules;
provided that nothing in this subsection shall be construed as requiring the renegotiation of this
Franchise.

(E) During evaluations under this subsection, Grantee shall fully cooperate with the
City and shall provide such information and documents maintained in the ordinary course of
business as the City may reasonably require to perform the evaluation.

4.9 Force Majeure

In the event Grantee is prevented or delayed in the performance of any of its obligations
under this Franchise by reason beyond the control of Grantee, Grantee shall have a reasonable
time, under the circumstances, to perform the affected obligation under this Franchise or to
procure a substitute for such obligation which is satisfactory to the City. Those conditions which
are not within the control of Grantee include, but are not limited to, natural disasters, civil
disturbances, work stoppages or labor disputes, power outages, telephone network outages, and

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
15



severe or unusual weather conditions which have a direct and substantial impact on the Grantee’s
ability to provide Cable Services in the City and which was not caused and could not have been
avoided by the Grantee which used its best efforts in its operations to avoid such results.

If Grantee believes that a reason beyond its control has prevented or delayed its
compliance with the terms of this Franchise, Grantee shall provide documentation as reasonably
required by the City to substantiate the Grantee’s claim. If Grantee has not yet cured the
deficiency, Grantee shall also provide the City with its proposed plan for remediation, including
the timing for such cure.

SECTION 5. FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

5.1 Indemnification

The Grantee shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, its officers, employees,
and agents from and against any liability or claims resulting from property damage or bodily
injury (including accidental death) that arise out of the Grantee’s construction, operation,
maintenance or removal of the Cable System, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’
fees and costs, provided that the City shall give the Grantee written notice of its obligation to
indemnify and defend the City within thirty (30) business days of receipt of a claim or action
pursuant to this Section. If the City determines that it is necessary for it to employ separate
counsel, the costs for such separate counsel shall be the responsibility of the City.

5.2 Insurance

Throughout the term of this Franchise Agreement, the Grantee shall, at its own cost and
expense, maintain Comprehensive General Liability Insurance and provide the City certificates
of insurance designating the City and its officers, boards, commissions, councils, elected
officials, agents and employees as additional insureds and demonstrating that the Grantee has
obtained the insurance required in this Section. Such policy or policies shall be in the minimum
amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death to any one person, and
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death of any two or more persons
resulting from one occurrence, and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for property damage
resulting from any one accident. Such policy or policies shall be non-cancelable except upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the City. The Grantee shall provide workers’
compensation coverage in accordance with applicable law. The Grantee shall indemnify and hold
harmless the City from any workers compensation claims to which the Grantee may become
subject during the term of this Franchise.

SECTION 6. CUSTOMER SERVICE

6.1 Customer Service Standards

The City hereby adopts the customer service standards set forth in Part 76, §76.309 of the
FCC’s rules and regulations, as amended. The Grantee shall comply in all respects with the
customer service requirements established by the FCC.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

16



6.2 Subscriber Privacy

The Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and state privacy laws, including
Section 63 1 of the Cable Act and regulations adopted pursuant thereto.

6.3 Subscriber Bills

Subscriber bills shall be designed in such a way as to present the information contained
therein clearly and comprehensibly to Subscribers, and in a way that (A) is not misleading and
(B) does not omit material information. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 6.1,
above, the Grantee may, in its sole discretion, consolidate costs on Subscriber bills as may
otherwise be permitted by Section 622(c) of the Cable Act (47 U.S.C. §542(c)).

SECTION 7. BOOKS AND RECORDS

7.1 Books and Records

Throughout the term of this Franchise Agreement, the Grantee agrees that the City may
review the Grantee’s books and records that are maintained in the ordinary course of business in
the Franchise Area to monitor Grantee’s compliance with the provisions of this Franchise
Agreement, upon reasonable prior written notice to the Grantee, at the Grantee’s business office,
during normal business hours, and without unreasonably interfering with Grantee’s business
operations. All such documents that may be the subject of an inspection by the City shall be
retained by the Grantee for a minimum period of three (3) years.

7.2 Confidentiality

The City agrees to treat as confidential any books or records that constitute proprietary or
confidential information under federal or State law, to the extent Grantee makes the City aware
of such confidentiality. Grantee shall be responsible for clearly and conspicuously stamping the
word Confidential on each page that contains confidential or proprietary information, and shall
provide a brief written explanation as to why such information is confidential under State or
federal law. If the City believes it must release any such confidential books and records in the
course of enforcing this Franchise, or for any other reason, it shall advise Grantee in advance so
that Grantee may take appropriate steps to protect its interests. If the City receives a demand
from any Person for disclosure of any information designated by Grantee as confidential, the
City shall, so far as consistent with Applicable Law, advise Grantee and provide Grantee with a
copy of any written request by the party demanding access to such information within a
reasonable time. Until otherwise ordered by a court or agency of competent jurisdiction, the City
agrees that, to the extent permitted by State and federal law, it shall deny access to any of
Grantees books and records marked confidential as set forth above to any Person. Grantee shall
reimburse the City for all reasonable costs and attorney’s fees incurred in any legal proceedings
pursued under this Section.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
17



7.3 Records Required

(A) Grantee shall at all times maintain, and shall furnish to the City upon 30 days
written request and subject to Applicable Law:

(1) A complete set of maps showing the exact location of all Cable System
equipment and facilities in the Right-of-Way, but excluding detail on proprietary
electronics contained therein and Subscriber drops. As-built maps including proprietary
electronics shall be available at Grantees offices for inspection by the City’s authorized
representative(s) or agent(s) and made available to such during the course of technical
inspections as reasonably conducted by the City. These maps shall be certified as
accurate by an appropriate representative of the Grantee;

(2) A copy of all FCC filings on behalf of Grantee, its parent corporations or
Affiliates which relate to the operation of the Cable System in the City;

(3) A log of Cable Services added or dropped, Channel changes, number of
Subscribers added or terminated, all constrLlction activity, and total homes passed for the
previous twelve (12) months; and

(4) A list of Cable Services, rates and Channel line-ups.

(B) Subject to subsection 7.2, all information furnished to the City is public
information, and shall be treated as such, except for information involving the privacy rights of
individual Subscribers.

7.4 Copies of Federal and State Reports

Within thirty (30) days of a written request, Grantee shall submit to the City copies of all
pleadings, applications, notifications, communications and docLiments of any kind, submitted by
Grantee or its parent corporation(s), to any federal, State or local courts, regulatory agencies and
other government bodies if such documents directly relate to the operations of Grantees Cable
System within the City. Grantee shall not claim confidential, privileged or proprietary rights to
such documents unless under federal, State, or local law such documents have been determined
to be confidential by a court of competent jurisdiction, or a federal or State agency.

SECTION 8. PROGRAMMING

8.1 Broad Programming Categories

Grantee shall provide or enable the provision of at least the following initial broad
categories of programming to the extent such categories are reasonably available:

(A) Educational programming;

(B) New Mexico news, weather & information;

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
18



(C) Sports;

(D) General entertainment (including movies);

(E) Children/family-oriented;

(F) Arts, culture and performing arts;

(G) Foreign language;

(H) Science/documentary;

(I) National news, weather and information; and,

(J) Public, Educational and Government Access, to the extent required by this
Franchise.

8.2 Deletion or Reduction of Broad Programming Categories

(A) Grantee shall not delete or so limit as to effectively delete any broad category of
programming within its control without the prior written consent of the City.

(B) In the event of a modification proceeding under federal law, the mix and quality
of Cable Services provided by Grantee on the Effective Date of this Franchise shall be deemed
the mix and quality of Cable Services required under this Franchise throughout its term.

8.3 Obscenity

Grantee shall not transmit, or permit to be transmitted over any Channel subject to its
editorial control, any programming which is obscene under, or violates any provision of,
Applicable Law relating to obscenity, and is not protected by the Constitution of the United
States. Grantee shall be deemed to have transmitted or permitted a transmission of obscene
programming only if a court of competent jurisdiction has found that any of Grantee’s officers or
employees or agents have permitted programming which is obscene under, or violative of, any
provision of Applicable Law relating to obscenity, and is otherwise not protected by the
Constitution of the United States, to be transmitted over any Channel subject to Grantee’s
editorial control. Grantee shall comply with all relevant provisions of federal law relating to
obscenity.

8.4 Parental Control Device

Upon request by any Subscriber, Grantee shall make available a parental control or
lockout device, traps or filters to enable a Subscriber to control access to both the audio and
video portions of any or all Channels. Grantee shall inform its Subscribers of the availability of
the lockout device at the time of their initial subscription and periodically thereafter. Any device

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
19



offered shall be at a rate, if any, in compliance with Applicable Law.

8.5 Continuity of Service Mandatory

(A) It shall be the right of all Subscribers to continue to receive Cable Service from
Grantee insofar as their financial and other obligations to Grantee are honored and they are in
compliance with Grantee’s terms of services, residential service agreement or other such
provisions. The Grantee shall act so as to ensure that all Subscribers receive continuous,
uninterrupted Cable Service regardless of the circumstances. For the purposes of this subsection,
uninterrupted does not include short-term outages of the Cable System for maintenance or

testing.

(B) In the event of a change of grantee, or in the event a new Cable Operator acquires
the Cable System in accordance with this Franchise, Grantee shall cooperate with the City, new
franchisee or Cable Operator in maintaining continuity of Cable Service to all Subscribers.
During any transition period, Grantee shall be entitled to the revenues for any period during
which it operates the Cable System, and shall be entitled to reasonable costs for its services when
it no longer operates the Cable System.

(C) In the event Grantee fails to operate the Cable System for four (4) consecutive
days without prior approval of the Manager, or without just cause, the City may, at its option,
operate the Cable System itself or designate another Cable Operator until such time as Grantee
restores service under conditions acceptable to the City or a permanent Cable Operator is
selected. If the City is required to fulfill this obligation for Grantee, Grantee shall reimburse the
City for all reasonable costs or damages that are the result of Grantees failure to perform.

8.6 Services for the Disabled

Grantee shall comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act and any amendments
thereto.

SECTION 9. GENERAL RIGHT-OF-WAY USE AND CONSTRUCTION

9.1 Permits and General Obligations

The Grantee shall be responsible for obtaining, at its own cost and expense, all generally
applicable permits, licenses, or other forms of approval or authorization necessary to construct,
operate, maintain or repair the Cable System, or any part thereof, prior to the commencement of
any such activity. Construction, installation, and maintenance of the Cable System shall be
performed in a safe, thorough and reliable manner using materials of good and durable quality.
All transmission and distribution structures, poles, other lines, and equipment installed by the
Grantee for use in the Cable System in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
Franchise Agreement shall be located so as to minimize the interference with the proper use of
the Right-of-Way and the rights and reasonable convenience of property owners who own
property that adjoins any such Right-of-Way.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
20



9.2 Conditions of Street Occupancy

New Grades or Lines. If the grades or lines of any Public Way within the Franchise Area
are lawfully changed at any time during the term of this Franchise Agreement, then the Grantee
shall, upon reasonable advance written notice from the City (which shall not be less than ten (10)
business days) and at its own cost and expense, protect or promptly alter or relocate the Cable
System, or any part thereof, so as to conform with any such new grades or lines. If public funds
are available to any other user of the Right-of-Way for the purpose of defraying the cost of any
of the foregoing, the City shall notify Grantee of such funding and make available such funds to
the Grantee.

9.3 Relocation at request of Third Party

The Grantee shall, upon reasonable prior written request of any Person holding a permit
issued by the City to move any structure, temporarily move its wires to permit the moving of
such structure; provided (i) the Grantee may impose a reasonable charge on any Person for the
movement of its wires, and such charge may be required to be paid in advance of the movement
of its wires; and (ii) the Grantee is given not less than ten (10) business days advance written
notice to arrange for such temporary relocation.

9.4 Restoration of Right-of-Way

If in connection with the construction, operation, maintenance, or repair of the Cable
System, the Grantee disturbs, alters, or damages any Right-of-Way, the Grantee agrees that it
shall at its own cost and expense replace and restore any such Public Way to a condition
reasonably comparable to the condition of the Right-of-Way existing immediately prior to the
disturbance.

9.5 Safety Requirements

The Grantee shall, at its own cost and expense, undertake all necessary and appropriate
efforts to maintain its work sites in a safe manner in order to prevent failures and accidents that
may cause damage, injuries or nuisances. All work undertaken on the Cable System shall be
performed in substantial accordance with applicable FCC or other federal and state regulations.
The Cable System shall not unreasonably endanger or interfere with the safety of Persons or
property in the Franchise Area.

9.6 Trimming of Trees and Shrubbery

The Grantee shall have the authority to trim trees or other natural growth overhanging any of its
Cable System in the Franchise Area so as to prevent contact with the Grantee’s wires, cables, or
other equipment. All such trimming shall be done at the Grantee’s sole cost and expense. The
Grantee shall be responsible for any damage caused by such trimming. The Grantee shall give
reasonable advance notice to the owner or occupant of the premises abutting the Right-of-Way in
or over which the tree is growing.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
21



9.7 Aerial and Underground Construction

At the time of Cable System construction, if all of the transmission and distribution
facilities of all of the respective public or municipal utilities in any area of the Franchise Area are
underground, the Grantee shall place its Cable Systems’ transmission and distribution facilities
underground, provided that such underground locations are actually capable of accommodating
the Grantee’s cable and other equipment without technical degradation of the Cable System’s
signal quality. In any region(s) of the Franchise Area where the transmission or distribution
facilities of the respective public or municipal utilities are both aerial and underground, the
Grantee shall have the discretion to construct, operate, and maintain all of its transmission and
distribution facilities, or any part thereof, aerially or underground. Nothing in this Section shall
be construed to require the Grantee to construct, operate, or maintain underground any ground-
mounted appurtenances such as Subscriber taps, line extenders, system passive devices,
amplifiers, power supplies, pedestals, or other related equipment.

9.8 Undergrounding and Beautification Projects

In the event all users of the Right-of-Way relocate aerial facilities underground as part of
an undergrounding or neighborhood beautification project, Grantee shall participate in the
planning for relocation of its aerial facilities contemporaneously with other utilities. Grantee’s
relocation costs shall be included in any computation of necessary project funding by the
municipality or private parties. Grantee shall be entitled to reimbursement of its relocation costs
from public or private funds raised for the project and made available to other users of the Right-
of-Way.

SECTION 10. CABLE SYSTEM, TECHNICAL STANDARDS AND TESTING

10.1 Subscriber Network

(A) Ih Cable System shall deliver no less than eighty five (85) Channels of video
programming services to Subscribers.

(B) Equipment must be installed so that all closed captioning programming received
by the Cable System shall include the closed caption signal so long as the closed caption signal is
provided consistent with FCC standards. Equipment must be installed so that all local signals
received in stereo or with secondary audio tracks are retransmitted in those same formats.

(C) All construction shall be subject to the City’s permitting process.

(D) Grantee will take prompt corrective action if it finds that any facilities or
equipment on the Cable System are not operating as expected, or if it finds that facilities and
equipment do not comply with the requirements of this Franchise or Applicable Law.

(E) Grantee’s construction decisions shall be based solely upon legitimate engineering
decisions and shall not take into consideration the income level of any particular community

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

22



within the Franchise Area.

(F) Grantee shall not be required to obtain permits for construction work related to
the connection and disconnection of Subscribers between the distribution plant in the public
rights of way and the Subscriber’s residence to the extent such work disturbs no more than 20
feet of the public right of way.

10.2 Standby Power

Grantee’s Cable System Headend shall be capable of providing at least twelve (12) hours
of emergency operation. In addition, throughout the term of this Franchise, Grantee shall have a
plan in place, along with all resources necessary for implementing such plan, for dealing with
outages of more than four (4) hours. This outage plan and evidence of requisite implementation
resources shall be presented to the City no later than thirty (30) days following receipt of a
request.

10.3 Emergency Alert Capability

Grantee shall provide an operating Emergency Alert System (“EAS”) throughout the
term of this Franchise in compliance with FCC standards.

10.4 Technical Performance

The technical performance of the Cable System shall meet or exceed all applicable
federal (including, but not limited to, the FCC), and State technical standards, as they may be
amended from time to time, regardless of the transmission technology utilized. The City shall
have the full authority permitted by Applicable Law to enforce compliance with these technical
standards.

10.5 Cable System Performance Testing

(A) Grantee shall, at Grantee’s expense, perform the following tests on its Cable
System:

(1) All tests required by the FCC;

(2) All other tests reasonably necessary to determine compliance with
technical standards adopted by the FCC at any time during the term of this Franchise; and

(3) All other tests as otherwise specified in this Franchise.

(B) At a minimum, Grantee’s tests shall include:

(1) Cumulative leakage index testing of any new construction;

(2) Semi-annual compliance and proof of performance tests in conformance

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

23



with generally accepted industry guidelines;

(3) Tests in response to Subscriber complaints;

(4) Periodic monitoring tests, at intervals not to exceed six (6) months, of
Subscriber (field) test points, the Headend, and the condition of standby power supplies;
and

(5) Cumulative leakage index tests, at least annually, designed to ensure that
one hundred percent (100%) of Grantees Cable System has been ground or air tested for
signal leakage in accordance with FCC standards.

(C) Grantee shall maintain written records of all results of its Cable System tests,
performed by or for Grantee. Copies of such test results will be provided to the City upon
reasonable request.

(D) If the FCC no longer requires proof of performance tests for Grantee’s Cable
System during the term of this Franchise, Grantee agrees that it shall continue to conduct proof
of performance tests on the Cable System in accordance with the standards that were in place on
the Effective Date, or any generally applicable standards later adopted, at least once a year, and
provide written results of such tests to the City upon request.

(E) The FCC semi-annual testing is conducted in January/February and July/August
of each year. If the City contacts Grantee prior to the next test period (i.e., before December 15
and June 15 respectively of each year), Grantee shall provide City with no less than seven (7)
days prior written notice of the actual date(s) for FCC compliance testing. If City notifies
Grantee by the December 15th and June 15th dates that it wishes to have a representative present
during the next test(s), Grantee shall cooperate in scheduling its testing so that the representative
can be present. Notwithstanding the above, all technical performance tests may be witnessed by
representatives of the City.

(F) Grantee shall be required to promptly take such corrective measures as are
necessary to correct any performance deficiencies fully and to prevent their recurrence as far as
possible. Grantee’s failure to correct deficiencies identified through this testing process shall be
a material violation of this Franchise. Sites shall be re-tested following correction.

SECTION 11. SERVICE AVAILABILITY, INTERCONNECTION AND SERVICE TO
SCHOOLS AND PUBLIC BUILDINGS

11.1 Service AvaiLability

(A) In General. Except as otherwise provided in herein, Grantee shall provide Cable
Service within seven (7) days of a request by any Person within the City. For purposes of this
Section, a request shall be deemed made on the date of signing a service agreement, receipt of
funds by Grantee, receipt of a written request by Grantee or receipt by Grantee of a verified
verbal request. Except as otherwise provided herein, Grantee shall provide such service:

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
24



(1) With no line extension charge except as specifically authorized elsewhere
in this Franchise Agreement.

(2) At a non-discriminatory installation charge for a standard installation,
consisting of a 125 foot drop connecting to an inside wall for Residential Subscribers, with
additional charges for non-standard installations computed according to a non-discriminatory
methodology for such installations, adopted by Grantee and provided in writing to the City;

(3) At non-discriminatory monthly rates for Residential Subscribers.

(B) Service to Multiple Dwelling Units. Consistent with this Section 11.1, the
Grantee shall offer the individual units of a Multiple Dwelling Unit all Cable Services offered to
other Dwelling Units in the City and shall individually wire units upon request of the property
owner or renter who has been given written authorization by the owner; provided, however, that
any such offering is conditioned upon the Grantee having legal access to said unit in the form of
an access and wiring agreement that is mutually satisfactory to the Grantee and the property
owner. The City acknowledges that the Grantee cannot control the dissemination of particular
Cable Services beyond the point of demarcation at a Multiple Dwelling Unit.

(C) Subscriber Charges for Extensions of Service. Grantee agrees to extend its Cable
System to all persons living in areas with a residential density of thirty-five (35)residences per
mile of Cable System plant and if the area is within 1,320 cable-bearing strand feet of Grantee’s
existing distribution plant. If the residential density is less than thirty-five (35) - residences per
5,280 cable-bearing strand feet of trunk or distribution cable, service may be made available on
the basis of a capital contribution in aid of construction, including cost of material, labor and
easements. For the purpose of determining the amount of capital contribution in aid of
construction to be borne by the Grantee and Subscribers in the area in which service may be
expanded, the Grantee will contribute an amount equal to the construction and other costs per
mile, multiplied by a fraction whose numerator equals the actual number of residences per 5,280
cable-bearing strand feet of its trunk or distribution cable and whose denominator equals thirty
five (35). Subscribers who request service hereunder will bear the remainder of the construction
and other costs on a pro rata basis. The Grantee may require that the payment of the capital
contribution in aid of construction borne by such potential Subscribers be paid in advance.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

25



11.2 Connection of Public Facilities

Grantee shall, at no cost to the City, provide one outlet of Basic Service to all City owned
and occupied buildings, schools and public libraries located in areas where Grantee provides
Cable Service, so long as these facilities are already served or are located within 125 feet from
the distribution point on the Cable System from which cable service can be provided to these
facilities. For purposes of this subsection, “school” means all State-accredited K-12 public and
private schools. Such obligation to provide free Cable Service shall not extend to areas of City
buildings where the Grantee would normally enter into a commercial contract to provide such
Cable Service (e.g., golf courses, airport restaurants and concourses, and recreation center work
out facilities). Outlets of Basic Service provided in accordance with this subsection may be used
to distribute Cable Services throughout such buildings, provided such distribution can be
accomplished without causing Cable System disruption and general technical standards are
maintained. Such Cable Service shall not be located in public waiting areas or used to entertain
the public nor shall they be used in a way that might violate copyright laws. The outlets may
only be used for lawful purposes. The Cable Service provided shall not be distributed beyond the
originally installed outlets without authorization from Grantee, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld. Grantee is not required to provide free reception equipment for any complimentary
account provided pursuant to this subsection. Grantee does not waive any rights under
applicable law regarding complimentary service. Should Grantee elect to begin offsetting the
value of complimentary service against franchise fees, Grantee shall first provide Franchise
Authority with ninety (90) days prior written notice.

SECTION 12. FRANCHISE VIOLATIONS

12.1 Procedure for Remedying Franchise Violations

(A) If the City reasonably believes that Grantee has failed to perform any obligation
under this Franchise or has failed to perform in a timely manner, the City shall notify Grantee in
writing, stating with reasonable specificity the nature of the alleged default. Grantee shall have
thirty (30) days from the receipt of such notice to:

(1) respond to the City, contesting the City’s assertion that a default has
occurred, and requesting a meeting in accordance with subsection (B), below;

(2) cure the default; or,

(3) notify the City that Grantee cannot cure the default within the thirty (30)
days, because of the nature of the default. In the event the default cannot be cured within
thirty (30) days, Grantee shall promptly take all reasonable steps to cure the default and
notify the City in writing and in detail as to the exact steps that will be taken and the
projected completion date. In such case, the City may set a meeting in accordance with
subsection (B) below to determine whether additional time beyond the thirty (30) days
specified above is indeed needed, and whether Grantee’s proposed completion schedule
and steps are reasonable.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

26



(B) If Grantee does not cure the alleged default within the cure period stated above, or
by the projected completion date under subsection (A)(3), or denies the default and requests a
meeting in accordance with (A)(1), or the City orders a meeting in accordance with subsection
(A)(3), the City shall set a meeting to investigate said issues or the existence of the alleged
default. The City shall notify Grantee of the meeting in writing and such meeting shall take
place no less than thirty (30) days after Grantee’s receipt of notice of the meeting. At the
meeting, Grantee shall be provided an opportunity to be heard and to present evidence in its
defense.

(C) If, after the meeting, the City determines that a default exists, the City shall order
Grantee to correct or remedy the default or breach within fifteen (15) days or within such other
reasonable time frame as the City shall determine. In the event Grantee does not cure within
such time to the City’s reasonable satisfaction, the City may:

(1) Recommend the revocation of this Franchise pursuant to the procedures in
subsection 12.2; or,

(2) Recommend any other legal or equitable remedy available under this
Franchise or any Applicable Law.

(D) The determination as to whether a violation of this Franchise has occurred shall
be within the discretion of the City, provided that any such final determination may be subject to
appeal to a court of competent jurisdiction under Applicable Law.

12.2 Revocation

(A) In addition to revocation in accordance with other provisions of this Franchise,
the City may revoke this Franchise and rescind all rights and privileges associated with this
Franchise in the following circumstances, each of which represents a material breach of this
Franchise:

(1) If Grantee fails to perform any material obligation under this Franchise or
under any other agreement, ordinance or document regarding the City and Grantee;

(2) If Grantee willfully fails for more than forty-eight (48) hours to provide
continuous and uninterrupted Cable Service;

(3) If Grantee attempts to evade any material provision of this Franchise or to
practice any fraud or deceit upon the City or Subscribers; or

(4) If Grantee becomes insolvent, or if there is an assignment for the benefit
of Grantee’s creditors;

(5) If Grantee makes a material misrepresentation of fact in the application for
or negotiation of this Franchise.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

27



(B) Following the procedures set forth in subsection 12.1 and prior to forfeiture or
termination of the Franchise, the City shall give written notice to the Grantee of its intent to
revoke the Franchise and set a date for a revocation proceeding. The notice shall set forth the
exact nature of the noncompliance.

(C) Any proceeding under the paragraph above shall be condLicted by the City
Council and open to the public. Grantee shall be afforded at least forty-five (45) days prior
written notice of such proceeding.

(1) At such proceeding, Grantee shall be provided a fair opportunity for full
participation, including the right to be represented by legal counsel, to introduce
evidence, and to question witnesses. A complete verbatim record and transcript shall be
made of such proceeding and the cost shall be shared equally between the parties. The
City Council shall hear any Persons interested in the revocation, and shall allow Grantee,
in particular, an opportunity to state its position on the matter.

(2) Within ninety (90) days after the hearing, the City Council shall determine
whether to revoke the Franchise and declare that the Franchise is revoked; or if the
breach at issue is capable of being cured by Grantee, direct Grantee to take appropriate
remedial action within the time and in the manner and on the terms and conditions that
the City Council determines are reasonable under the circumstances. If the City
determines that the Franchise is to be revoked, the City shall set forth the reasons for such
a decision and shall transmit a copy of the decision to the Grantee. Grantee shall be
bound by the City’s decision to revoke the Franchise unless it appeals the decision to a
court of competent jurisdiction within fifteen (15) days of the date of the decision.

(3) Grantee shall be entitled to such relief as the Court may deem appropriate.

(4) The City Council may at its sole discretion take any lawful action which it
deems appropriate to enforce the Citys rights under the Franchise in lieu of revocation of
the Franchise.

12.3 Procedures in the Event of Termination or Revocation

(A) If this Franchise expires without renewal after completion of all processes
available under this Franchise and federal law or is otherwise lawfully terminated or revoked, the
City may, subject to Applicable Law:

(1) Allow Grantee to maintain and operate its Cable System on a month-to-
month basis or short-term extension of this Franchise for not less than six (6) months,
unless a sale of the Cable System can be closed sooner or Grantee demonstrates to the
Citys satisfaction that it needs additional time to complete the sale; or

(2) Purchase Grantee’s Cable System in accordance with the procedures set
forth in subsection 12.4, below.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
28



(B) In the event that a sale has not been completed in accordance with subsections
(A)(1) and/or (A)(2) above, the City may order the removal of the above-ground Cable System
facilities and such underground facilities from the City at Grantee’s sole expense within a
reasonable period of time as determined by the City. In removing its plant, structures and
equipment, Grantee shall refill, at is own expense, any excavation that is made by it and shall
leave all Right-of-Way, public places and private property in as good condition as that prevailing
prior to Grantee’s removal of its equipment without affecting the electrical or telephone cable
wires or attachments. The indemnification and insurance provisions shall remain in full force
and effect during the period of removal, and Grantee shall not be entitled to, and agrees not to
request, compensation of any sort therefore.

(C) If Grantee fails to complete any removal required by subsection 12.3 (B) to the
City’s satisfaction, after written notice to Grantee, the City may cause the work to be done and
Grantee shall reimburse the City for the costs incurred within thirty (30) days after receipt of an
itemized list of the costs.

(D) The City may seek legal and equitable relief to enforce the provisions of this
Franchise.

12.4 Purchase of Cable System

(A) If at any time this Franchise is revoked, terminated, or not renewed upon
expiration in accordance with the provisions of federal law, the City shall have the option to
purchase the Cable System.

(B) The City may, at any time thereafter, offer in writing to purchase Grantee’s Cable
System. Grantee shall have thirty (30) days from receipt of a written offer from the City within
which to accept or reject the offer.

(C) In any case where the City elects to purchase the Cable System, the purchase shall
be closed within one hundred twenty (120) days of the date of the City’s audit of a current profit
and loss statement of Grantee. The City shall pay for the Cable System in cash or certified
funds, and Grantee shall deliver appropriate bills of sale and other instruments of conveyance.

(D) For the purposes of this subsection, the price for the Cable System shall be
determined as follows:

(1) In the case of the expiration of the Franchise without renewal, at fair
market value determined on the basis of Grantee’s Cable System valued as a going
concern, but with no value allocated to the Franchise itself. In order to obtain the fair
market value, this valuation shall be reduced by the amount of any lien, encumbrance, or
other obligation of Grantee which the City would assume.

(2) In the case of revocation for cause, the equitable price of Grantee’s Cable
System.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
29



12.5 Receivership and Foreclosure

(A) At the option of the City, subject to Applicable Law, this Franchise may be
revoked one hundred twenty (120) days after the appointment of a receiver or trustee to take over
and conduct the business of Grantee whether in a receivership, reorganization, bankruptcy or
other action or proceeding, unless:

(1) The receivership or trusteeship is vacated within one hundred twenty (120)
days of appointment; or

(2) The receivers or trustees have, within one hundred twenty (120) days after
their election or appointment, fully complied with all the terms and provisions of this
Franchise, and have remedied all defaults under the Franchise. Additionally, the
receivers or trustees shall have executed an agreement duly approved by the court having
jurisdiction, by which the receivers or trustees assume and agree to be bound by each and
every term, provision and limitation of this Franchise.

(B) If there is a foreclosure or other involuntary sale of the whole or any part of the
plant, property and equipment of Grantee, the City may serve notice of revocation on Grantee
and to the purchaser at the sale, and the rights and privileges of Grantee under this Franchise
shall be revoked thirty (30) days after service of such notice, unless:

(1) The City has approved the transfer of the Franchise, in accordance with
the procedures set forth in this Franchise and as provided by law; and

(2) The purchaser has covenanted and agreed with the City to assume and be
bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Franchise.

12.6 No Monetary Recourse Against the City

Grantee shall not have any monetary recourse against the City or its officers, officials,
boards, commissions, agents or employees for any loss, costs, expenses or damages arising out of
any provision or requirement of this Franchise or the enforcement thereof, in accordance with the
provisions of applicable federal, State and local law. The rights of the City under this Franchise
are in addition to, and shall not be read to limit, any immunities the City may enjoy under
federal, State or local law.

12.7 Alternative Remedies

No provision of this Franchise shall be deemed to bar the right of the City to seek or
obtain judicial relief from a violation of any provision of the Franchise or any rule, regulation,
requirement or directive promulgated thereunder. Neither the existence of other remedies
identified in this Franchise nor the exercise thereof shall be deemed to bar or otherwise limit the
right of the City to recover monetary damages for such violations by Grantee, or to seek and
obtain judicial enforcement of Grantee’s obligations by means of specific performance,
injunctive relief or mandate, or any other remedy at law or in equity.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES

30



12.8 Effect of Abandonment

If the Grantee abandons its Cable System during the Franchise term, or fails to operate its
Cable System in accordance with its duty to provide continuous service, the City, at its option,
may operate the Cable System; designate another entity to operate the Cable System temporarily
until the Grantee restores service under conditions acceptable to the City, or until the Franchise is
revoked and a new franchisee is selected by the City; or obtain an injunction requiring the
Grantee to continue operations. If the City is required to operate or designate another entity to
operate the Cable System, the Grantee shall reimburse the City or its designee for all reasonable
costs, expenses and damages incurred.

12.9 What Constitutes Abandonment

The City shall be entitled to exercise its options in subsection 12.8 if:

(A) The Grantee fails to provide Cable Service in accordance with this Franchise over
a substantial portion of the Franchise Area for four (4) consecutive days, unless the City
authorizes a longer interruption of service; or

(B) The Grantee, for any period, willfully and without cause refuses to provide Cable
Service in accordance with this Franchise.

SECTION 13. FRANCHISE RENEWAL AND TRANSFER

13.1 Renewal

(A) The City and Grantee agree that any proceedings undertaken by the City that
relate to the renewal of the Franchise shall be governed by and comply with the provisions of
Section 626 of the Cable Act, unless the procedures and substantive protections set forth therein
shall be deemed to be preempted and superseded by the provisions of any subsequent provision
of federal or State law.

(B) In addition to the procedures set forth in said Section 626(a), the City agrees to
notify Grantee of the completion of its assessments regarding the identification of future cable-
related community needs and interests, as well as the past performance of Grantee under the then
current Franchise term. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, Grantee and
City agree that at any time during the term of the then current Franchise, while affording the
public adequate notice and opportunity for comment, the City and Grantee may agree to
undertake and finalize negotiations regarding renewal of the then current Franchise and the City
may grant a renewal thereof. Grantee and City consider the terms set forth in this subsection to
be consistent with the express provisions of Section 626 of the Cable Act.

13.2 Transfer of Ownership or Control

Neither the Grantee nor any other Person may transfer the Cable System or the Franchise

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
31



without the prior written consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld
or delayed. No transfer of control of the Grantee, defined as an acquisition of 51% or greater
ownership interest in Grantee, shall take place without the prior written consent of the City,
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No consent shall be required,
however, for (i) a transfer in trust, by mortgage, hypothecation, or by assignment of any rights,
title, or interest of the Grantee in the Franchise or in the Cable System in order to secure
indebtedness, or (ii) a transfer to an entity directly or indirectly owned or controlled by Comcast
Corporation. Within thirty (30) days of receiving a request for consent, the City shall, in
accordance with FCC rules and regulations, notify the Grantee in writing of the additional
information, if any, it requires to determine the legal, financial and technical qualifications of the
transferee or new controlling party. If the City has not taken final action on the Grantee’s
request for consent within one hundred twenty (120) days after receiving such request, consent
shall be deemed granted.

14. Severability

If any Section, subsection, paragraph, term or provision of this Franchise is determined to
be illegal, invalid or unconstitutional by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, such
determination shall have no effect on the validity of any other Section, subsection, paragraph,
term or provision of this Franchise, all of which will remain in full force and effect for the term
of the Franchise.

15.1 Preferential or Discriminatory Practices Prohibited

NO DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT. In connection with the performance of
work under this Franchise, the Grantee agrees not to refuse to hire, discharge, promote or
demote, or discriminate in matters of compensation against any Person otherwise qualified,
solely because of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, age, military status, sexual
orientation, marital status, or physical or mental disability; and the Grantee further agrees to
insert the foregoing provision in all subcontracts hereunder. Throughout the term of this
Franchise, Grantee shall fully comply with all equal employment or non-discrimination
provisions and requirements of federal, State and local laws, and in particular, FCC rules and
regulations relating thereto.

15.2 Notices

Throughout the term of the Franchise, each party shall maintain and file with the other a
local address for the service of notices by mail. All notices shall be sent overnight delivery
postage prepaid to such respective address and such notices shall be effective upon the date of
mailing. These addresses may be changed by the City or the Grantee by written notice at any
time. At the Effective Date of this Franchise:

Grantees address shall be:

Comcast of Colorado/FloridafMichigan/New Mexico/PennsylvanialWashington, LLC
8000 E. iliff Ave.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
32



Denver, CO 80231
Attn: Government Affairs Dept.

The City’s address shall be:

City of Las Vegas
1700 N. Grand Ave.
Las Vegas, NM 87701
Attn: City Manager

15.3 Descriptive Headings

The headings and titles of the Sections and subsections of this Franchise are for reference
purposes only, and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of the text herein.

15.4 Binding Effect

This Franchise shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their permitted successors and
assigns.

15.5 No Joint Venture

Nothing herein shall be deemed to create a joint venture or principal-agent relationship
between the parties, and neither party is authorized to, nor shall either party act toward third
Persons or the public in any manner which would indicate any such relationship with the other.

15.6 Waiver

The failure of the City at any time to require performance by the Grantee of any provision
hereof shall in no way affect the right of the City hereafter to enforce the same. Nor shall the
waiver by the City of any breach of any provision hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of any
succeeding breach of such provision, or as a waiver of the provision itself or any other provision.

15.7 Reasonableness of Consent or Approval

Whenever under this Franchise “reasonableness” is the standard for the granting or denial
of the consent or approval of either party hereto, such party shall be entitled to consider public
and governmental policy, moral and ethical standards as well as business and economic
considerations.

15.8 Entire Agreement

This Franchise and all Exhibits represent the entire understanding and agreement between
the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior oral
negotiations between the parties.

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
“3



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Franchise is signed in the name of the City of Las Vegas,
New Mexico this day of

_______,

2018.

ATTEST: CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO:

City Clerk Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM: RECOMMENDED AND APPROVED:

City Attorney City Manager

Accepted and approved this

_____

day of

____________,

2018.

Comcast of Colorado/FloridafMichiganlNew Mexico/Pennsylvania/Washington. EEC

By: Richard C. Jennings
Its: Regional Senior Vice President, Cable Management

FRANCHISE PROPOSAL FOR NEGOTIATION PURPOSES
34

























































Regular or Special

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST

DATE 11/1312018 DEPT: Finance MEETING DATE: 11I20I2018

ITEMITOPIC: Review and approve Resolution 18-48 City of Las Vegas Internal Control
Policy

ACTION REQUESTED OF COUNCIL: Approval/Disapproval of Resolution 18-48 City
of Las Vegas Internal Control Policy.

BACKGROUNDIRATIONALE: The City of Las Vegas is requesting review and
approval of Resolution 18-48 City of Las Vegas Internal Control Policy.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:

THIS REQUEST FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE NO
LATER THAN 5:00 P.M. ON FRIDAY ONE AND A HALF WEEKS PRIOR TO THE
CITY COUNCIL MEETING.

SUBMITTER’S SIGNATURE

REVIEWED AN APPROVED BY:

-4 7
TONITA GURULE-GIRON TANA VEGA, INtERIM
MAYOR FINANCE DIRECTOR

(PROCUREMENT)

ANN MARIE GALLEGcS,
INTERIM CITY MANAGER

PURCHASING AGENT ESTHER GARDUNO MONTOYA,
(FOR BID!RFP AWARD) CITY ATTORNEY

(ALL CONTRACTS MUST BE
REVIEWED)



STATE OF NEW MEXICO
MUNICIPALITY OF CITY OF LAS VEGAS

RESOLUTION NO. 18-48
CITY OF LAS VEGAS INTERNAL CONTROL POLICY

WHEREAS, the Governing Body in and for the Municipality of the City of Las Vegas,
State of New Mexico have developed an Internal Control Policy, and

WHEREAS, said policy was developed on the basis of need and through cooperation
with City Administration and elected officials, and

WHEREAS, document has been prepared to demonstrate the internal accounting policies
and procedures applicable to the City of Las Vegas, and

WHEREAS, its purpose is to ensure that assets are safeguarded, financial statements are
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and finances are managed
with responsible stewardship, and is intended to formalize accounting policies and
selected procedures for the accounting staff and to document internal controls, and

WHEREAS, it is the majority opinion of this governing body that the City of Las Vegas
Internal Control Policy meets the requirements as currently determined, and,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Governing Body of the
Municipality of the City of Las Vegas, State of New Mexico hereby adopts the City of
Las Vegas Internal Control Policy.

RESOLVED: In session this 20th day of November, 2018.

MUNICIPAL GOVERNING BODY
LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO

TONITA GURULE-GIRON, MAYOR

ATTEST:

CASANDRA FRESQUEZ, CITY CLERK (SEAL)

APPROVED FOR LEGAL SUFFICIENCY:

ESTHER GARDUNO-MONTOYA, CITY ATTORNEY



L S EGAS
NEW MEXICO

NEW ADVENTURES DOlliflaiN OLO TRAILS

CITY OF LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO

INTERNAL CONTROL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES



INTRODUCTION

The following accounting manual is intended to provide an overview of the accounting policies
and procedures applicable to the City of Las Vegas. Its purpose is to ensure that assets are
safeguarded, financial statements are in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that finances are managed with responsible stewardship. This manual is
intended as well to formalize accounting policies and selected procedures for the accounting
staff and to document internal controls.

The contents of this manual were approved as official policy of the City of Las Vegas by the City
Council and Finance Director. All Finance employees from the City of Las Vegas are bound by the
policies herein, and any deviation from established policy is prohibited.

1



GENERAL POLICIES

2



Finance Department Responsibilities

The Finance Director is responsible for direction and oversight regarding the overall financial
management of the City of Las Vegas.

Functions of the Finance Department include:

1. Preparation and review of the City’s annual budget
2. Monitoring actual vs. budgeted financial performance
3. Long-term financial planning
4. Invests City funds and monitors performance
5. Oversight of reserve funds
6. Responsible for recommending the hiring of and communicating with an independent

CPA firm to fulfill the requirement for an annual audit.
7. Prepares the final audited financial statements (CAAFR)
8. Responsible for payroll duties and responsibilities
9. Responsible for accounts payable duties and responsibilities

10. Responsible for procurement duties and responsibilities
11. Responsible for maintenance and control of Fixed Assets

FINANCE DEPARTMENT OVERVIEW

Organization

The finance department consists of seven permanent full time staff members that manage and
process financial information for the City of Las Vegas. The positions comprising the Finance
Department of the City of Las Vegas, and the titles of each position used throughout this manual,
are as follows:
• Finance Director
• Deputy Finance Director
• General Accountant
• Payroll Clerk
• Accounts Payable Clerk
• Purchasing Agent/Supervisor
• Purchasing Warehouse Specialist
Responsibilities:
The primary responsibilities of the Finance Department consist of:
• General Ledger
• Budgeting
• Annual Audit
• Financial Statements Preparation
• Cash and Investment Management
• Grants Administration (Compliance)
• Purchasing
• Revenues
• Cash Receipts
• Accounts Payable
• Cash Disbursements
• Payroll
• Bank Reconciliation

3



• Cash Reconciliation
• External Reporting of Financial Information
• Compliance with Government Reporting Requirements

SECURITY

Accounting Department

Blank check stock is kept in a locked cabinet inside the finance vault; the petty cash box is
stored in a locked drawer in the finance vault.

Access to Electronically Stored Accounting Data

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas to utilize passwords to restrict access to accounting
software and data. Only duly authorized accounting personnel with data input responsibilities
will be assigned passwords that allow access to the system.

Accounting personnel are expected to keep their passwords secret. Administration of
passwords shall be performed by the Finance Director and IT department. Each password
enables a user to gain access into the accounting software only to those menus necessary for
each employee’s required duties.

Storage of Back-Up Files

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas and responsibility of the IT Department to maintain backup
copies of electronic data files offsite in a secure, fire-protected environment, back-up is
performed on a daily basis. Access to back-up files shall be limited to individuals authorized by
management.

4



GENERAL LEDGER AND CHART OF ACCOUNTS

The general ledger is defined as a group of accounts that supports the information shown in the
major financial statements. The general ledger is used to accumulate all financial transactions of
the City of Las Vegas, and is supported by subsidiary ledgers that provide details for certain
accounts in the general ledger. The general ledger is the foundation for the accumulation of
data and reports.

Chart of Accounts Overview

The chart of accounts is the framework for the general ledger system, and therefore the basis
for the City of Las Vegas accounting system. The chart of accounts consists of account titles and
account numbers assigned to the titles. General ledger accounts are used to accumulate
transactions and the impact of these transactions on each asset, liability, net asset, revenue,
and expense account.

The City of Las Vegas chart of accounts is comprised of five types of accounts:
100 Assets
200 Liabilities
300 Equity
400--500 Revenues
600—890 Expenses

There are three types of accounts: balance sheet, revenues and expense accounts. Balance
sheet accounts are asset, liability, and equity accounts and they appear on the statement of
financial position. The revenue and expense accounts, as well as gain and loss accounts,
appear on the statement of activities. The revenue and expense accounts are annually closed
or zeroed out, but balance sheet accounts are permanent.

Accounts are numbered using a three digit sequence for fund (*), a four digit sequence for
department, a three digit sequence for category, and a 4 digit sequence for object.

(*) A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of
Las Vegas, like other state and local government, uses fund accounting to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of
the City of Las Vegas can be divided into three categories; governmental funds,
proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

Control of Chart of Accounts

The City of Las Vegas chart of accounts is monitored and controlled by the Director of Finance.
Responsibilities include the handling of all account maintenance, such as additions and
deletions. Any additions or deletions of accounts should be approved by the Finance Director,
who ensures that the chart of accounts is consistent with the organizational structure of the City
of Las Vegas and meets the needs of each division and department.

5



Assets

Assets are probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by the City as a result of past
transactions or events. Assets are classified as current assets, fixed assets, contra-assets, and
other assets.

Current assets are assets that are available or can be made readily available to meet the cost of
operations or to pay current liabilities. Some examples are cash, temporary investments, and
receivables that will be collected within one year of the statement of financial position date.
Fixed assets are tangible assets with a useful life of more than one year that are acquired for use
in the operation of the organization and are not held for resale.
Contra-assets are accounts that reduce asset accounts, such as accumulated depreciation and
reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable.
Other assets include long-term assets that are assets acquired without the intention of disposing
them in the near future. Some examples are security deposits, property and long-term investments.

Liabilities

Liabilities are probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obligations of the
City to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as a result of past
transactions or events. Liabilities are classified as a current or long-term.

Current liabilities are probable sacrifices of economic benefits that will likely occur within one year
of the date of the financial statements or which have a due date of one year or less. Common
examples of current liabilities include accounts payable, accrued liabilities, short-term
notes payable, and deferred revenue.
Long-Term Liabilities are probable sacrifices of economic benefits that will likely occur more than
one year from the date of the financial statements. An example is the noncurrent portion of a bond
payable.

Net Assets

Net Assets is the difference between total assets and total liabilities. See the next section for City
of Las Vegas policies on classifying net assets.

Revenues

Revenues — The City of Las Vegas governmental funds are principally supported by taxes and
intergovernmental revenues. Business type activities funds recover all or significant portion of their
cost through user fees and charges.

The governmental activities from City of Las Vegas include general government, public safety,
community development, public works, and parks and recreation. The business type activities of
the City of Las Vegas include water, gas, wastewater, solid waste, and public housing.

6



Expenses

Expenses are outflows or other using up assets or incurrence’s of liabilities from delivering or
producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities that constitute the City of Las
Vegas ongoing major or central operations.

Classification of Net Assets

In the Government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, net
assets are reported in three categories: net assets invested in capital assets, net of related debt;
restricted net assets, and unrestricted net assets. Restricted net assets represent net assets
restricted by parties outside of the City (such as creditors, grantors, contributors, laws, and
regulations of other governments) and include unspent proceeds of bonds issued to acquire or
construct capital assets. The City’s other restricted net assets are temporarily restricted (ultimately
expendable assets). All other net assets are considered unrestricted.

Changes to the Chart of Accounts

Additions to, deletions from or any other changes to the City of Las Vegas standard chart of
accounts shall only be done with approval of the Finance Director.

City of Las Vegas Fiscal Year

The City of Las Vegas shall operate on a fiscal year that begins on July it and ends on June
30th.

Journal Entries

All general ledger entries that do not originate from a subsidiary ledger shall be supported by
the corresponding documentation which shall include a reasonable explanation of each such
entry. Examples of such journal entries include:

1. Recording of non-cash transactions
2. Corrections of posting errors
3. Non-recurring accruals of income and expense

Certain journal entries, called recurring journal entries, occur in every accounting period. These
entries may include, but are not limited to:
1. Accruals of recurring expenses
2. Interest Allocation
3. Due to Due from account adjustment

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas that all journal entries not originating from a subsidiary
ledger shall be authorized by the Finance Director and/or Deputy Finance Director.

7



POLICIES ASSOCIATED
WITH REVENUES AND

CASH RECEIPTS

8



REVENUE

Revenue Recognition Policy

The City of Las Vegas receives revenue from several types of transactions. Revenue is
recognized depending on the type of fund the revenue pertains to.

Revenues in the government-wide, proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time the
liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Non-exchange
transactions, in which the City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving)
equal value in exchange, include property and sales taxes, grants, entitlements and donations.
On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the
taxes are levied. Revenues from sales tax are recognized when the underlying transactions
take place. Revenues from grants, entitlements and donations are recognized in the fiscal year
in which all eligible requirements have been satisfied.

Revenues in the governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues
are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., when they are “measurable and available”).
“Measurable” means the amount of the transaction can be determined and “available” means
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current
period. The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 30 days after yearend.

Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for debt
service expenditures which are recognized when due, and certain compensated absences and
claims and judgments which are recognized when the obligations are expected to be liquidated
with expendable available financial resources. General capital assets acquisitions are reported
as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and capital leases
are reported as other financing sources.

Property taxes, transient occupancy taxes, and interest are susceptible to accrual. Sales taxes
collected and held by the state at year-end on behalf of the City are also recognized as revenue.
Other receipts and taxes become measurable and available when cash is received by the City
and are recognized as revenue at that time.

Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible
to accrual criteria are met. Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the
qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other grant requirements have been met.

Classification of income and Net Assets

Certain assets of special revenue grant funds are classified as restricted assets because their
use is restricted by grant agreements.

Certain resources of the debt service fund and the Water, Solid Waste and Wastewater funds are
set aside for the repayment of bonds and are classified as restricted assets on the balance sheet
because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.

9



Other restricted resources consist of funds limited as to use by donors. Restricted gifts, bequests
and grants are reported as restricted funds until expenditures are made for the donor’s intended
purpose.

CASH RECEIPTS
Overview

Cash (including checks payable to the City) is the most liquid asset an organization has.
Therefore, it is the objective of the City of Las Vegas to establish and follow the strongest
possible internal controls in this area.
In-House Cash Receipts Processing

For funds that are received directly at the City of Las Vegas, cash receipts are centralized to
ensure that cash received is appropriately directed, recorded and deposited on a timely basis.
All cash is entered and posted by the customer service utility clerks in the utility billing
department of finance.

The individuals who entered, posted and prepared the daily list of cash receipts shall not be
involved in the accounts receivable process.

The Customer Service Utility clerk processes payments received through the “Cashiering” module
of the Tyler accounting program. At the end of the day the clerk will release the batches created
which reflects the number of receipts and the batch dollar amount total. The clerk will now output
and release the payment batch for proofing and posting to the general ledger by the finance
general accountant.

A deposit slip is prepared from the cash/check received and compared to the daily receipts
listing for discrepancies. Deposits are prepared and taken to the bank by an individual other
than the employee who prepared the daily cash receipts listing.

Endorsement of Checks

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas that all checks received that are payable to the City shall
immediately be restrictively endorsed by the customer service representative that prepares the
daily receipts listing. The restrictive endorsement shall be through the register, for all receipts at
the window and mail and includes the following information:

1. “For Deposit Only”
2. “City of Las Vegas”
3. Account No.

Timeliness of Bank Deposits

The City of Las Vegas deposits monies in bank(s) within 24 hours of collection.

Reconciliation of Deposits

On a monthly basis, the accountant, who does not prepare the initial cash receipts listing or
bank deposit, shall reconcile the listings of receipts to bank deposits reflected on the monthly
bank statement. Any discrepancies shall be immediately investigated and reported to the
Director of Finance or Deputy Finance Director.

10



POLICIES ASSOCIATED
WITH

EXPENDITURES AND
DISBURSEMENTS

11



PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

See City of Las Vegas’s Resolution No. 14-18 Adopting the State Procurement Code and the
Federal Procurement Code. This policy was adopted by City Council on March 19, 2014.

The policies and procedures for all purchases made by the City of Las Vegas are in accordance
with City of Las Vegas Resolution No. 14-18.

Overview

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas to follow a practice of ethical, responsible and reasonable
procedures related to purchasing, agreements and contracts, and related forms of commitment.
The purchase policy describes the principles and procedures that all staff shall adhere to in the
completion of their designated responsibilities.

Procedures — responsibility for purchasing

The Director of Finance, or in the alternative such other person as may be designated in writing by
the City Manager, shall be and is appointed to perform the functions of the Purchasing Officer for
the City. All purchases and contracts shall be reviewed and approved by the Director of Finance.

All department directors shall have the authority to initiate purchases on behalf of their department
within the guidelines described in the City’s purchase policy. Department Heads may delegate
purchasing authority to responsible individuals within their department. Directors’ shall inform the
finance department of all individuals that may initiate purchase requisitions in order to complete the
configuration in TYLER.

The system administrator (Finance Director) will set up the individual’s purchase and requisition
authority within the TYLER system.

All City purchases require a requisition. Requisitions must be entered into the accounting system
“TYLER”.

The requisitions will be electronically routed for approval to the respective manager, department
head, Purchasing Agent. Because the Finance Director is an approver she/he shall not have the
authority to initiate purchase requisitions and purchase orders. A purchase order will be issued by
the Finance Department only after the requisition has been approved at all of these levels.

The requisition must include the following information:

1. Description of item (goods/services) being requested for purchase.
2. General ledger account number.
3. Amount of purchase
4. Quantity

a. All purchases requested “Requisitions” must be approved by immediate
supervisor/manager and department head.

b. All “Requisitions” should be approved by the Finance Director.

12



5. Once a requisition has been released by the originator (and fully approved), it is then eligible
to be converted to a purchase order. Once requisitions are converted, they are ready to be
reviewed, posted and printed. The Purchasing Agent distributes hard copies of all
converted purchase orders to the respective department and finance accounts payable
department. The conversion process is performed twice a day.

6. All Purchase Order may be received electronically in the TYLER system. The receiving
program acts as confirmation that goods/services have been received so that staff can
process the related invoices.

7. The designated staff in each department has to prepare the account payable packages in
order to proceed with the payment of the invoice. (Please refer to Accounts Payable policy
and Procedures for more detail)

Vendor Files and Required Documentation

The Finance Department (Purchasing Agent) shall create a vendor folder for each new vendor
from whom the City of Las Vegas purchases goods or services.

Prior to making the initial purchase from any vendor (regardless of whether a contract is involved),
the Finance Department (Purchasing Agent) shall receive from the vendor a complete and signed
Form W-9 and verification of a State of New Mexico CRS number. The completed and signed
Forms W-9 shall be filed in each vendor’s folder.

Ethical Conduct in Purchasing

Ethical conduct in managing the City’s purchasing activities is an absolute essential. Staff must
always be mindful that they represent the City of Las Vegas and share a professional trust with
other staff and the general membership.

Staff shall discourage the offer of, and decline, individual gifts or gratuities of value in any way that
might influence the purchase of supplies, equipment, and/or services.

CASH DISBURSEMENTS (CHECK-WRITING) POLICIES
Check Preparation

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas to print vendor checks and expense reimbursement checks
on a weekly basis. Checks shall be prepared by persons independent of those who initiate or
approve expenditures, as well as those who are authorized check signers.

All vendor and expense reimbursement checks shall be produced in accordance with the following
guidelines:

• Expenditures must be supported in conformity with the purchasing, accounts payable, and travel,
expense and reimbursement policies described in this manual.

• Timing of disbursements should generally be made to take advantage of all early-payment
discounts offered by vendors.

• Generally, all vendors shall be paid within 30 days of submitting a proper invoice upon delivery of
13



the requested goods or services.

• Total cash requirements associated with each check run is monitored in conjunction with
available cash balance in bank prior to the release of any checks.

• All supporting documentation is attached to the corresponding check prior to forwarding the A/P
package to an authorized check signer.

• Checks shall be printed in numerical order.

• Checks shall never be made payable to “bearer” or “cash”.

• Checks shall never be signed prior to being prepared. (No signed blank checks).

• Upon the preparation of a check, vendor invoices and other supporting documentation shall
immediately be stamped with “PAID” in order to prevent subsequent reuse.

Check Signing

No checks shall be signed prior to the check being completed in its entirety (no signing of blank
checks).

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas that each check shall be signed by two authorized check
signers.

At least one of the check signers should examine all original supporting documentation to ensure
that each item has been properly checked prior to signing a check. Checks should not be signed if
supporting documentation appears to be missing or there are any questions about a disbursement.

Mailing of Checks

After signature, checks are returned to the individual who prepared them, who then mails checks
immediately. Checks shall not be mailed by individuals who authorize expenditures.

Voided Checks and Stop Payments

Checks may be voided due to processing errors by making proper notations in the check register
and defacing the check by clearly marking it as “VOID”. All voided checks are processed by the
Accounts Payable Clerk. (See accounts payable policy for procedures performed in processing
voided checks).

Stop payment orders may be made for checks lost in the mail or other valid reasons. Stop
payments are processed by the Accounts Payable Clerk directly with the associated bank with
a “Request to Stop Payment” form filed with the bank.

Record-Keeping Associated with Vendors

The City of Las Vegas shall obtain a completed Form W-9 from all vendors to whom payments are
made. A record shall be maintained of all vendors to whom a Form 1099 is required to be issued at
year-end. Payments to such vendors shall be accumulated over the course of a calendar year.

14



PAYROLL

Payroll Taxes

The Finance Department is responsible for ensuring that all required tax forms are properly
completed and submitted, and that all required taxes are withheld and paid. Payroll taxes are paid
on pay dates through EFPTS payments online

Preparation of Times heets

Each City of Las Vegas employee must submit a signed and approved timesheet no later than
12:00 noon on the Tuesday following the close of each pay period. Timesheets shall be prepared
in accordance with the following guidelines:

1. Each timesheet shall reflect all hours worked during the pay period.
2. Timesheets shall be prepared in ink.
3. Errors shall be corrected by crossing through the incorrect entry, filling in the

correct entry, and placing the employee’s initials next to the change (i.e.
employees shall not use “white out” or correction tape)

4. Compensated absences should be clearly identified as such
5. Timesheets must be signed by the employee.

After preparation, timesheets shall be approved by department directors or his/her designee, prior
to submission to the Finance Department. Corrections identified by an employee’s supervisor/
department director shall be authorized by the employee by placing the employee’s initials next to
the change. In the event that the employee or supervisor is unavailable the director may sign
authorizing the correction.

A City employee who is on leave, on travel, or is ill on the day that timesheets are due may
telephone or e-mail timesheet information to his or her supervisor (or designated alternate). Time
so submitted must reflect the actual time worked. The employee must initial a timesheet submitted
in this manner immediately upon his/her return to the office. Timesheets submitted in this manner
shall bear the notation, “Time reported by telephone or e-mail by employee to supervisor or
designated alternate”. The timesheet shall be signed by the supervisor or the designated alternate.

Processing of Timesheets

All departments are assigned with entering and approving timesheet entry in the ESS program of
TYLER. Upon approval, the time entry flows into TYLER for payroll processing. The Payroll Clerk
checks all timesheets for mathematical accuracy and accuracy of input into ESS.

The Payroll Clerk may not change or correct timesheets. When errors are noted, a corrected and
approved timesheet will be requested from the employee and respective supervisor.

Tampering with, altering, or falsifying time records, recording time on another employee’s time
record, or willfully violating any other timesheet policy or procedure is not allowed.

15



Direct Deposit and payroll checks

The transfer of the direct deposit is conducted through Southwest Capital Bank ACH. In order to
transfer the direct deposit the City should provide to the bank a security key code. The Payroll
Clerk should make sure a direct deposit confirmation is received after every transfer. The printing
of the payroll checks require security paper and a MICR ink.

The checks are signed with a two signature stamp bearing the signatures of the Mayor and the
Finance Director and is locked in a safe in the Finance Directors office that only approved
personnel has access to.

Review of Payroll

Upon production of all payroll reports, the Director of Finance and/or designee reviews payroll
reports, taxes to be paid and all other relevant information. These procedures shall be performed
prior to the checks being printed and the transfer of direct deposits is initiated.

Distribution of Payroll

Payroll payments (or check stubs for electronic deposits) shall be distributed by individuals who do
not approve time sheets, are not responsible for hiring and firing.

16



POLICIES PERTAINING
TO SPECIFIC ASSET

AND LIABILITY

17



CASH AND CASH MANAGEMENT

Cash Accounts

General Checking Account (operating account):
The primary operating account for the governmental funds provides for routine check
disbursements. All cash and ACH deposits, whether received at the City of Las Vegas
Customer Service Department are made to this account

Authorized signers on the general checking account include the following; Mayor and Finance
Director.

Payroll Account:

The payroll account is separate from the operating account. The payroll account is a
zero-balance account (ZBA). As such, only the amount needed to cover each payroll is
transferred into this account from three operating accounts (General, Enterprise, and Housing)
based on the amount calculated.

Authorized signers on the payroll account include the following; Mayor and Finance Director.

Enterprises:
The primary operating account for the Utility Funds provides for routine utility related check
disbursements. All cash and credit card deposits, whether at the City of Las Vegas Customer
Service Department or online, are made to this account.

Authorized signers on the payroll account include the following; Mayor and Finance Director.

Bank Reconciliations

Bank account statements are received each month by mail and forwarded unopened to
the Finance Director. The Finance Director opens the statement and reviews its contents
for unusual or unexplained items. Unusual or unexplained items shall be reported immediately to
the bank representative.

After this review is complete, the entire bank statement is forwarded to the Accountant. The
Accountant prepares the reconciliation between the bank balance and general ledger balance;
the accountant shall not be an authorized check signer. It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas to
complete the bank reconciliation process within two weeks of receipt of each bank statement.

The bank reconciliation, including any adjusting journal entries resulting from preparing bank
reconciliations are reviewed and approved by the Director of Finance on a monthly basis.

Cash Reconciliation and copies of resulting journal entries are filed in the current year’s
accounting files.

18



Cash Flow Management

The Director of Finance monitors cash flow needs on a weekly basis to eliminate idle funds and to
ensure that payment obligations can be met. Cash transfers between accounts are performed on
an as-needed basis.

Stale Checks

The Finance Department reviews stale dated checks and attempts to reach out to the payee as to
the status of the check. Efforts are made to stop payment, void and reissue a stale dated check.

Wire Transfers

The Finance Director and Payroll Clerk shall be the only City of Las Vegas employees authorized
to transact wire transfers from the City of Las Vegas bank accounts.

To prevent anyone other than the Director of Finance and the Payroll Clerk from transacting wire
transfers, a system is in place with Southwest Capital Bank where prior authorizations have been
executed. All wire transfers require the completion of a form detailing the amount, reason date and
type of wire transfer. Confirmation of all wire transfers are delivered to the Finance Director.

The Payroll Clerk shall be authorized to do wire transfers just in the following cases and with prior
approval from the Director of Finance:

• Payroll employees Direct Deposits
• Payroll Taxes
• Payroll Benefits (Retirement)
• Payroll Deductions (Deferred Compensation)

19



INVESTMENT POLICY

See City of Las Vegas’s Resolution No. 10-04 Investment Policy.

20



POLICIES ASSOCIATED
WITH FINANCIAL AND

TAX REPORTING

21



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Standard Financial Statements of the City of Las Vegas

Preparing financial statements and communicating key financial information is a necessary and
critical accounting function. Financial statements are management tools used in making decisions,
in monitoring the achievement of financial objectives, and as a standard method for providing
information to interested parties external to the City of Las Vegas. The basic financial statements
of the City of Las Vegas shall include:

1. Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet)- reflects assets, liabilities and net assets of the
organization and classifies assets and liabilities as current or non-current/long-term.

2. Statement of Activities (Income Statement) - presents revenues, expenses, and other changes
in net assets of the organization, by category of net asset (unrestricted, temporarily restricted
and permanently restricted).

Frequency of Preparation

The objective of the Finance Department is to prepare accurate financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and distribute them in a timely and cost-effective
manner. In meeting this responsibility, the following policies shall apply:

State law requires that all general-purpose local governments publish within six months of the
close of each fiscal year a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United Stated of America and audited in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by
licensed certified public accountants.

Annual Financial Statements

A formal presentation of the City of Las Vegas annual financial statements shall be provided by the
Independent Auditor to the City Council of the City at a regular scheduled council meeting.

GOVERNMENT RETURNS

Overview

To legitimately conduct business, City of Las Vegas must be aware of its tax and information return
filing obligations and comply with all such requirements of federal, state and local jurisdictions.
Filing requirements of City of Las Vegas include, sales tax returns, information returns for
retirement plans, retiree health insurance plans, State of New Mexico Department of Finance
quarterly reports, Lodgers Tax quarterly reports, annual reporting of compensation paid, and
payroll tax withholding tax returns.

22



Filing of Returns

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas to become familiar with the obligations in each jurisdiction
and to comply with all known filing requirements. The Finance Department shall be responsible for
identifying all filing requirements and assuring that the City of Las Vegas is in compliance with all
such requirements.

It is also the policy of the City of Las Vegas to file complete and accurate returns with all
authorities. City of Las Vegas shall make all efforts to avoid filing misleading, inaccurate or
incomplete returns.

Filings made by the City of Las Vegas include, but are not limited to, the following returns:

1. W-2’s and 1099’s -Annual report of employee and non-employee compensation, based on
calendar-year compensation, on the cash basis. These information returns are due to
employees and independent contractors by January 31 and to federal government by January
31.

2. W-3 Transmittal of wage and tax statement to the Social Security Administration used for the
transmittal of total wages paid.

3. Form 941 -Quarterly payroll tax return filed with IRS to report wages paid to employees and
federal payroll taxes. Form 941 is due by the end of the month following the end of each quarter,
or 10 days later if all payroll tax deposits have been made in a timely manner during the quarter.

4. ESC 802 — Quarterly contribution return and report of wages to the State of New Mexico used to
report unemployment wages to the State. (Filed online)

5. CRS — Monthly gross receipts report to the State of New Mexico used for reporting proceeds
of a taxable nature and employees state withheld income taxes. (Filed online)

6. P.E.R.A. — Bi-weekly report of employee and employer retirement contribution. (Filed online)
7. RHCA - Monthly report of employee and employer retiree health contribution.

Federal and all applicable State payroll tax returns are prepared by the City of Las Vegas.

BUDGETING

Overview

Budgeting is an integral part of managing any organization in that it is concerned with the
translation of organizational goals and objectives into financial and human resource terms.
A budget should be designed and prepared to direct the most efficient and prudent use of the
organization’s financial and human resources. A budget is a management commitment of a
plan for present and future organizational activities that will ensure survival. It provides an
opportunity to examine the composition and viability of the organization’s programs and activities
simultaneously in light of the available resources. The budget is a plan that establishes the
spending authority for the City’s programs and projects during the twelve months budget period.
The City’s Annual Budget serves as the foundation for the City of Las Vegas Financial Planning
and Control.

Prior to June 30 of each year the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating
budget for the Fiscal Year commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes

23



proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. Public hearings are conducted and prior
to July 31, the budget is adopted by motion of the City Council.

The appropriated budget is prepared by Fund, Function (e.g. Public Safety) and department (e.g.
Police).

Operating budgets will be prepared to fund current year expenditures with current year revenue.
However, surplus fund balances may be used to increase reserves, fund Capital Improvement
Projects, or be carried forward to fund future year’s operating budgets when necessary to stabilize
services and fund capital outlay.

The City will deliver services in the most cost effective manner, including utilizing the services of
volunteers in areas where it is economically viable.

Budgets will state the objectives of operating programs and identify the services and resources
being provided to accomplish the specified objectives.

Budgets will fully account for and apportion all costs, fees and General Fund transfers associated
with the Enterprise Funds.

Departmental expenditures are limited to City Council appropriated expenditures in the following
major categories:
Personal Services
Supplies & Services
Capital Outlay

The City will periodically update replacement and maintenance financing plans and incorporate
them into the Budget.

Budgets are adopted annually and all annual appropriations lapse at fiscal yearend.

Monitoring Performance

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas to monitor its financial performance by comparing and
analyzing actual results with budgeted results. This function shall be performed periodically by the
Finance Director.

Budgetary review

• Budget-to-actual comparisons are made on a monthly basis by the Finance
Department.

• Budget-to-actual comparisons are presented for City Council review at midyear
and on an as needed basis.

• Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in the Comprehensive annual
financial report for each individual governmental fund, for which an
appropriated annual budget has been adopted.

The City maintains an encumbrance accounting system of purchase orders and contracts as a
means of accomplishing budgetary control. Purchase orders are reviewed to ensure that funds

24



are available and that requests are properly authorized prior to being released to vendors.

Budget modifications (transfers)

• Department Directors may request transfers of appropriations within their departmental
budgets

• Transfers of appropriations between departments require the authorization of the
City Manager.

• Any revision that increases or decreases the total appropriations of any fund must be
approved by the City Council and the State of New Mexico Department of Finance and
Administration.

ANNUAL AUDIT

Role of the Independent Auditor

It is the policy of the City of Las Vegas to arrange for an annual audit of the City of Las
Vegas’s financial statements to be conducted by an independent accounting firm. The
independent accounting firm selected by the City Council will be required to communicate
directly with the City Manager, City Council and Finance Director upon the completion of their
audit.

Audited financial statements, including the auditor’s opinion thereon, will be submitted
and presented to the City Council for their review and approval, after the financial
statements have been reviewed and approved by the Finance Director.

Preparation for the Annual Audit

The City of Las Vegas shall be actively involved in planning for and assisting with the
City’s independent accounting firm in order to ensure a smooth and timely audit of its
financial statements. In that regard, the Finance Department shall provide assistance to
the independent auditors in the following areas:
Planning - The Finance Director is responsible for delegating the assignments
and responsibilities to finance staff in preparation for the audit. Assignments shall
be based on the list of requested schedules and information provided by the
independent accounting firm.
Involvement -City staff will do as much work as possible in order to assist the
auditors and, therefore, reduce the cost of the audit.
Interim Procedures -To facilitate the timely completion of the annual audit, the
independent auditors may perform selected audit procedures prior to the City’s
year-end. By performing significant portions of audit work as of an interim date,
the work required subsequent to year-end is reduced. City staff will do as much
as possible in order to provide requested schedules and documents and to
otherwise assist the auditors during any interim audit fieldwork that is performed.
Throughout the audit process, it shall be the policy of the City of Las Vegas to make every
effort to provide schedules, documents and information requested by the auditors in a
timely manner.

25



City Manager, City Council andlor Finance DirectorlAudit Responsibilities

The Audit responsibilities include, but shall not be limited to, the following:
1. Appointment of, and communication with, the City’s independent auditors
2. Review and approval of the annual, audited financial statements
3. Discussion of internal control matters with the independent auditor
4. Responding to any reported instances of fraud involving City of Las Vegas or its employees
5. Conducting an annual analysis of the City’s financial statements

26



Federal Programs

All Federal Programs under the CLV Municipality must comply with Guidance provided in 2 CFR 200 part

303. (a) Establish and maintain effective internal control over the Federal award that provides

reasonable assurance that the non-Federal entity is managing the Federal award in compliance with

Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the Federal award. These internal controls

should be in compliance with guidance in “Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government”

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and the “Internal Control Integrated

Framework”, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

(COSO).(b) Comply with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the Federal

awards.(c) Evaluate and monitor the non-Federal entitys compliance with statute, regulations and the

terms and conditions of Federal awards.(d) Take prompt action when instances of noncompliance are

identified including noncompliance identified in audit findings.(e) Take reasonable measures to

safeguard protected personally identifiable information and other information the Federal awarding

agency or pass-through entity designates as sensitive or the non-Federal entity considers sensitive

consistent with applicable Federal, state and local laws regarding privacy and obligations of

confidentiality.



Regular or Special

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST

DATE 11/1312018 DEPT: Finance MEETING DATE: 11I20I2018

ITEMITOPIC: Review and approve Resolution 18-47 City of Las Vegas Housing
Authority Accounting Policy

ACTION REQUESTED OF COUNCIL: Approval/Disapproval of Resolution 18-47 City
of Las Vegas Housing Authority Accounting Policy.

BACKGROUNDIRATIONALE: The City of Las Vegas is requesting review and
approval of Resolution 18-47 City of Las Vegas Housing Authority Accounting Policy.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:

THIS REQUEST FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK’S OFflCENO
LATER THAN 5:00 P.M. ON FRIDAY ONE AND A HALF WEEKS PRIOR TO THE
CITY COUNCIL MEETING.

SUBMITTER’S SIGNATURE

REVIE DAND PPROVED BY

TONITA GURULE-GIRON
MAYOR

ANN MARIE GALLEGOS,
INTERIM CITY MANAGER

PURCHASING AGENT
(FOR BID/RFP AWARD)

I

TANA VEGA, INTERIM
FINANCE DIRECTOR
(PROCUREMENT)

ES’tHER’ARDUNO ONrOVA
CIh’A*ORNE’Y
(ALL CONTRACTS MUST BE
REVIEWED)

/



STATE OF NEW MEXICO
MUNICIPALITY OF CITY OF LAS VEGAS

RESOLUTION NO. 18-47
CITY OF LAS VEGAS HOUSING AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING POLICY

WHEREAS, the Governing Body in and for the Municipality of the City of Las Vegas,
State of New Mexico have developed Housing Authority Accounting Policy, and

WHEREAS, said policy was developed on the basis of need and through cooperation
with City Administration and elected officials, and

WHEREAS, document has been prepared to demonstrate the internal accounting
procedures for the City of Las Vegas Housing Authority (LVHA), and

WHEREAS, its purpose is to ensure that assets are safeguarded, financial statements are
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and finances are managed
with responsible stewardship, and

WHEREAS, it is the majority opinion of this governing body that the City of Las Vegas
Housing Authority Accounting Policy meets the requirements as currently determined,
and,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Governing Body of the
Municipality of the City of Las Vegas, State of New Mexico hereby adopts the City of
Las Vegas Housing Authority Accounting Policy.

RESOLVED: In session this 20th day of November, 2018.

MUNICIPAL GOVERNING BODY
LAS VEGAS, NEW MEXICO

TONITA GURULE-GIRON, MAYOR

ATTEST:

CASANDRA FRESQUEZ, CITY CLERK (SEAL)

APPROVED FOR LEGAL SUFFICIENCY:

ESTHER GARDUNO-MONTOYA, CITY ATTORNEY



City of Las Vegas Housing

Authority Accounting Policy

City of Las Vegas Housing Authority

2400 Sagebrush

Las Vegas, NM 87701

Phone (505)425-9463

lasvegasnm.gov



Introduction
This document has been prepared to demonstrate the internal accounting procedures for the City
of Las Vegas Housing Authority (LVHA). Its purpose is to ensure that assets are safeguarded.
financial statements are in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and finances
are managed with responsible stewardship.

This Accounting Policy and Manual has been presented, reviewed and approved by the LVHA Board
of Commissioners (Board), Finance Department and Administration.

Housing Authority & Compliance

Department of Housing & Urban Development (HUD)
The mission of LVHA is “The Housing Authority provides safe. adequate. and affordable
housing to low income families, in an environment that fosters cultural preservation, self-
sufficiency and community pride

In order to abide by the regulations of both the State of New Mexico and HUD policies, LVHA
follows the rule of the stricter of the two policies. For example:

State ofNew Mexico small purchase threshold is 860.000. HUD policies on small purchase is S150, 000.
L VHA will abide by the State ofiVM threshold to consider small purchases at 860,000.

State ofNew Mexico policy on obtaining certi,fledpayrolljor a construction project has a threshold of over
S60, 000 and HUD ‘.c threshold is S2, 000. L VHA will abide by the HUD threshold of S2, 000for cerijlled
payroll.

HUD Financial Assessment
LVHA follows the Basic Rule Requirements. Uniform Financial Reporting Standards (UFRS) as
recommended by HUD. HUD developed the Financial Assessment Subsystem (FASS) specifically
to facilitate the LVHA metric as the financial health portion of the overall assessment. Financial
and other information must be submitted to the HUD Real Estate Assessment Center (REAC)
electronically by the LVHA.

The Public Housing Assessment System (PHAS) rule establishes procedures for the assessment of:
1. Physical condition (40%)

2. Financial condition (25%)
3. Management operations (25%)
4. Capital Fund Program (10%)

To total 100

The LVHAs indicators listed above act as an annual ‘report card” to indicate how the
agency is performing based on HUD standards. For the two (2) Financial condition listed
above, information must be submitted to REAC electronically by the LVHA through the
PASS using a template known as the Financial Data Schedule (FDS).



Financial Compliance

The LVHA annual financial reports are completed and audited by an independent audit firm as part
of the City of Las Vegas independent audit. It is submitted to the City of Las Vegas to be part of
the CAFR and to the State of New Mexico for approval of the final audit. Once the State has
approved the audit, it is then submitted to HUD via the REAC FDS.

The annual FDS is prepared by the LVHA using Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
standards for state and local governments and is reported on by the independent auditor as to its fair
presentation in relation to the audited financial statements. The Government Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) issues relative accounting practices on an annual basis. As these documents are
released, LVHA modifies the procedures to conform to the new GASB standards, if applicable.
GASB provides for two bases of accounting depending on the activities of the governmental entity -

‘enterprise fund” or ‘governmental fund” accounting. Since the overwhelming majority of PHAs
possess the characteristics of enterprise funds, they follow GASB enterprise fund accounting
principles.

GASB issued Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements--and Management’s Discussion and Analysis-/br
State rind Local Governments, which mandates government—wide or other financial statements using lull
accrual accounting li/ce that utilized by enierprisejiends.

Compliance with External Policies

Housing Authority accounting policies and procedures are compliant with GAAP accounting
principles as established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the Government
Accounting Standards Board (GAS B):

• 0MB Directives— The audit ofan entth’s basic,financial statements, Grant compliance and internal
controls.

• Uniform Financial Reporting Standards (UFRS)- Rule implementing requirements of 24

CFR. Part 5. Subpart H for the electronic filing offinancial information to REAC by entitiesreceiving
HUD financial assistance,

• GASB Sta tern en ts- New accounting rules as implemented by the New Mexico Office oft/ic State
A uditor(OSA).

• Statement on Auditing Standards — (SAS) No. 29, Reporting on In,fbrmation Acconipanying the
Basic Financial Statements mA uditor—Submitted Documents

Board of Housing Commissioners
The LVHA encourages community members to stay informed on current issues and business
actions pertaining to its housing programs and policies. All meetings of the Board shall be open to the
public unless, for a specifically named and limited purpose. a meeting is scheduled as a closed
meeting or an open meeting is called into a closed session. Las Vegas Housing Authority Board of
Housing Commissioners are the City of Las Vegas Governing Body.



Board Meetings
Regular Meetings are held on the 3rd Wednesday of each month, unless otherwise posted. Meetings
are held at 5:30 pm City of Las Vegas Council Chambers, unless otherwise posted.
Notice of meetings shall be in accordance with the State of New Mexico Open Meetings Act. §10-
15-1 et seq. and have passed Resolution No. 18-01 in compliance with the Open Meetings Act.

Board Responsibilities
The New Mexico Municipal Housing Act rest the powers to carry out the activities of the Housing
program to the CLV Governing Body. The Board is the Authority of the Housing Program. The
Aimual Contributions Contract that CLV is entered into with HUD requires that the Housing
Authority (Board) complies with all the rules and regulations.

The Accounting Function

To ensure compliance on a daily basis with regards to all accounting functions. this policy is a
regulatory guide to the various functions including but not limited to; cash management. receipts.
disbursements. accounting, funding. purchasing and grant or contract management. The finance
department has evaluated the process and procedures that staff follows to ensure all industry
regulations are being followed. Desktop procedures exist and are reviewed annually to ensure
consistent and compliant practice.

Prevention and detection of fraud and mismanagement is another factor in considering process
and procedures. HUD’s Office of the Inspector General (OIG) recommends the
implementation of strong internal controls, through accounting policies and procedures. in
order to help mitigate the potential for fraud. The most effective internal control concept is
separation of duties.

An ideal system of internal controls will separate the below functions:

• Authorizing transactions
— Keeping books
• Handling funds

When two or more of these functions are in the control of one person. the potential for fraud is greatly
increased. On occasion, when staff size is too small to permit separation of duties, a closer level of
supervision is utilized which may include the ED. Department Manager, or Finance Director (or their designee)
from the City of Las Vegas, being called in to verify a process.

The Finance Department recognizes this role and is responsible in communicating the education of the
current state of affairs to the Board and the E.D. who hold direct responsibility for ensuring that the
LVHAs housing programs are carried out in an honest, efficient, and effective manner.

Some key components to reporting the fiscal state of affairs and oversight to the internal controls includes
reducing opportunity for fraud or iii ismanagement through the fol lowing:

• Annual review of the manual for any updates or necessary changes:
• Employee Performance Revie\ and monthly coaching of staff to suggest improvement in daily

process:
• Vacation and leave time for regular staff. This can provide the back-up staff the ability to check the

validity of a process for accuracy;
• Review of processes outside of the annual review when either new staff is hired ornex industry



regulations are implemented;

• Strong Internal Controls supported through procedures;

• Rotation of staff duties for staff responsible for cash management;

• Annual training and skill enhancement opportunities to review roles and responsibilities.

Fraud Prevention & Cash Management

Education and strict adherence to the roles and procedures of daily financial management is the first step
to fraud prevention. This begins by hiring and educating staff on the importance of financial
management handling, which includes reviewing all preventative measures as well as ensuring all LVHA
procedures are being followed.

Financial Management & Investment Policy
Daily Deposits are checked and verified by a person who is not the individual who receives

payments. They are then placed in a locked secure bag and taken to the utilities department for
recording and deposited into the appropriate bank accounts by the utilities department.

Financial management is the process of managing the financial flow of the LVHA to optimize its
use of funds. This process involves the timing of receipts and disbursements to assure the
availability of funds to meet expenditures and to maximize the yield from the investment of
temporary surplus funds.

The Investment Policy is published as an additional document by the City of Las Vegas
Finance Department as Resolution No. 10-04; LVHA shall follow the policy that is
approved by the CLV Governing Body.

Financial Disbursements Process
In the disbursement process, there are two independent verification steps to be taken before
the payments are sent. It is performed by a person removed from custodial, recording and
approval duties. This control step addresses the issue of fraudulent supporting documents, which
can easily be produced and inserted into the invoice processing and check preparation stages.

1. The City of Las Vegas adopted the State of New Mexico’s Procurement Policy with
Resolution 12-24, the LVHA complies with the more stringent of the state and federal rules.

2. After properly procured requisitions are entered into the system.
3. The City of Las Vegas’ Chief Procurement Officer then processes purchase orders based of

the recommendation depending on the threshold by the CLV Finance Director and City
Manager.

4. After services are rendered or goods are received the LVHA processes invoices for payments,
and sends the invoices or requests for payment to the CLV accounts payable.

5. The Pre-Check report is run and verified by the CLV Accounts Payable in the Finance
Department.

6. Check stock is controlled and disbursed by an Accountant in CLV Finance Department.
7. Checks are run by the Accounts Payable Clerk in the CLV Finance Department.
8. Positive pay report is run that includes the check number, amount and quantity to verify against

the check listing report by the CLV Finance Department.
9. The report is then submitted to the bank by the CLV General Accountant which completes full

bank reconciliation.
10. Checks are distributed. Note:Any checks are required to be signed by asecondsignatory, usually the Mayor and the

Finance Director. Signature Stamps are kept in secured locked location with only two (2,) kejsand combinations. Check
stock is not kept in this location. All times stamp is used itis logged andsigned.



Internal Accounting
Controls

Internal controls ensure that an organization’s objectives can be achieved. An adequate
system of internal controls is set to properly safeguard assets through the timely
recording, reconciling and summarizing of transactions.

It is the job of the ED and Board to bear ultimate responsibility to ensure that an adequate
system of internal controls is in place and operating efficiently and effectively.

Adopted Internal Controls
The following items are internal controls performed by CLV.

• The bank statements are reconciled by an independent person at CLV.
• Reduced handlings of cash where two people count receipts and verify deposits at CLV.
• Independent Audit firm is rotated at least every 3 years, and assures audit findings are

resolved at CLV. CLV and LVHA follow the NM State Auditor Procurement Act and
Regulations guidelines.

• Maximum dollar limits for credit card pLirchases are maintained by CLV.
• One person does not have total oversight and authority over cash and accounting

functions and a backup plan includes higher level review and approval should key staff be
absent at CLV.

• The Waiting list Manager is the primary staff member collecting rent, however, staff
may be rotated during rent that is collected via check or money order at LVHA
and, daily financial management and deposits are maintained by CLV.

• All payments are reviewed and signed by the ED or designee.
• Sigiature stamps are secured at all times by the Finance Department at CLV.
• All check and cash disbursements are accompanied by an invoice showing that

the payment isjustified at CLV.
• Background checks are completed on all new employees, including ED’s, to avoid a bad

hire through the Human Resources Department (HRD) at CLV.
• Unclaimed checks are investigated and resolved annually; unclaimed checks are sent

to the State of NM unclaimed properties division through CLV.
• Training programs are instituted by HRD that emphasize good behavior such as

ethics classes.

Internal Controls in Action
One of the most important characteristics of a good system of internal controls is
separation of duties LVHA and CLV separation of duties is outlined as follows:

• Mail— The person responsible for opening the mail is not to be the same person
responsible for making deposits, or recording receipts. The mail person is located
in the City Clerk’s Office and is responsible for receiving, sorting and
distributing mail to the assigned department. The Waiting list Manager will
then accept the mail from the City Clerk’s Office and is responsible for
receiving, sorting, opening and date-stamping and distributing mail to the
assigned staff members.

• Bank reconciliations are completed by CLV and reviewed and approved by the
Finance Director. Bank statements are delivered directly to the Accounting
Manager and can be accessed directly online at the bank.



• Journal Entries QE) have two levels of review and approval prior to being posted
to the general ledger. Manual JE’s are processed through the software, but hard
copies of aJIJE’s are maintained to ensure documentation of approval. Automated
JE’s are not reviewed and approved prior to posting since it is an internal process,
but back-up documentation can be provided by LVHA and CLV.

• Capital Fund projects are reviewed monthly and reconciled monthly.

• Fixed Assets are identified annually and are posted to the general ledger and depreciated
once they have been placed into service by CLV.

• Wire Transfers are conducted to prevent misappropriation of cash and investments.
Finance is instructed to wire transfer funds only to accounts in the name of the organization
and with the specific account numbers provided. Two levels of review and approval are required
by the bank and CLV.

• Signatire and date line proof of the preparer and reviewer are provided by each piece of
documentation in the internal control chain (e.g., the receipts log, the disbursementsjournal, check
authorizations, and bank reconciliations) have a signature and date line for the preparer and the
reviewer by LVHA and CLV.

Decreasing Opportunity - The goal of internal controls is to minimize opportunity for theft,
fraud or error. When a regular accounting employee is on vacation, the assumption of these
duties by another employee provides a good opportunity to spot inefficiencies or fraud.
Financial management is rotated to ensure changing staff and changing reviewers.

Interim Financial Reports
The LVHA provides a monthly budget to actual report to the Governing Body.

The following reports by CLV (except for the operating statement) are typically produced during
the audit. On a quarterly basis, the Board receives a condensed version of set of these reports. This
allows the Board and Management to be informed of any changes in the financials throughout the
year.

• Combined Balance Sheet - Statement of Financial Position.
— Income Statement - Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets.

• Notes to the Financial Statements.

The information in these statements can be a useful tool for:

• Monitoring revenue, support. expenses and comparing them to prior periods and budgeted
amounts.

— Planning additional programs and services for current or future years.

• Determining if additional cost containment, need for additional funding or budget
adjustments are warranted.

• Analyzing the results of a specific program area.

Year End Process & Compliance Plan
An Independent Audit
LVHA is required by HUD and the State of New Mexico to have an annual financial audit by an
Independent Certified Public Accountant which is completed via the yearly CLV audit. The audit is
an examination of the organizations financial statements to ensure that they are presented fairly in
all material respects according to GAAP. An audit involves detailed levels of testing.



Selecting an Auditor
A Request for Proposals (RFP) is be prepared by CLV to solicit bids for accoLLnting services. The RFP
should briefly describe the organization. its accounting system. the type of service requested (e.g..
audit of basic financial statements. an A-133 audit. preparation of the 990 tax return.
a management letter, and a presentation to the board) and the desired timing of the work and delivery
of the reports.

After the audit is completed. LVHA is required to sLibmit its financials to the following:

• City ofLas Vegas - LVHA is inciLided as a Department — Due December 1st..

• State of New Mexico ALiditor — Due December ls

• H U D- Audited FASS Subiission is dne lVhrch 30th online and an electronic to tIk Albq.
local field office

• HUD - Unaudited FASS Submission is due August 31st.

Year End Plan

The CLV Finance Department works on a year-end plan that allows staff to be prepared for the
Fiscal Year end on June 30th. Detailed explanation is provided in the Year-end Procedures but
an overview is provided but not limited to the following:

• Year end Processing check list is followed as well as scheduled staff meetings.

• Revenue schedules for the year are reconciled to the General Ledger.

• Expense by fund —A review of all AP and expense accounts to the budget.

• SecLirity and Pet Deposits are reconciled.

— Liability accounts - Reconciled.

— Program and Project Fees are reviewed and closed for the year.

• Capital Fund- Projects. files and reconciliations to the annLlal Fiscal Year vs. Calendar Year
grant.

— Reconcile all grant fiscal year disbursements.

• Interfund accounts are reconciled, bank transfers completed and journal entries processed
no later than June 30th.

— Accruals -Vendor accounts audited and obligations to HUD or CLV.

• Pre-payments- Insurance, benefits and lease payments.

• Accounts Payable- year end procedures. verify any open P0’s, and invoices, reconcile sub-
ledger, etc., to

Purchasing- Manual audit and review of existing purchase orders and commitments.

Inventory -manual and G/L audit.

Work Order- Work in conjunction with the LVHA maintenance department to close out.

The Budget

LVHA Staff prepares the Annual Financial Budget to be presented to the Board no later than June 30th
of every year. The development and implementation of the annual financial budget is an integral part
to the daily operating success of the agency. It provides comparative monthly reporting to the Boai’d and
Executive team. It is completed in collaboration with staff members and departments over a series of
meetings throughout the year. It is a roadmap for utilizing resources and meeting the agency goals. It
supports LVHA program success and ensures fiscal viability throughout the year.

Every effort is made to combine program. department and agency goals in the budget. Limited resources
will be utilized to maximize benefits to the recipients of LVHA programs. The staff incorporates LVHA
core values to present accountability, compassion, service, integrity and stewardship in applying the
approved budget to each department.



Annual Contributions Contract
HUD-53012 (ACC)

U.S. Department of Housing
and Urban Development

Office of Public and Indian Housing

0MB Approval No. 2577-0075
(exp. 01/31/202 1)

The information collection requirements contained in this document have been approved by the Office of Management and Budget (0MB) under the
Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 (44 U.S.C. 350 1-3520) and assigned 0MB control number 2577-0075. There is no personal information contained in this

application. lnfomation on activities and expenditures of grant funds is public information and is generally available for disclosure. Recipients are responsible
for ensuring confidentiality when disclosure is not required. In accordance with the Paperwork Reduction Act. HUD may not conduct or sponsor. and a person
is not required to respond to, a collection of infomation unless the collection displays a culTently valid 0MB control number.

1. Definitions

Act - The United Stated Housing Act of 1937 (42
U.S.C. 1437 et.. a!). as amended.

Annual Contributions Contract (ACC) - This grant
agreement between HUD and the HA which
establishes the basic terms and conditions for the
HA’s public housing program.

Consolidated Annual Contributions Contract
(consolidated ACC or CACC) - HUDs annual
Grant Funding Exhibits to the ACC. which together
with the ACC, constitute the annual grant agreement
for the HA’s public housing program.

Cooperation Agreement - Agreement(s) prescribed
by HUD for execution by the HA and the local
governing body relative to the cooperation of the
local governing body in the development and
operation of the project(s) and the obligation of the
HA for payments in lieu of taxes (PILOT).

Fiscal Year — The HA fiscal year.

Grant Funding Exhibit - Exhibits to the ACC, in a
form prescribed by HUD, reflecting HUD’s
commitment to provide grant funding that states the
amount and term of Operating Fund and Capital Fund
grant funding.

Grant Funding Increment - Each annual
commitment of Operating Fund and Capital Fund by
HUD to the HA for its public housing program.

Housing Agency (HA) The entity that meets the
statutory definition set forth under the Act. and which

is subject to the CACC.

HIJD - The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development.

Mixed-Finance - Development or modernization of
public housing units where the public housing units
are owned in whole or in party by an entity other than
a PHA (i.e., Owner-Entity).

Operating Costs (Operating Expenditures or
Operating Expenses) - Costs incurred by the HA
for the necessary administration, operation and
maintenance of a public housing Prolect; and which
may be charged against operating receipts in
accordance with the CACC and HUD requirements.
Except as allowed by HUD, such costs do not
include: any costs, expenses, expenditures. or charges
incurred as part of the development or modernization
of a public housing Project; or payment of principal
or interest of bonds or notes related to the
development or modernization of public housing.

Operating Receipts - All rents, revenues, income.
and receipts accruing from, out of, generated by, or in
connection with the ownership or operation of public
housing, including grant funds received pursuant to
HUD Requirements and is not limited to income from
fees for services performed, the use or rental of real
or personal property acquired with grant funds. the
sale of commodities or items fabricated under the
grant, license fees and royalties on patents and
copyrights, and principal and interest on loans made
with grant funds. Operating Receipts shall not include
any funds received for the development or
modernization of a Project, annual contributions
pledged for payment of bonds or notes, or proceeds
from the disposition of real property oi. rebates,
credits, discounts and interest earned on any of them.

Previous versions obsolete Page 1 of 13 Form HLD-53012 (04/2018)



Interest on the Operating Receipts (including the
investment of Operating Receipts), constitutes
Operating Receipts.

Operating Reserve Account - An account allowed
by HUD for a PHA from amounts by which the
maximum payment of grant funds from the Operating
Fund formula to the HA under the CACC (during a
HA fiscal year) exceeds Operating Costs. This
account may be used as the source of additional
payments.

Owner Entity - An entity, including the HA, that
owns Mixed-finance public housing units.

Project (Public Housing Project) - Low-income
housing, developed, acquired, or assisted by HUD
under the Act, other than under section 8 of the Act,
and the improvement of such housing, and necessary
appurtenances thereto. The term shall include all real
and personal property, tangible and intangible, which
is acquired or held by a HA in connection with a
Project covered under the CACC.

Program (Public Housing program) - The HA’s
public housing program.

Program Receipts - Program receipts shall mean
Operating Receipts and any other funds received by
the HA for the development, modernization, sale or
transfer of public housing projects. Subject to HUD
Requirements, as defined in Paragraph 3, interest on
the program receipts (including the investment of
program receipts) constitutes program receipts.
Program receipts shall only be used to pay for public
housing program expenditures, unless otherwise
allowed by HUD Requirements.

Public Housing - The term shall include public
housing projects, as well as all other real and personal
property, tangible and intangible, which is acquired,
or held by, the HA in connection with its public
housing program covered under a CACC.

Replacement Reserve Account — An account
established by the HA, as approved by HUD. This
account may be used as a source to fund any of the
eligible capital activities outlined in its Capital Fund 5

Year Action Plan as approved by HUD under the Act.

2. Mission of ITUD and HA.

a. HUD shall administer its Federal
public housing program for the provision of decent,
safe, and sanitary housing to eligible families in
accordance with the CACC and all applicable HUD
Requirements. HUD shall provide maximum
responsibility and flexibility to HAs in making
administrative decisions within all applicable
statutes, executive orders, regulations and this ACC.
HUD shall provide annual contributions, in the form
of grants, to the HA in accordance with all
applicable statutes, executive orders, regulations,
and the CACC.

b. The HA shall use Program Receipts
to provide decent, safe, and sanitary housing for
eligible families in compliance with the Act and all
HUD requirements. HA shall at all times develop
and operate public housing projects in a manner that
promotes serviceability, economy, efficiency, and
stability of the projects, and the economic and social
well-being of the tenants.

c. Except as otherwise provide by law
the HA shall develop, modernize and operate all
Projects covered by the CACC, in accordance with
HUD Requirements. The HA shall also ensure
compliance with such requirements by any other
Owner Entity, contractor or subcontractor engaged
in the development or operation of a project covered
under the CACC.

3. HUD Requirements.

Except as otherwise provided by law, the HA must
comply with the following “HUD Requirements”,
including all such requirements as amended from
time to time:

a. The Act,

b. Regulations at Title 2 of the Code of
Federal Regulations, and regulations issued by HUD
at Title 24 of the Code of Federal Regulations);

c. Other federal statutes (including
appropriations acts), executive orders and regulatory
requirements and;

Previous versions obsolete Page 2 of 13 Form HUD-53012 (04/2018)



d. HUD-issued notices, and HUD
required forms, or agreements.

4. Cooperation Agreement(s).

During the development and operation of the
project(s), the HA shall perform and comply with all
applicable provisions of a Cooperation Agreement
in the form prescribed by HUD, including the
making of PILOT provided therein (or such lesser
amount as may be prescribed by State law or agreed
to by the local governing body); and shall at all
times preserve and enforce its rights thereunder, and
shall not terminate or amend the Cooperation
Agreement(s) without the written approval of HUD.

5. Declaration of Restrictive Covenants.

a. Record of Obligation Upon the
acquisition, development, or assistance of any real
property with funds covered by the CACC, the HA
shall execute and file for record against the Project
and/or the owner’ s leasehold interest an instrument
(which may be in the form of a declaration of trust,
declaration of restrictive covenant, or such other
document as approved or prescribed by HUD),
confirming and further evidencing, but not limited
to, (1) the obligation of the HA not to convey or
encumber the Project except as expressly authorized
in the CACC, (2) the obligation of the HA to
develop, maintain and operate such Project in
compliance with the CACC and HUD
Requirements.

1. Such instrument and all
amendments shall be duly recorded or filed for
record to give public notice of their contents and to
protect the rights and interests of HUD.

2. The HA shall furnish HUD
with appropriate evidence of such recording or
filing. From time to time, as additional real property
is acquired, assisted, or disposed of(or removed
from the public housing program) by the HA in
connection with its public housing program, the HA
shall promptly amend such instrument to
incorporate all such real property and shall record
the instrument, as amended. The HA shall furnish

HUD with appropriate evidence of such recording
or filing.

b. Mixed-Financed Projects. The HA
shall require the Owner Entity to execute and file for
record against the Project, prior to the recordation of
any other encumbrance, a declaration in the form
approved by HUD.

1. The declaration shall confirm
and evidence the Owner Entity’s obligation, during
the term of CACC covering the Project units and
during such further period when such approval may
be required by law as then in effect, to develop.
maintain and operate the Project Units in
compliance with the HUD Requirements. SUCh

declaration and all amendments shall be duly
recorded or filed for record to give public notice of
their contents and to protect the rights and interests
of HUD.

2. The declaration shall provide
further that it may not be modified, amended or
released without the prior written approval of HUD.
The HA shall furnish HUD with appropriate
evidence of such recording or filing.

6. Disposition and Encumbrances.

a. Covenant Against Disposition and
Encumbrances. The HA shall not demolish or
dispose of any project, or portion thereof. other than
in accordance with the terms of the CACC and
applicable HUD Requirements. With the exception
of entering into dwelling leases with eligible
families for dwelling units in the Projects covered by
the CACC, and normal uses associated with the
operation of the Project(s), the HA shall not in any
way encumber any project, or portion thereof,
without the prior written approval of HUD. In
addition, unless approved in advance and in writing
by HUD, the HA shall not pledge as collateral for a
loan the assets of any Project covered under the
CACC.

b. Mixed-Finance Projects. No

transfer, conveyance, or assignment shall be made
without the prior w’ritten approval of HUD of: (i)
any interest of a managing member, general partner,

Previous versions obsolete Page 3 of 13 Form HIJD-53012 (04/2018)



or controlling stockholder (any such interest being
referred to as a ‘Controlling Interest”) of the Owner
Entity; or (ii) a Controlling Interest in any entity
which has a Controlling Interest in the Owner
Entity; or (iii) prior to the payment in full of all
equity contributions described in the approved
evidentiary documents, any other interest in the
Owner Entity, or in any partner or member thereof.

1. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 1-IUD
consent is not required where a business
organization that has a limited interest (non-
controlling and non-managing) in the Owner Entity
transfers a non-controlling and non-managing
interest in the business organization provided that
the Owner Entity: (i) provides HUD with written
notice of such transfer; and (ii) certifies to HUD that
the new owner of the limited interest remains
obligated to fund its equity contribution in
accordance with the terms of the HUD-approved
organizational documents of the Owner Entity.

2. HUD will not unreasonably withhold,
delay, or condition a request by the Owner Entity for
HUD’s consent to an internal reorganization of the
corporate or partnership structure of the Owner
Entity or any of the partners, members or
stockholders of the Owner Entity.

3. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
prior approval of HUD and the HA will not be
required for the exercise by any investor partner of
the Owner Entity (“Investor”) of its right pursuant to
the Amended and Restated Limited Partnership
Agreement of the Owner Entity (“Partnership
Agreement”) to remove the general partner of the
Owner Entity and appoint the Investor or its
Affiliate (i.e., any entity which directly or indirectly
controls, or is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the specified entity) as an interim
general partner of the Owner Entity so long as the
Investor gives prompt written notice to HUD of such
removal and appointment (“Removal Notice”);
provided that HUD and the HA consent will be
required for the appointment of such interim general
partner to extend beyond a ninety (90) day period
and for the appointment of any entity (including the
Investor of an affiliate thereof) as the permanent
replacement general partner. Such 90-day period

will commence on the date of the Removal Notice
(“Interim Replacement Period”). With the prior
written approval of HUD and the HA, the Interim
Replacement Period may be extended for an
additional 90 days to allow the substitute general
partner of the Owner Entity to find a replacement
general partner acceptable to HUD and all other
parties, provided that prior to the expiration of such
additional 90-day period, the substitute general
partner demonstrates that the Investor is continuing
to fund (or has already funded) capital as required
under the Partnership Agreement and that the
Project continues to be operated in a manner
consistent with HUD Requirements.

4. The consent ofHUD and the HA will
not be required for (i) any exercise by the Investor of
its right to require the repurchase of its limited
partnership interests as against the General Partner,
any guarantor, and/or any affiliate thereof
(“Repurchaser”) pursuant to the Partnership
Agreement, provided that the Investor provides
prompt written notice to HUD and the HA at the
time of its exercise of such right, and further
provided that any resale of the limited partnership
interests by the Repurchaser will be subject to the
approval of HUD and the HA, such approval not to
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned,
or (ii) the exercise by the HA (or any approved

Affiliate thereof) of its rights to acquire interests or
the Property pursuant to the Right of First Refusal
and Purchase Option Agreement of approximately
even date herewith.

7. Insurance Requirements.

a. Except as otherwise provided by
HUD, and in accordance with the CACC and HUD
regulations and requirements. the HA shall procure
adequate insurance to protect the HA from financial
loss resulting from various hazards.

b. Mandatory Insurance Coverage. The
following types of insurance are required:

1. Commercial Property. Each policy
must be written with a blanket limit, on a
replacement cost basis, and with an agreed value
clause eliminating any coinsurance provision.

Previous versions obsolete Page 4 of 13 Form 1-IUD-53012 (04/2018)



2. Commercial General Liability.
3. Workers Compensation and

Employers Liability.

4. Owned and Non-Owned
Automobile Liability.

5. Theft, Disappearance, and
Destruction, only if the amount of cash and checks
on hand at any one time exceeds the amount
prescribed by HUD.

6. Employee Dishonesty.

7. Boiler and Machinery if steam
boilers have been installed.

8. Flood Insurance for property
located in a flood plain, as determined in the Federal
Governments National Flood Insurance Program.

9. Lead-Based Paint Liability for
HAs undergoing lead-based paint testing and
abatement.

10. Fidelity Bond Coverage. The
HA must carry adequate fidelity bond coverage, as
required by HUD, of its officers, agents, or
employees handling cash or authorized to sign
checks.

c. Optional Insurance Coverage. The
following insurance coverage are recommended and
should be purchased if the HA determines that
exposure exists:

I. Boiler and Machinery coverage is
recommended if there is extensive central air
conditioning, electrical transformers, or similar
equipment.

Officials Liability.
2. Directors and Officers or Public

3. Law Enforcement Liability:
highly recommended where the exposure exists, and
the Commercial General Liability insurer has
excluded coverage.

d. Authorized Insurance Companies.
Insurance must be purchased from an insurance

company or other entity that is licensed or duly
authorized to write insurance in the State where the
HA is located.

e. CertUlcates ofInsurance. At each
renewal, the HA shall promptly have certificates of
insurance submitted by the insurers to HUD
describing the types of coverage, limits of insurance,
policy numbers, and inception and expiration dates.

f. Waivers and Self-Insurance Funds.
Requests for waivers of this section not to purchase
any form of required insurance, or to establish a self-
insurance fund in lieu of purchasing insurance, must
be submitted in writing to HUD for approval with a
justification as to why the request should be
approved.

g Restoration. The HA shall, to the
extent that insurance proceeds permit, promptly
restore, reconstruct, and/or repair any damaged or
destroyed property of a Project, in accordance with
all HUD Requirements, except with the written
approval of HUD to the contrary.

h. Mixed Finance Projects. The HA, to
the extent that insurance proceeds or condemnation
award proceeds (Proceeds) permit, shall promptly
cause the restoration, reconstruction, and/or repair
(“Restoration’) of any damaged or destroyed
property of the Project. The obligation for
Restoration, to the extent Proceeds and other funds
(if any are made available by the Owner Entity or
the HA) permit, is a requirement with which the
Owner Entity must comply to the extent Restoration
is feasible. Each mortgagee must permit Restoration

if feasible (rather than require application of
Proceeds to reduction of debt). If Restoration is not
feasible, then the following requirements, which
shall be incorporated into the Regulatory and
Operating Agreement (or other such agreement)
between the HA and the Owner Entity (and ground
lease, if applicable), and with which all mortgage
documents encumbering the Project shall be
consistent, shall apply:

Previous versions obsolete Page 5 of 13 Form HUD-53012 (04/2018)



Partial loss. In the event that
less than all of the dwelling units in the Project are
damaged, destroyed or lost as a result of casualty or
condemnation. the following provisions shall apply:

(A) If the Proceeds are less
than, or equal to, the sum of the existing outstanding
mortgage debt secured by the Project, excluding any
such debt held by the HA to secure a loan of Capital
Funds, other public housing development funds, or
Program Receipts for the Project (Existing
Mortgages’), and such Proceeds are applied to
reduction of Existing Mortgages, the number of
Project units in the Project shall remain the number
required immediately prior to the occurrence of the
casualty or condemnation.

(B) If the Proceeds are less
than, or equal to, the sum of the Existing Mortgages
but, at the election of the holders of the Existing
Mortgages, are distributed among the holders
thereof and the Authority, by application first to
reduction of the Existing Mortgages in an aggregate
amount not to exceed the proportion of the Proceeds
equal to the ratio of non-Project units to all dwelling
units in the Project, and then by payment to the HA
of the balance of the Proceeds; then the percentage
of units in the Project (and the percentage of
bedrooms contained therein) which shall be Project
units shall remain the same as required immediately
prior to the casualty or condemnation.

(C) If the Proceeds are
more than sufficient to pay off the Existing
Mortgages, Proceeds in excess of the aggregate
amount of the Existing Mortgages shall be applied
in the following order of priority:

(1). To reduce any
outstanding indebtedness to the HA for a loan of
Capital Funds, other public housing development
funds, or Program Receipts;

(ii). To reimburse the
HA for any Development Grant Funds, Capital
Funds or HOPE VI Grant Funds disbursed to the
Ownei’ Entity for development of the Development
other than by loan;

(iii). TotheHAan
amount equal to the total “cost of construction”
attributable to the Project units, less the sum of(a)
and (b) above; and

Entity.
(iv). To the Owner

(D) Following application
of Proceeds in accordance with this subparagraph
the percentage of dwelling Linits in the Project which
shall be Project units (and the percentage of
bedrooms contained therein) shall remain the same
as required immediately prior to the casualty or
condemnation: provided, however, that to the extent
that the payment to the HA pursuant to clauses (A),
(B), and (C) shall be less than the “cost of
construction” attributable to the Project units, the
number of remaining units in the Development
which shall be Project units shall be increased by a
number of units (rounded down) equal to (1) the
amount by which such payments to the HA shall be
less than the cost of construction, divided by (2) the
quotient of(x) cost of construction, divided by (y)
the number of Project units immediately prior to the
occurrence of the casualty or condemnation.

2. Total loss. In the event that all
of the units in the Project are damaged, destroyed or
lost as a result of casualty or condemnation, the
following provisions shall apply:

(A) The Proceeds shall be
used to reduce the amount of the outstanding
indebtedness of any mortgage(s) secured by the
Project. including any mortgage(s) held by the HA.
based on the priority recorded order of such
mortgage(s);

(B) If the Proceeds are
more than sufficient to pay off the amount of the
outstanding indebtedness of all mortgage(s) secured
by the Project, including any mortgage(s) held by
the HA, then the amount of the Proceeds in excess
of such indebtedness shall be applied in the
following order of priority:

(1). To reduce any
outstanding indebtedness to the HA for an unsecured
loan of Capital Funds, or other HUD Development
Funds or Program Receipts;

(ii). To reimburse the
HA for any Capital Funds, other public housing
funds or Program Receipts disbursed to the Owner
Entity for development of the Project other than by
loan;

Previous versions obsolete Page 6 of 13 Form HUD-53012 (04/2018)



(iii). TotheHAan
amount equal to the total “cost of construction”
attributable to the Project units, less the sum of(a)
and (b) above, and

Entity;
(iv). To the Owner

For the purposes of this subsection, the term
“cost of construction” shall mean the total cost of
developing the Project, less land acquisition costs, if
any, and non-capitalized soft costs.

8. Employer Requirements.

The HA shall comply with all State and Federal laws
applicable to employee benefit plans and other
conditions of employment. No Program Receipts
may be used to pay any compensation for the
services of members of the HA Board of
Commissioners. None of the funds made available
by the Act, for purposes authorized under section 8
and section 9 of the Act may be used by the HA for
any amount of salary, including bonuses, for the
chief executive officer of which, or any other
official or employee of which, that exceeds the
annual rate of basic pay payable for a position at
level IV of the Executive Schedule.

c. The United States Government,
including HUD and the Comptroller General, and its
duly authorized representatives, shall have full aiid
free access to all HA offices and facilities, and to all
books, documents, and records of the HA relevant to
the administration of the projects under this CACC,
including the right to audit and make copies.

d. The HA shall engage and pay an
independent public accountant to conduct audits that
are required by HUD and HUD Requirements. The
cost of audits required by 1-IUD may be charged
against program receipts.

e. The foregoing (a)-(d) shall apply to
any records and/or any facilities operated or
maintained by an agent or independent contractor
for the HA that assists in fulfilling any obligation
under this CACC. Any such agent or independent
contractor that denies HUD or its duly authorized
representatives from reviewing records, or denies
HUD or its duly authorized representative entry to
an office or facility, or prevents access to any office
or facility, will be considered a denial made by the
PHA.

9. Accounts, Records, and Government
Access.

a. The HA shall maintain complete and
accurate books of account for the Projects of the HA
in such a manner as to permit the preparation of
statements and reports in accordance with HUD
Requirements, and to permit timely and effective
audit.

b. The HA shall furnish HUD such
financial and program data, reports, records,
statements, and documents at such times, in such
form, and accompanied by such supporting data as
required by HUD. The I-LA is required to submit or
access HUD’s system of records (SORN). HUD’s
SORN is subject to the Privacy Act, the Freedom of
Information Act, and other such applicable law.
The HA must not release, without prior HUD
approval, any and all information contained in such
records.

10. Grant Funding

a. HUD shall make annual
contributions in the form of grant funding in the
amounts provided for the Public Housing Program
as stated in the grant funding exhibits.

b. Grant funding is subject to each
year’s annual appropriations act and the
requirements will be set forth in the grant funding
exhibits. Appropriations may be reduced by I-IUD
as directed by the Congress in an appropriations act.
Grant funding may be reduced by an offset of a
HA’s funding, pursuant to a formula prescribed by
Congress in an appropriations act. Grant funding
may also be reduced or offset pursuant to a formula
devised by HUD if Congress has invested HUD
with the discretion to devise and implement a
funding formula in the appropriations act. Grant
funding may also be terminated, recaptured.
withheld, suspended, reduced or such other actions
taken in accordance with HUD Requirements.

Previous versions obsolete Page 7 of 13 Form HUD-53012 (04/2018)



c. Grant funding is calculated by
applying applicable regulations in Title 24 of the
Code of Federal Regulations unless Congress
provides otherwise. HUD will grant funding to the
HA in accordance with HUD Requirements, unless
modified by an appropriations act. The
appropriations act, not the Title 24 of the Code of
Federal Regulations, will always take precedence in
formulating each year’s grant funding. Each year’s
grant funding exhibits will set forth the
requirements. Any change in funding or
requirements to a grant funding exhibit will be
provided in a written notice to the HA.

d. The HUD notice of a revised funding
exhibit(s) constitutes an amendment of the CACC.

11. Term
The grant funding exhibits state the first date and
last dates of the terms for each funding
increment.

12. Depository

a. The HA shall deposit and invest
program receipts and investment securities received
by or held for the account of the HA in connection
with the development, operation and improvement
of the projects under a CACC with HUD in
accordance with the terms of the General
Depository Agreement(s) and all investment
requirements provided in HUD and Treasury
Notices and Regulations. The General Depository
Agreement shall be in the form prescribed by HUD
and must be executed by the HA and the depository.
Immediately upon the execution of any General
Depository Agreement, the HA shall furnish to
HUD such executed or conformed copies thereof as
HUD may require. A General Depository
Agreement shall not be terminated except after 30
days notice to HUD.

b. The HA shall maintain records that
identify the source and application of funds in such
a manner as to allow HUD to determine that all
funds are and have been expended in accordance
with HUD Requirements. The HA may only use
Program Receipts for: (1) the payment of the costs
of development and operation of the Projects under

the CACC with HUD; (2) the purchase of
investment securities as approved by HUD; and (3)
such other purposes as may be specifically
approved by HUD. Except as approved by HUD,
and consistent with HUD Requirements, grant ftinds
are not fungible.

13. Termination of a Project. If any Project
covered by this ACC is terminated, all related
Program Receipts shall, in accordance with the
terms of this CACC and HUD Requirements,
become part of another Project administered by the
HA. If no public housing Project(s) exists, the
remaining personal and real property, and program
receipts, shall be distributed (including the possible
remittance to HUD) as directed by HUD, consistent
with HUD Requirements.

14. Notices, Defaults, Remedies.

a. Any notice required or permitted to
be given under this ACC or CACC shall be in
writing, signed by a duly authorized official, and
addressed, if to the HA, to the principal office of the
HA, and if to HUD, to the HUD office with
jurisdiction over the HA, unless otherwise directed
by regulation or other HUD Requirements.

b. Upon the occurrence of a substantial
default by the HA, as determined by HUD, HUD
shall be entitled to any or all of the remedies set
forth below. A substantial default is a serious and
material violation of any one or more of the
covenants contained in the CACC. Events of
substantial default shall include, but shall not be
limited to, any of the following occurrences: (1)
failure to maintain and operate the Project(s) under
this ACC in a decent, safe, and sanitary manner; (2)
the disposition or encumbrance of any Project or
portion thereof without HUD approval; (3) failure
of the HA to comply with any civil rights
requirements applicable to the HA and the
Project(s); (4) abandonment of any Project by the
HA, or if the powers of the HA to operate the public
housing program in accordance with the provisions
of this ACC are curtailed or limited to an extent that
will prevent the accomplishment of the objectives
of this ACC; (5) failure to carry out modernization
or development in a timely, efficient and effective

Previous versions obsolete Page 8 of 13 Form HUD-53012 (04/2018)



manner; and (6) termination of tax exemption
(either real or personal property) on behalf of a
Project covered under the CACC.

c. Delivery of a notice of substantial
default shall be required before the exercise of any
remedy permitted under this ACC. Such notice
shall: (1) identif,’ the specific covenants, statutes,
executive orders, or regulations alleged to have
been violated; (2) identify the specific events,
actions, failure to act, or conditions that constitute
the alleged substantial default; and (3) provide a
specific timeframe for the HA to cure the
substantial default, taking into consideration the
nature of the default.

d. Except in cases involving clear and
apparent fraud, serious criminal behavior, or
emergency conditions that pose an imminent threat
to life, health, or safety, the HA shall have the right
to appeal any such notice received from the HUD
office with jurisdiction over the HA. Such informal
appeals shall be in writing and shall be submitted
within ten (10) working days from the date of the
HAs receipt of such notice. Appeals of the action of
a HUD Office shall be made to the Assistant
Secretary for Public and Indian Housing, or such
other official as shall be a successor thereto.

e. Upon the occurrence of a substantial
default, or the expiration of any applicable cure
period provided by HUD, the HA shall: (1) convey
to HUD title to the Project(s) as demanded by HUD
if, in the determination of HUD (which
determination shall be final and conclusive), such
conveyance of title is necessary to achieve the
purposes of the Act; or (2) deliver possession and
control of the Project(s) to HUD.

f. Nothing contained in this ACC shall
prohibit or limit HUD from the exercise of any
other right or remedy existing under applicable law,
or available at equity. HUD’s exercise or non-
exercise of any right or remedy under this ACC or
CACC shall not be construed as a waiver of HUD’s
right to exercise that or any other right or remedy at
any time.

g. If HUD shall acquire title to, or
possession of the Project(s), HUD shall re
convey or redeliver possession of the project(s)
to the HA, or to any successor recognized by
HUD: (I) upon a determination by HUD that the
substantial default has been cured and that the
Project(s) will thereafter be operated in
accordance with the terms of the CACC; or (2)
after the termination of HUD’s obligation to
make payments, unless there are any obligations
or covenants of the HA to HUD that are then in
default.

h. HUD may at any time by notice to
the HA declare this ACC or the CACC
terminated with respect to any project if:

1. The HA has made any
fraudulent or willful misrepresentation of any
material fact in any document or data submitted
to HUD as a basis for the CACC or as an
inducement to HUD to enter into the CACC; or

2. a substantial default exists in
connection with any of the Projects.

Mixed Finance Projects. In addition
to the above the following shall apply to Mixed-
Finance Projects.

1. Each of the following shall
also constitute an event of substantial default
tinder the CACC:

(A) The drawdown of
Capital Funds, Development Grant Funds, or
other public housing funds, as applicable, tinder
a Mixed Finance proposal in amounts greater
than authorized, or in amounts greater than
allowed by HUD Requirements;

(B) Breach of any
approved performance schedule; or

(C) Serious and material
breach of any terms, covenants, agreements,
provisions, or warranties of:

Previous versions obsolete Page 9 of 13 Form HUD-53012 (04/2018)



(i). the HA which,
in the opinion of HUD, adversely affects the
performance obligations of the HA, the Owner
Entity, or other participating parties,
Amendment; and

(ii). the Owner
Entity, partner, or other participating party, made
in any agreement submitted to HUD as part of
the evidentiary materials which, in the opinion of
HUD, adversely affects the performance
obligations of the HA, the Owner Entity, partner,
or other participating parties.

2. HUD shall permit an Owner
Entity, partner, or lender to participate, and may
in its discretion, permit any other participating
party to participate, in any appeal from a notice
of substantial default delivered by HUD to the
HA pursuant to this ACC with respect to a
Project.

3. During the term of any
agreement between the HA and Owner Entity,
and so long as the Owner Entity shall not be in
default of its obligations thereunder, HUD agrees
that in the event of the substantial default by the
1-IA under the CACC, HUD shall exercise any
remedies or sanctions authorized under the
CACC, including taking possession of the HA’s
interest in the Mixed Finance Project, in such
manner as not to disturb the Owner Entity’s
rights under any such agreements.

4. Any rights of the mortgagee
under a Note and First Mortgage (if any),
including the right to exercise all remedies
specified therein, shall not be subordinate to any
other obligations imposed upon the Project,
except as such obligations (I) shall be reflected
in the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants, as
required by the CACC, or a memorandum of
lease (if applicable), and/or any other recorded
instrument which shall have been recorded prior

to the lien of the First Mortgage, or (2) shall be
the subject of a subordination agreement with

such mortgagee.

15. HUD in Possession of Project(s).

a. During any Period in which HUD
holds title to or possession of the projects after a
substantial default by the HA, HUD shall
develop and/or operate such project(s) as nearly
as practicable in accordance with the provisions
of the CACC.

b. During any such period, HUD may,
in the name and on behalf of the HA, or in its
own name and on its own behalf (as HUD shall
solely determine), exercise any and all rights of
the HA under the CACC, and perform any and
all obligations of the HA under the CACC.
Nothing herein shall be deemed to make the
action(s) or omission(s) of the HA attributable to
HUD.

16. Conflict of Interest.

a. HAs shall maintain written standards
of conduct covering conflicts of interest and
governing the performance of its employees
engaged in the selection, award and
administration of contracts for which program
receipts will be or are expended. No employee,
officer, or agent shall participate in the selection.
award, or administration of a contract supported
by a Federal award if he or she has a real or
apparent conflict of interest. Such a conflict of
interest would arise when the employee, officer,
or agent, any member of his or her immediate
family, his or her partner, or an organization
which employs or is about to employ any of the
parties indicated herein, has a financial or other
interest in or a tangible personal benefit from a
firm considered for a contract. The HA’s
procedures must avoid acquisition of
unnecessary or duplicative items. The HA must
disclose in writing any potential conflict of
interest to HUD.

b. The HA. its contractors and
subcontractors shall not enter into any contract.

subcontract, oi. arrangement in connection with a

project under the CACC in which any of the
following classes of people has an interest, direct

Previous versions obsolete Page lOof 13 Form 1-IUD-53012 (04/2018)



or indirect, during his or her tenure or for one
year thereafter:

1. Any present or former
member or officer of the governing body of the
HA, or any member of the officers immediate
family. There shall be excepted from this
prohibition any present or former tenant
commissioner who does not serve on the
governing body of a resident corporation, and
who otherwise does not occupy a policymaking
position with the resident corporation, the HA or
a business entity.

2. Any employee of the HA
who formulates policy or who influences
decisions with respect to the Project(s), or any
member of the employee’s immediate family, or
the employee’s partner.

3. Any public official, member
of the local governing body, or State or local
legislator, or any member of such individuals’
immediate family, who exercises functions or
responsibilities with respect to the project(s) or
the HA.

4. Any member of these classes
of persons must disclose the member’s interest or
prospective interest to the HA.

5. The requirements of this
subsection may be waived by HUD for good
cause, if the prohibited contract, subcontract or
arrangement is otherwise permitted under State
and local law. No person for whom a waiver is
requested may exercise responsibilities or
functions with respect to the contract,
subcontract or arrangement to which the waiver
pertains.

6. The provisions of this
subsection (b) shall not apply to the General
Depository Agreement entered into with an
institution regulated by a Federal agency, or to
utility service for which the rates are fixed or
controlled by a State or local agency.

c. The HA shall not hire an employee
in connection with a project under this ACC if
the prospective employee is an immediate family
member of any person belonging to one of the
following classes:

1. Any present or former
member or officer of the governing body of the
HA. There shall be excepted from this
prohibition any former tenant commissioner who
does not serve on the governing body of a
resident corporation, and who does not occupy a
policymaking position with the HA.

2. Any employee of the HA
who formulates policy or who influences
decisions with respect to the project(s).

3. Any public official, member
of the local governing body, or State or local
legislator, who exercises functions or
responsibilities with respect to the project(s) or
the HA.

d. The prohibition referred to in
subsection (c) shall remain in effect throughout the
class member’s tenure and for one year thereafter.

e. A class member shall disclose to the
HA the member’s familial relationship to the
prospective employee.

f. For purposes of this section, the term
‘immediate family member” means: the spouse.
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law,
brother, sister, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, or
child of a covered class member (whether related as
a full blood relative, or as a “half’ or “step” relative.
e.g., a half-brother or stepchild).

g. In addition to any other applicable
conflict of interest requirements. including those
provided herein, HAs must also maintain written
standards of conduct covering conflicts of interest
and governing the performance of its Board
Member, executives, and employees engaged in the
administration and operation of Projects covered by
the CACC.

Preious versions obsolete Page II of 13 Form HLJD-53012 (O4/2O8)



1. The officers, employees, and

agents of the non-Federal entity must neither solicit

nor accept gratuities, favors, or anything of
monetary value from residents residing in Projects
or participating in programs covered by the CACC.
However, HAs may set standards for situations in
which the financial interest is not substantial or the

gift is an unsolicited item of nominal value. The

standards of conduct must provide for disciplinary

actions to be applied for violations of such

standards by officers, employees, or agents of the

non-Federal entity.

2. If the HA has a parent,

affiliate, or subsidiary organization that is not a

state or local government, the HA must also

maintain written standards of conduct covering

organizational conflicts of interest. Organizational

conflicts of interest means that because of

relationships with a parent company, affiliate, or

subsidiary organization, the HA is unable or appears

to be unable to be impartial in conducting a

procurement action involving a related

organization; or in administering or operating a

project involving a related organization.

ii. Consistent with this section and

HUD Requirements. the HA shall ensure that

tenants served directly by the F-IA serve on the

governing body of the HA.

17. Civil Rights Requirements.

a. The HA shall comply with all

statutory, regulatory, and executive order

requirements pertaining to civil rights, equal

opportunity, and nondiscrimination, as those

requirements now exist, or as they may be enacted,

promulgated, or amended from time to time. These

requirements include, but shall not be limited to,

compliance with at least the following authorities:

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C.

2000d; 24 CFR part 1); the Fair Housing Act (42

U.S.C. 3601-36 19; 24 CFR part 100); section 504

of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794;

24 CFR part 8); (the Age Discrimination Act of

1975 (42 U.S.C. 610U’6107; 24 CFR part 146); the

Americans with Disabilities Act (Pub. L. 101-336,

approved July 26, 1990; 28 CFR part 35); Executive

Order 11063 on Equal Opportunity in Housing (24
CFR part 107); Executive Order 11246 on Equal
Employment Opportunity, as amended by Executive
Order 11375 (41 CFR part 60); and Executive Order
12892 on Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing.

b. In connection with the development

or operation of any Project, the HA shall not
discriminate against any employee or applicant for
employment because of race, color, religion, sex,

disability, age, or national origin. The HA shall take

affirmative action to ensure that applicants are

employed, and that employees are treated during
employment, without regard to race, color, religion,

sex, disability, age, or national origin. Such action

shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer;

recruitment or recrLlitment advertising; layoff or

termination; rates of pay or other forms of
compensation; and selection for training, including

apprenticeship. The HA shall insert the foregoing

provision (modified only to show the particular

contractual relationship) in all its contracts in
connection with the development or operation of

any Project, except contracts for standard
commercial supplies or raw materials and contracts

referred to in subsection (C) of this section. and

shall require all contractors to insert a similar

provision in all subcontracts, except subcontracts

for standard commercial supplies or raw materials.

The HA shall post at the Projects, in conspicuous

places available to employees and applicants for

employment, notices to be provided by HUD setting

forth the provisions of this nondiscriminatory

clause.

c. The HA shall incorporate the

language required by Executive Order 11 246,

codified at 41 CFR §60-1.4(b) (or any successor

provision), into any contract for construction work,

or any modification thereof, which is paid for in

whole or in part with funds obtained under this

ACC. In addition, the HA agrees that it will be

bound by the equal employment opportunity

provisions set forth at 41 CFR §60-1.4(b) (or any

successor provision) with respect to its own

employment practices when it uses its own staff

(force account) to carry out Federally assisted

construction work.

Previous versions obsolete Page 12of13 Form H1JD-53012 (04/2018)



18. Members or Delegates to Congress.

No member of or delegate to the Congress of the
United States of America or resident commissioner
shall be admitted to any share or part of this ACC or
to any benefits which may arise from it. (As used in
this section. the term ‘resident commissioner” refers
to an individual appointed to oversee a territory or
possession of the United States of America, e.g.,
Guam.)

19. Rights of Third Parties.

Nothing in this ACC shall be construed as creating
any right of any third party to enforce any provision
of the ACC, the CACC, or to assert any claim
against HUD or the HA.

20. Waiver or Amendment.

Any right or remedy that HUD may have under this
ACC may be waived in writing by HUD without the
execution of a new or supplemental agreement, or
by mutual agreement of the parties to this ACC.
This agreement may be amended in writing:
Provided, that none of the provisions of this ACC
may be modified or amended so as to impair HUD’s
obligation to pay any annual contributions that have
been pledged as security for any obligations of the
HA.

Previous versions obsolete Page 13 of 13 Form HUD53O12 (04/2018)


	Agenda
	Minutes-October 10, 2018 WS
	Minutes-October 17, 2018
	Presentation-Leo Maestas
	Presentation-John Spencer
	Finance Report
	Consent Item 1
	Consent Item 2
	Consent Item 3
	Consent Item 4
	Consent Item 5
	Business Item 1
	Business Item 2
	Business Item 3
	Business Item 4
	Business Item 5
	Business Item 6
	Business Item 7
	Business Item 8
	Business Item 9

